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A cautionary note regarding forward-looking statements and non-GAAP measures follows the Management’s Discussion and Analysis
of Operations and Financial Condition.

All figures are in United States Dollars unless otherwise indicated.

Overview

Yamana is a Canadian-based gold 
producer with significant gold 
production, gold development stage
properties, exploration properties, and
land positions in Brazil, Chile, Argentina,
Mexico and Central America. Yamana 
is producing gold and other precious
metals at intermediate company 
production levels. Yamana plans to 
continue to build on this base through
existing operating mine expansions and
throughput increases, the advancement
of its exploration properties and by 
targeting other gold consolidation 
opportunities in the Americas.



Yamana again
demonstrated
year-over-year
growth across 
all key measures.
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This past year was only our fifth full year in
existence since the inception of the Company 
in mid-2003, and the profile of the Company has
changed dramatically in such a short period. We
now employ over 8,700 people from a modest
number at inception, operate seven producing
mines, with two in commissioning, for a total of 
nine mines, and have expanded our presence from
select parts of one country to a platform for mining,
development and exploration in seven countries in
the Americas. Our objective was to create the
premier gold mining company, and we have done so.

Since the beginning, our values have not changed.
These values include sustainability and longevity
which encompass economic development and
community relations, health and safety programs
and initiatives, and environmental compliance and
awareness. They include growth, although
consistently we have demanded from ourselves 
that growth should be demonstrated across all key
measures. Growth in resources should complement
growth in production which itself should lead to
growth in terms of financial measures such as
revenue, cash flow and earnings. Our core values
also include a consistent focus on cost containment,
cash preservation and capital allocation where
there are demonstrable strong returns.

We have built
Yamana for 
sustainability
and longevity…”

We have consistently maintained these core values
although in 2008 we were put to the test. Our ability
to maintain these values was challenged. We began
the year with challenges related to the integration 
of recently completed corporate purchases while
also continuing construction at two new mines.
Throughout most of the year, we experienced
significant pressure on both capital and operating
costs, with rampant demands in the mining industry
contributing to those pressures. We ended the 
year with an unsettled world economic order, 
a precipitous fall in metal prices, global uncertainty
and credit contraction. However, we rose to the
challenge and passed the test.  

We have said before that 2008 was a transition 
year for us as we focused on the integration of 
our people and operations from companies acquired
in the previous year. Despite the challenging
industrial and economic environment, Yamana 
again demonstrated positive year-over-year growth
across all key measures. We increased resources
significantly in 2008. We increased production. 
We increased revenue, cash flow and earnings. 
We maintained a vigilant stance on cost
containment in a rising cost environment and

To Our Shareholders,
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indeed, reduced cash costs by the end of the year,
preserving our high margin to the price of gold. 
We demonstrated our entrepreneurial spirit,
flexibility and ability to act quickly during the
economic turbulence in the latter part of the year.
We further strengthened our balance sheet through
a variety of strategic initiatives: we implemented a
phased capital expenditure program, completed an
equity financing and increased our credit facilities
despite global credit contraction. Other strategic
initiatives focused on mine expansions and
rationalization of our core operations. We properly
positioned ourselves and came out of the year
stronger financially and operationally. 

We have built Yamana for sustainability and
longevity as our efforts in 2008 demonstrate. 

In 2008, we maintained our consistent year-over-
year growth of reserves and resources through
exploration, adding approximately eight million
ounces of gold. Proven and probable gold reserves
increased to 19.4 million ounces, representing an
eight percent increase from the previous year. 

We consistently replaced reserves at almost all 
of our operations in 2008. The major additions 
were from Gualcamayo, where we have more than
1.1 million ounces of proven and probable reserves,
and Mercedes, a new project for us that is now in
the development stage, which added 600,000 ounces
of proven and probable reserves. More impressively,
total measured and indicated gold resources
increased substantially in 2008, increasing 21
percent to 15.6 million ounces. We undertook the
task at the beginning of 2008 to grow our overall
reserves and resources by more than seven million
new ounces, and we delivered. 

The objective of our exploration efforts this year 
will be to continue to build on this growth through
consolidation and upgrading of resources to
reserves and to find new gold ounces at or near 
our existing mines. With gold reserves and gold
resources at record levels, our goal of increasing
total production by approximately 35 percent to more
than 1.35 million gold equivalent ounces in 2009 and
up to 1.5 million ounces of gold equivalent ounces 

Peter Marrone
Chairman and 
Chief Executive Officer
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in 2010 is well supported, and our 2009 and 2010
forecast production is largely based on mines
already in production. Our Gualcamayo mine will 
be a large contributor to production. We have begun
the commissioning with commercial production
expected by mid-2009. Our São Vicente mine also
began operations in late 2008 and commercial
production is expected by mid-2009 at that mine as
well. We also focused on drilling and development 
at Jacobina, which is evident in the reserve
increase, the higher quality of ounces and the
improvement of grade. Production at El Peñón is
expected to continue at high levels in 2009.
Chapada’s first phase of expansion is anticipated 
to be complete in mid-2009, increasing throughput 
to 20 million tonnes per year with the second 
phase of expansion to 24 million tonnes per year 
expected to begin in 2010. We are also currently
commissioning the expansion at Minera Florida.

We began to experience declining costs during 
the fourth quarter of 2008, confirming the expected
downward trend and further increasing our 
margin to the gold price. We have already begun 
to see improvements in costs from currency
movements. We have taken proactive steps also 
to mitigate fluctuations in currency and secured 
a comparatively high price for by-product metals 
that we produce, which will underpin our low-cost
structure. We expect improvements to continue 
over time, anticipating that the costs for supplies,
equipment and consumables will begin to decline. 

Yamana is well positioned financially for 2009 with
approximately $420 million in cash and available
credit at the start of the year, robust cash flow
expected throughout the year, valuable assets and
growth in production. We have four development
stage projects that we continued to advance in 
2008 and for which we expect to make construction
decisions throughout 2009 and 2010 to support 
our growth into 2012.

We are uniquely positioned and well leveraged 
to precious metals with production growth entirely 
in precious metals, comparatively low cash costs
and operations in some of the world's most stable
mining jurisdictions. We have a superior portfolio 
of assets, and a world-class team - a team with 
an entrepreneurial spirit and the desire to excel.
This is what distinguishes Yamana from other
companies. 

Peter Marrone
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

March 16, 2009

Yamana is 
well positioned
for 2009…”
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Our Approach

Grow on all key measures

• In resources, production and cash flow
• Developments in 2007 and 2008 built a solid

foundation for prudent disciplined growth

Maintain low-cost advantage

• Amongst lowest cash costs in the industry
• Management of capital expenditures, 

operating costs and cost containment

Focus on core assets

• Core and principal mines (Chapada, El Peñón, 
Gualcamayo, Jacobina, Minera Florida, 
Fazenda Brasileiro) generate majority 
of value, revenue, earnings and cash flow 

Maintain strong financial profile

• Maximize cash position and cash flow
• Maintain maximum financial flexibility 

Production
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2008
Production by Country
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Fazenda Brasileiro
C1 Santa Luz

Jacobina

Chapada

São Vicente
São Francisco

Brazil

Argentina

El Peñón

Alumbrera (12.5%)

Gualcamayo
Chile

Minera Florida

Production
Development/Advanced ExplorationMexico

Mercedes

Honduras
San Andrés

Toronto

Santiago

São Paulo

Canada

U.S.A.

8

YA
M

A
N

A
 G

O
LD

20
08

 A
N

N
U

A
L 

R
E

P
O

R
T Well positioned...

“We will 
maintain our
precious 
metals 
and our 
Americas 
focus.”

Pilar

Ernesto/
Pau-a-Pique

San Juan
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for continued growth

• Remained focused on prudent, disciplined 
growth

• Total production from all mines of approximately 
1.0 million gold equivalent ounces 
(GEO includes gold and silver)

• Industry low cash costs at $383 per gold 
equivalent ounce

• Robust revenue, earnings, and cash flow, 
consistent with strategic plan 

• Strong balance sheet - total cash and available 
credit of approximately $420 million and 
net debt of $385 million at year end

• Commenced operations at two new mines,
Gualcamayo and São Vicente

2008
HIGHLIGHTS
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• Continue growth on all measures - resources, 
production, revenue and cash flow

• Increase annual production by 35 percent to 
more than 1.35 million GEO

• Advance plan to increase production to 
2.0 million GEO in 2012

• Maintain low cash costs relative to industry

• Continue record of mineral reserve replacement 
and year-over-year growth in mineral reserves 
& mineral resources

• Declare commercial production at Gualcamayo 
and São Vicente - key drivers of production 
growth in 2009

2009 A YEAR 
OF GROWTH

2009 Focus

    



2008 Total Mine Production
982,897 GEO

2008 Total Production
982,897 GEO

A. Chapada - 15%
B. El Peñón - 42%
C. Jacobina - 7%
D. Minera Florida - 7%
E.  Fazenda Brasileiro - 10%
F.  Other - 19%

A. Chapada - 11%
B. El Peñón - 32%
C. Gualcamayo - 15%
D. Jacobina - 9%
E. Minera Florida - 8%
F. Fazenda Brasileiro - 7%
G.  Other - 18%

A. Chapada - 10%
B. El Peñón - 32%
C. Gualcamayo - 16% 
D. Jacobina - 9%
E. Minera Florida - 8%
F.  Faz e n da  Brasileiro - 6%
G. Other - 19%

2009 Target Production
Approx. 1,335-1,440,000 GEO
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(March 16, 2009)

Chapada Mine (Brazil)
GOLD/COPPER
Shallow open-pit mining operation

El Peñón Mine (Chile)
GOLD/SILVER
Producing underground operation

Gualcamayo Mine (Argentina)
GOLD
Producing open-pit operation

Jacobina Mine (Brazil)
GOLD
Producing underground operation

Minera Florida/Alhue Mine (Chile)
GOLD/SILVER
Producing underground operation

Fazenda Brasileiro Mine (Brazil)
GOLD
Producing underground operation

São Vicente Mine (Brazil)
GOLD
P roducing open-pit, gravity/heap leach operation

São Francisco Mine (Brazil)
GOLD
P roducing open-pit, gravity/heap leach operation

San Andrés Mine (Honduras)
GOLD
Producing open-pit, heap leach operation

C1 Santa Luz (Brazil)
GOLD
Advanced exploration project

Ernesto/Pau-a-Pique (Brazil)
GOLD
Advanced exploration project

Pilar (Brazil)
GOLD
Advanced exploration project

Mercedes (Mexico)
GOLD/SILVER
Advanced exploration project

(1) Excludes proven and probable mineral reserves

Highlights

• commercial production declared February 2007; built 
on budget and ahead of schedule 

• phased expansion plan to increase throughput to 24 million 
tonnes per day

• positive pyrite/sulphuric acid study and related marketing s t u d y

• Esmeralda and Bonanza high grade veins discovered in 2007
• proven track record of consistent, low cost production
• received permission to increase throughput to 3,600 tonnes per 

day in the fourth quarter of 2008

• three substantial zones of gold mineralization: QDD, AIM 
and QDD Lower West

• commissioning commenced at the end of 2008 with the 
first gold bullion produced in early 2009

• commercial production expected in mid-2009

• complex of four underground mines with a common plant
• first phase of expansion to 6,500 tonnes per day 

completed in 2008
• full comprehensive mine plan developed in 2008

• 2007 land acquisitions in the Membrillo and Chancon 
districts added to the potential for increased resources 
and mine life

• throughput increased to 2,000 tonnes per day at the end 
of 2008

• 140 kilometres South of C1 Santa Luz development project
• more than 15 years of operating experience
• history of replacing reserves

• gold mineralization occurs for more than 1,000 metres
• operations began at the end of 2008 with the first gold 

bullion pour at the beginning of 2009
• commercial production expected in mid-2009

• commercial production declared in August 2006
• implemented a new mine plan in 2008

• various improvements and enhancements in 2008
• further expansion and improvements expected
• new mining contractor reducing costs

• average annual gold production estimated at 100,000 oz 
• 2008 feasibility study confirmed excellent exploration 

potential

• Pau-a-Pique planned as an underground mine, Ernesto 
planned to be mined both open-pit and cut-and-fill 
underground; shared mining facilities

• average annual gold production estimated at 100,000 oz 
• 2009 scoping study confirmed high grade and 

comparatively low capital costs

• located on underexplored Archean Greenstone Belt 
near Chapada

• expected to commence production as an underground 
mine developing an open-pit at the end of the mine life

• advanced to be an important development project

• planned as bench-and-fill mine
• throughput of 1,500 tonnes per day and average annual 

production of 118,000 GEO 
• positive feasibility study delivered in early 2009

2008 
Total Production 

150,037 oz Au
139.3 M lbs Cu

407,944 GEO

73,240 oz Au

64,615 GEO

96,092 oz Au

75,936 oz Au

47,760 oz Au

2008 
Cash Costs

$337/oz (Au only) 
$1.02/lb (Cu only)

$308/GEO

$411/oz

$398/GEO

$423/oz

$629/oz

$584/oz

10



Estimated 2009
Production

140-155,000 oz Au
145-150 M lbs Cu

435-465,000 GEO

195-210,000 oz Au 

115-125,000 oz Au

105-110,000 GEO

90-95,000 oz Au

55-60,000 oz Au

75-85,000 oz Au

70-75,000 oz Au

Proven & Probable
Mineral R e s e rv e s

(Contained gold, silver
oz/copper lbs)

2.5 M oz Au
2.4 B lbs Cu

1.9 M oz Au
69.0 M oz Ag

2.9 M oz Au

1.4 M oz Au

746,000 oz Au
5.5 M oz Ag

253,000 oz Au

342,000 oz Au

727,000 oz Au

734,000 oz Au

920,000 oz Au

604,000 oz Au
6.2 M oz Ag

Measured & Indicated 
Mineral Resources  

(Contained gold, silver
oz/copper lbs)

745,000 oz Au
797,000 lbs Cu

1.1 M oz Au
29.8 M oz Ag

592,000 oz Au

1.5 M oz Au

313,000 oz Au
2.0 M oz Ag

72,000 oz Au

298,000 oz Au

549,000 oz Au

1.6 M oz Au

1.2 M oz Au

593,000 oz Au

70,000 oz Au
1.1 M oz Ag

2009 
Objectives

• complete first phase of expansion 
to 20 million tonnes per year

• continue effort to exploit the pyrite 
resource by developing business 
o p p o rtunities in the sulphuric acid market

• discover another 600,000 GEO
• reach a mining rate of 500,000 GEO 

with the creation of a stockpile

• complete primary crusher
• fully commission ADR plant
• declare commercial production
• continue exploration of QDD Lower West

• mine from nine to 12 stopes at thre e mines
• development work for the second phase 

of expansion to 7,500 tonnes per day
• improve production and costs

• continue exploration
• complete expansion
• mine at a rate of 2,000 tonnes per day

• add resources and upgrade existing 
resources to reserves

• operational enhancements to augment 
production, lower costs

• declare commercial production
• add to reserve base through resource 

conversion

• focus on sustainable production 
at lower costs

• improve costs
• complete expansion and improvements 
• commission new in-pit crusher

• add resources to increase the mine 
life, reducing life of mine cash costs

• deliver an economic update to feasibility 
study

• construction decision

• continue exploration
• upgrade inferred resources to measured

and indicated resources
• complete feasibility study

• continue exploration 
• deliver updated resource estimate
• complete feasibility study

• continue exploration
• further increase reserves

Beyond
2009

• 15+ year mine life
• total production of more than 1.7 M oz gold 

and 2.0 B lbs copper 
• potential for further throughput increases
• recovery of additional gold and copper from pyrite

• significant exploration potential
• anticipate adding to existing geologic resource 

in highly prospective North Block area

• mine life well in excess of 10 years 
• expand on QDD Lower West underg round potential
• potential to increase production to over 250,000 

oz of gold per year once all three main mineral 
deposits are in production

• mine life well in excess of 15 years 
• increase annual production to 150,000 oz of gold 

by 2011

• potential to increase annual production with a 
target of up to 120,000 GEO beginning in 2010

• continued exploration in highly prospective 
local region

• assess further increase in mill throughput rate 
after two years of mining at the current rate

• mine life estimated at three to four years, 
essentially the same as that when the mine 
was acquired in August 2003

• produce approximately 300,000 oz of gold over 
an estimated five year mine life

• potential for further upside through continued 
mine exploration

• longer-term underground gold mining potential

• capitalize on continuous improvements in 
mine and processing operations

• potential for significant reserve additions

• 10+ year mine life
• further significant potential exists to extend 

the known orebodies

• production expected to commence in 2012
• ore for both mines will be processed in one 

mill plant located at Ernesto
• considerable potential for increasing resources 

at the project

• significant potential exists for one or more
discoveries which would further increase 
targeted production levels

• 6+ year mine life 
• feasibility study and construction decision 

expected in early 2010
• project continues to be advanced and is 

expected to begin production in 2012

Assets at a Glance
11

(1)



Chapada

Located in northern Goiãs State northwest of the national 
capital of Brasília, Chapada is a comparatively predictable 
and consistent mine.

Mine Highlights
• Chapada is Yamana’s original flagship operation. 
• The mine and processing facilities were constructed 

by Yamana in less than two years. 
• With a remaining mine life of more than 15 years, Chapada 

is expected to produce at least 1.7 million ounces of 
recoverable gold and 2.0 billion pounds of recoverable 
copper.

• At year end, proven and probable reserves increased by 
approximately 100,000 ounces, totalling 345 million tonnes 
grading 0.22 g/t gold containing 2.5 million ounces of gold.

2008 Overview
• Increased mine productivity as a result of crushing 

production improvements, tailings pipeline replacement 
and realignment and a new water collection facility. 

• Delivered an updated feasibility level study for the phased 
expansion to 20 million tonnes per year and then to 24 
million tonnes per year showing that throughput 
expansions can be achieved with very high returns.

12
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Brazil

2008 Gold Production (ounces) 

150,037

2008 Copper Production (pounds)

139 million

2008 Gold Cash Costs
(per ounce)

$337

2008 Copper only Cash Costs
(per pound)

$1.02

Co-product basis

• Completed a sulphuric acid study followed by a marketing 
study indicating that in addition to more gold and copper, 
sulphuric acid could be recovered from the pyrite 
concentrate taken from tailings and identified a number 
of opportunities for the sale of pyrite locally.

2009 Objectives
• Produce 140,000 to 155,000 ounces of gold and 145 to 

150 million pounds of copper in 2009 at co-product cash 
costs of between $275-305 per ounce of gold and between 
$0.90-1.00 per pound of copper.

• Complete the first phase of expansion to 20 million tonnes 
per year. 

Future Growth
• The expansion to 24 million tonnes per year is targeted 

to begin by early 2010 and is expected to be completed 
in approximately 18 months.

• The decision to further expand throughput will depend 
on prevailing metal prices and an increase in proven 
and probable reserves to extend the mine life. 

• Recovery of additional gold and copper from the proposed 
pyrite project is expected.

150,037 oz

2008

140-155,000 oz

2009E

135-145,000 oz

2010E
982,897 GEO Total 1,335-1,440,000 GEO Total 1,390-1,515,000 GEO Total

Chapada Production

(1)

(1)

(1)



El Peñón
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Chile

El Peñón

2008 Gold Equivalent 
Production (ounces)

407,944

2008 Gold Equivalent Cash Costs
(per ounce)

$308

El Peñón is located about 160 kilometres southeast from
Antofagasta - a port city in northern Chile.

Mine Highlights
• El Peñón is a high grade mine with a proven track record 

of consistent, low cost production.
• The extension of the Bonanza vein re-affirmed El Peñón’s 

positioning as one of Yamana’s most significant mining 
operations.

• In 2008, measured and indicated resources increased 
significantly by over 14 percent year-over-year to 3.9 million 
tonnes grading 8.7 g/t gold containing 1.1 million ounces 
of gold.

• Proven and probable gold reserves were replaced 
for the tenth consecutive year.

2008 Overview
• Received permission to increase throughput 

to 3,600 tonnes per day.
• Improved infrastructure and installed a new secondary 

crusher and mill.
• Focused exploration on the North Block leading to the 

discovery of Bonanza North.

2009 Objectives
• Reach an effective mining rate of 500,000 gold equivalent 

ounces with the creation of a stockpile.
• Produce 435,000 to 465,000 gold equivalent ounces at cash 

costs of between $280-310 per gold equivalent ounce.
• Ramp-up production quarter-over-quarter as ore grade 

and throughput increase.
• Discover another 600,000 gold equivalent ounces, mostly 

through an emphasis on the prospective North Block area. 

Future Growth
• Reserve and resource growth fuelled by a significant 

exploration budget of approximately $12 million in 2009.
• With approximately 100,000 metres of drilling expected 

per year, Yamana anticipates adding to existing geologic 
resources especially in the highly prospective 
North Block area.

435-465,000 GEO
460-480,000 GEO

407,944 GEO

2008
982,897 GEO Total

2009E
1,335-1,440,000 GEO Total

2010E
1,390-1,515,000 GEO Total

El Peñón Production
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Argentina

Gualcamayo

Expected to be one of Yamana’s most prolific mine properties,
Gualcamayo, is located in the northern San Juan province of
Argentina. Mining began in late 2008 and the processing of 
ore in early 2009.

Mine Highlights
• Gualcamayo is projected to begin commercial production 

in mid-2009 at an annualized level of approximately 
200,000 ounces of gold per year.

• The three main mineral deposits at Gualcamayo include 
the main Quebrada del Diablo (QDD) deposit, the Magdalena 
and Amelia Inés satellite deposits (AIM) and the QDD Lower 
West underground zone.

• Total reserve and resource base of approximately 3.9 million 
ounces of gold including 2.9 million ounces in reserves. 

• Grade improved year-over-year with the addition of QDD 
Lower West.

• Significant upside most particularly from QDD Lower West.

2008 Overview
• Completed construction and began start-up and 

commissioning in the fourth quarter.
• Increased gold reserves by over 1.1 million ounces 

year-over-year.

2009 Objectives
• Produce 195,000 to 210,000 ounces of gold in the first 

full year of operations - a number likely to increase in future 
years with further exploration and ongoing development.

• Complete the primary crusher and fully commission the ADR 
plant in the first quarter. 

• Construction of the second ore pass.
• Declare commercial production by mid-2009. 
• Complete the development of AIM which will contribute 

to overall production by second half of the year.
• Continued to aggressively explore QDD Lower West, including 

the advancement of 100 metres of underground development 
and 10,000 metres of diamond drilling. The goal is to expand the 
deposit along strike to the west with the intention of expanding 
the known orebody and total mineable reserves in the 
western area. 

Future Growth
• In 2009, approximately $5 million has been allocated for 

further exploration of QDD Lower West, where higher quality 
ounces continue to be added.

• Planned production is expected to reach approximately 
250,000 ounces of gold per year once all three main mineral 
deposits are in production.

Gualcamayo

195-210,000 oz
220-235,000 oz

2009E
1,335-1,440,000 GEO Total

2010E
1,390-1,515,000 GEO Total

Gualcamayo Production

2009 Expected Gold Production 
(ounces) 

195-210,000

2009 Expected Cash Costs
(per ounce) 

$380-400
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Brazil

2008 Gold Production (ounces)

73,240

2008 Cash Costs (per ounce)

$411

The Jacobina complex of underground mines is located 
in the state of Bahia, in north eastern Brazil near the Serra 
do Jacobina mountains.

Mine Highlights
• With an expected mine life well in excess of 15 years 

Jacobina is one of Yamana’s longest life mines.
• Total reserve and resource base of more than 4.7 million 

ounces of gold.
• At year end, proven and probable reserves increased to 

approximately 1.4 million ounces of gold with new reserve 
ounces having exceeded ounces mined.

• At year end, measured and indicated gold resources 
totalled 16.6 million tonnes grading 2.9 g/t containing 
1.5 million ounces of gold. 

2008 Overview
• Increased production throughput to levels averaging from 

5,000 to 6,500 tonnes per day.
• Enhanced life of current tailings dam and improved the 

desorption circuit capacity and the back up system and 
leaching circuits.

• Developed a full comprehensive mine plan to accommodate 
the expansion and longer term processing of ore at various 
levels of plant capacity.

2009 Objectives
• Produce 115,000 to 125,000 ounces of gold.
• Mine from nine to 12 stopes at three mines (João Belo,

Canavieiras and Morro do Vento) and further develop the
fourth mine (Basal).

• Continue development work for the second phase of expansion
to increase plant capacity to 7,500 tonnes per day. 

• Improve future production and cost expectations based on
work done at Basal. 

Future Growth
• Jacobina, and more particularly Basal, to be further advanced 

by the end of 2009, contributing to an increase in production 
to 150,000 ounces of gold in 2011.

73,240 oz
115-125,000 oz

120-140,000 oz

2008
982,897 GEO Total

2009E
1,335-1,440,000 GEO Total

2010E
1,390-1,515,000 GEO Total

Jacobina Production
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Minera Florida / Alhue (Chile)
Minera Florida is a gold, silver and zinc producing mine
located 73 kilometres south of Santiago in central Chile.
Mining activity has existed in this area for over 100 years. 

Mine Highlights
• Commissioning for the expansion at Minera Florida began

at the end of 2008, resulting in a throughput increase to
2,000 tonnes per day.

• In 2009, Minera Florida is expected to produce 105,000 to
110,000 gold equivalent ounces at a cash cost of between
$340-350 per gold equivalent ounce.

• Potential to increase annual production with a target of 
up to 120,000 gold equivalent ounces beginning in 2010
with a change in the mining method to accommodate 
the recently completed expansion and more effective 
mining of narrow veins.

• Proven and probable reserves increased by 24 percent
year-over-year to 4.2 million tonnes grading 5.6 g/t gold
containing 746,000 ounces of gold.

• Further expansion plans will be evaluated after two years
of mining at the current rate.

• Exploration at and around the mine is still in very early
stages and Yamana is optimistic about significant 
area deposits and prospective targets that remain 
under-explored.

• The 2007 land acquisitions in the Membrillo and Chancon
districts added to the potential for increased resources
and mine life. 

Fazenda Brasileiro (Brazil)
Fazenda Brasileiro is an underground gold mine located 
in northeast Brazil, 180 kilometres north northwest of the
state capital of Salvador.

Mine Highlights
• Based on current reserve and resource estimates, the

mine life at Fazenda Brasileiro is estimated at three to 
four years, essentially the same as that when the mine
was acquired in August 2003.

• In 2009, Fazenda Brasileiro is expected to produce 
90,000 to 95,000 ounces of gold.

São Vicente (Brazil)
São Vicente is located in west central Brazil, close to 
the Bolivian border approximately 50 kilometres north 
of Yamana’s São Francisco mine.

Mine Highlights
• Gold mineralization occurs for more than 1,000 metres 

in two parallel northwest trending zones.
• The mine has an estimated mine life of at least five years

and is expected to produce a total of approximately
300,000 ounces of gold over that period.

• Operations began at São Vicente in late 2008, with 
the first bullion produced in early 2009.

• The mine is on track for commercial production 
in mid-2009.

• Potential for further upside through continued mine 
exploration.

• Production at São Vicente is expected to be 55,000 
to 60,000 ounces of gold in 2009. 
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• Production at San Andrés is expected to be 70,000 
to 75,000 ounces of gold in 2009.

• Total reserve and resource base of approximately 
2.4 million ounces of gold, including 734,000 ounces 
in reserves. 

• In 2009, $13 million has been allocated for further 
expansion and improvements of the San Andrés 
property including the construction of new leach 
pads and a bigger stacking area.

• Costs are expected to continue to decline. 

Alumbrera (Argentina) 
Located in northwest Argentina, Yamana maintains 
a 12.5 percent equity interest in the Alumbrera mine. 

Mine Highlights
• Alumbrera is one of the world’s largest copper and gold

mining operations, and among the world’s lowest cash
cost copper producers.

• Annual dividends from the property contribute to cash
flow helping to fund further gold production growth. 

• Yamana’s forecasted attributable production at 
Alumbrera is approximately 55,000 to 60,000 ounces 
of gold in 2009.

São Francisco (Brazil) 
São Francisco mine is located within the Guapore Gold 
Belt - a greenstone belt with numerous gold deposits and
occurrences along its almost 200 kilometre strike length. 

Mine Highlights
• The property is an open-pit, heap leach gold mine that

involves three different streams of processing including
crushing-gravity-heap leach, crushing-heap leach, and
run-of-mine heap leach.

• A new mine plan was implemented in 2008.
• Improvements in 2008 included better ore grade 

estimation and new geological modeling.
• Production is targeted at 75,000 to 85,000 ounces of gold 

in 2009.
• Enhanced mine productivity and cost reduction focus 

will continue in 2009.

San Andrés (Honduras) 
San Andrés is an open-pit, heap leach mining operation 
in western Honduras. 

Mine Highlights
• Improvements at San Andrés in 2008 included the 

renegotiation of hauling and loading contract, a new 
conveyor line and primary crusher, upgrade of the 
secondary crusher system and two new agglomeration
drums. 
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De v e lopment 
and Advanced
E x plor a tion
C1 Santa Luz (Brazil) 
The C1 Santa Luz project is located within Yamana’s
180,000 hectares of mineral claims on the Rio Itapicuru
Greenstone Belt, approximately 140 kilometres north 
of Fazenda Brasileiro.

Highlights
• Planned as a conventional open-pit mine with throughput

of 2.5 million tonnes per year or 6,800 tonnes per day.
• Average annual gold production is estimated at 

approximately 100,000 ounces for well in excess of 
10 years. 

• A 2008 feasibility study confirmed excellent exploration
potential, with several under-explored satellite targets
occurring within a 30 kilometre radius.

• The 2009 exploration program will focus on adding
resources to the project to increase the mine life, 
reducing life of mine cash costs.

• Further significant potential exists to extend the known 
orebodies.

• An economic update to the feasibility study is expected 
in the second quarter of 2009.

Ernesto/Pau-a-Pique (Brazil)
The Ernesto/Pau-a-Pique project is located in the 
prolific Guapore Gold Belt property which covers 
450,000 hectares and is home to Yamana’s São Vicente
and São Francisco Mines. 

Highlights
• Pau-a-Pique is planned as an underground bench- 

and-fill mine and Ernesto is planned to be mined both
open-pit and cut-and-fill underground. 

• Annual gold production from a common mill plant at
Ernesto is expected to be approximately 100,000 ounces 
beginning in 2012.

• Over 50,000 metres of drilling has been completed to date,
and the region hosts various targets of considerable
potential for increasing resources at the project. 

• Infill drilling will continue at Ernesto/Pau-a-Pique with 
the objective of upgrading inferred resources to 
measured and indicated resources to support
a feasibility study by the end of 2009.

• A scoping study completed in early 2009 increased
resources and confirmed the high grade, robust return
and comparatively low capital cost for the project.

• At year end, indicated resources for both deposits totalled
3.9 million tonnes grading 4.67 g/t gold containing 593,000
ounces of gold and inferred resources totalled 3.1 million
tonnes grading 3.02 g/t gold containing 305,000 ounces 
of gold. 
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Pilar (Brazil) 
Located 80 kilometres south of Chapada, the Pilar
exploration concessions comprise 590 square kilometres
overlying an under-explored Archean Greenstone Belt.

Highlights
• Pilar is located on a greenstone belt known to host 

at least 38 gold occurrences and with documented 
historic gold production of more than two million ounces. 

• Pilar is expected to commence production as an 
underground mine before developing into an open- 
pit for the latter part of its mine life.

• To date, 43,000 metres of drilling has been completed 
and an additional 20,000 metres of drilling is planned in
2009 with the intention of supporting a sufficient resource
for a feasibility level study.

• Significant potential exists for one or more discoveries
which would further increase targeted production levels. 

• A resource estimate for 2008 drilling is expected to be
released in the second quarter of 2009, followed by 
an initial feasibility study in late 2009. 

• Virtually unexplored when acquired, Pilar has since
advanced to be one of Yamana’s most important 
development projects. 

Mercedes (Mexico) 
The Mercedes project is located in northern Sonora,
Mexico, approximately 200 kilometres south of Tucson,
Arizona. 

Highlights
• With a positive pre-feasibility study delivered in early 

2009, the project continues to be advanced and is 
expected to begin production by 2012.

• Planned as a bench-and-fill mine with throughput 
of 1,500 tonnes per day.

• Annual production is expected to be 118,000 gold 
equivalent ounces for approximately six years based 
on known reserves.

• Exploration will continue in 2009, targeting 30,000 metres
of drilling with the goal of upgrading inferred resources
and some indicated resources to reserves, with the 
intention of further increasing reserves toward an 
objective of an additional 300,000 gold equivalent 
ounces in due course. 

• An update to the initial pre-feasibility study is expected 
to be released in early 2010. 

• At year end, proven and probable reserves totalled 
2.65 million tonnes grading 7.1 g/t gold and 72.43 g/t 
silver containing 604,000 ounces of gold and 
6.2 million ounces of silver.
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Jeronimo (Chile) 
Jeronimo is located in northern Chile approximately 
30 kilometres south southwest of El Salvador at an
elevation of 3,800 metres above sea level.

Highlights
• The project is subject to a joint venture with Codelco, 

pursuant to which Yamana holds a 57 percent interest 
and acts as operator.

• Metallurgical testwork including flotation, pressure
oxidation and bio leaching took place throughout 2008 
to accommodate the unoxidized and refractory nature
of the Jeronimo mineralization.

• Jeronimo will continue to be evaluated in conjunction 
with Yamana’s joint venture partner.

Amancaya (Chile)
Amancaya is located 120 kilometres southwest of
Yamana’s El Peñón mining operations in the Atacama
Desert of northern Chile.

Highlights
• The property, acquired in 2004 as part of a much larger

land acquisition in the area, is host to a low sulphidation
epithermal vein deposit that has been outlined along 
1,200 metres of strike length and 250 metres of dip length. 

• Amancaya is being evaluated as a stand alone project 
or in conjunction with the further expansions at El Peñón. 

• The exploration and infill drilling program continued in
2008 and into 2009.

• The property currently hosts an inferred resource 
of approximately 1.4 million tonnes grading 7.9 g/t gold
containing 351,000 ounces of gold.

La Pepa (Chile)
The La Pepa project lies within the prolific Maricunga
Belt - a region in the Andean Cordillera of northern Chile
containing abundant gold and silver prospects.

Highlights
• The La Pepa project is within the vicinity of other 

comparable deposits that are more advanced and larger 
in size and scale. 

• At year end, measured and indicated resources totalled
149 million tonnes grading 0.6 g/t gold containing 
2.8 million ounces of gold. Inferred resources add 
an additional 38 million tonnes grading 0.5 g/t gold 
containing 620,000 ounces of gold.

• Metallurgical work completed in 2008 included bottle 
roll tests for oxidized and unoxidized ore. Additional 
metallurgical testwork includes column leach tests for
crushed and run-of-mine ore. 

• Metallurgical recoveries are estimated at an average 
of 70 percent based on work completed to date.

• Exploration efforts continue in order to increase contained
ounces and further evaluate the feasibility of the project.

Agua Rica (Argentina) 
Yamana owns 100 percent of the Agua Rica copper,
gold, and molybdenum deposit - a large feasibility stage
copper and gold project located just 34 kilometres 
from Alumbrera. 

Highlights
• Yamana continues to advance the permitting process at

Agua Rica and believes the best value can be created
through a joint venture partnership. 

• As of December 31, 2008 and based on assumed 
metal prices of $425 per ounce for gold and $1.10 
per pound of copper, proven and probable reserves
totalled 798 million tonnes grading 0.23 g/t gold and 
0.49 percent copper containing 5.8 million ounces of 
gold and 8.7 billion pounds of copper.
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Responsibility 
Focused on the Future

Quality people are the foundation for Yamana’s 
continued success. At every opportunity, we strive to
create a safe environment that encourages innovation,
manages change, and nurtures development - pillars that
help Yamana succeed in our long-term business goals
and aspirations. This, in combination with our responsible
environmental practices and strong community relations
and initiatives, demonstrates Yamana’s continued focus
on the future.

Yamana embraces diversity, creates an inclusive work
environment, and in many ways, improves the quality of
life for our employees and surrounding communities. 
Yamana’s “Quality of Life” program offers a variety of
initiatives including seminars, counselling, exercise
classes and vaccination programs and exemplifies the
investment we have made in our employees. This program
has been extremely successful at our operations in 
Brazil and will be implemented at our other operations in
Argentina, Chile, Honduras and Mexico throughout 2009. 

In early 2009, Yamana was added to the Jantzi Social
Index (JSI). Companies included in the JSI Index must
pass a set of broadly based environmental, social and
governance criteria. Inclusion in this index is a testament
to our Company’s social, environmental, health and safety
management programs which are considered by JSI to be
above average. To date, three of our nine wholly-owned

mines have received certification of their Environmental
Management System under the ISO 14001 standard. This
is above the industry average and in 2009 and 2010
Yamana is targeting certification of all other mines.

Since Yamana’s inception in 2003, our core focus has
been sustainability and longevity. This includes economic
development and community relations, health and safety
programs and initiatives, and environmental compliance
and awareness. As we continue to advance our plans to
double production in 2012, we remain focused on these
goals and regularly monitor and measure all of our
programs to ensure we employ the best possible
practices company wide.

A

B

C

D
E

F
G

H

A. Brazil - 42%
B. Chile - 12%
C. Argentina - 34%
D. Honduras - 8%
E. Mexico - 1%
F. USA - 0.7%
G. Canada - 0.4%
H. Other - 1.8%

Yamana Employees Worldwide

8,700
Approximately



22

Yamana is focused on minimizing and controlling risk 
for both employees and the environments in which it
operates. Based on the highest international standards,
Yamana has a corporate integrated management system
for Safety, Health, Environment, Community Relations 
and Social Responsibility (SYG) which was created in
October 2006. This system was developed based on 
best practices and international standards - ISO
14001:2004 - Environmental Management System, 
OHSAS 18001:1999 - Occupational Health and Safety
Management System, SA 8000 - Social Accountability,
and the International Cyanide Management Code. 

SYG involves risk assessment, identification of all legal
and contractual requirements, definition of Company
objectives and targets, and systems to ensure that
Yamana operates in compliance with its policies and
management program. The implementation of SYG
commenced in Brazil and Honduras in 2007 and in Chile 
in 2008. Yamana will continue consolidating SYG across
all operations in 2009 and 2010.

Yamana’s Safety, Health, Environment and
Community (SHEC) Committee

Each of our mining operations has an established 
SHEC Committee which is chaired by the General
Manager. These committees meet at least once a 
month to discuss issues and solutions related to safety,
health, environment, community relations and other
operational practices. The goal of each SHEC Committee
is to measure the effectiveness and performance of our
sustainability programs. In 2008, 40 of Yamana’s SHEC
representatives met in Chile for a three day workshop 
to discuss various topics of importance including 
aligning SHEC practices, consolidation of SYG and 
the integration of best practices at all operations. 

The Yamana Management
S y s t e m : Responsible Mining

Quality people a re the foundation 
for Ya m a n a ’s continued success. 
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Our Communities 
A Brighter Future

with support on a variety of services from medical 
exams, to environmental education, to completion of 
documentation for birth certificates. The Integration 
Day is a special day where Yamana volunteers make 
these services available to local communities in 
partnership with the government and private sector.

• Working with Local Suppliers - At Yamana we strive 
to work with local suppliers, and whenever possible,
source local products, equipment and services.
Yamana’s goal is to stimulate local economies and 
create opportunities for employment and business
growth. 

• Recovering and Exhibiting History - From time to 
time, Yamana discovers cultural artifacts at our mining
sites. We support historic and cultural preservation,
demonstrated through our partnerships with the 
local government and cultural entities, and help to
uncover these artifacts. In 2008, Yamana supported 
archaeological research conducted at two of our 
exploration projects Ernesto/Pau-a-Pique and 
Pilar in Brazil.

To ensure these initiatives are effective and support the
future of each community, Yamana conducts community
surveys to gather feedback and generate new ideas on
how to better contribute to local cultural, health,
education and business needs. 

Yamana’s employees work and live in communities 
across North, Central, and South America. We share
the air and soil, work with local suppliers, hire local
employees and build relationships in the same regions 
in which we operate. We listen to and value input from
communities, embrace the rich local cultural and
economic opportunities and as a result our community
relations are incredibly strong. 

Yamana community initiatives

• Partnership Seminars - These seminars are
conducted within the communities surrounding our
mining operations. Yamana accepts proposals to 
support local education, environmental, cultural, 
economic, and health projects. In 2008, Yamana 
completed 44 projects in Brazil focused on creating
sustainability, and supporting employment, 
businesses, sports and local culture. 

• “Open Doors” Program - This program aims to 
establish, in a clear and transparent manner, better
communications between Yamana and our local 
communities. Community representatives from several
sectors visit each mine to learn more about the 
Company’s vision, values, safety procedures and 
environmental management. In 2008, there were a 
total of 98 visits across all of Yamana’s operations.

• Integration Project - To help create a brighter future,
Yamana established and implemented an initiative 
called the Integration Project. On several occasions
throughout the year, this project provides communities
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C reating Sustainable
Communities 

Yamana provides various sustainable economic
development programs within the communities
surrounding our operations. In 2008, we supported 
the following programs:

• At Chapada in Brazil, sustainable economic 
development programs supported the NGO Mulher 
em Ação (Woman in Action) and local entrepreneurs 
by donating advertising equipment and selling products
produced by the group.

• At El Peñón in Chile, sustainable economic 
development was supported through cooking classes
and hairdressing courses designed to assist women 
in Vila Esperenza’s community in Antofagasta. 

• At Gualcamayo in Argentina, dental health campaigns
were held at community schools in areas around the
mine. The expansion of the drinking water network in
Huaco was supported through an agreement with a
government organization.

• At Jacobina in Brazil, Yamana financed the renovation
of the philharmonic orchestra’s headquarters helping 
to improve the conditions of music classes and 
orchestra rehearsals.

• At Minera Florida in Chile, the installation of an antenna
for cellular communication around Talamí and Alhue
was supported, providing residents of those areas with
the ability to communicate.

• At Fazenda Brasileiro in Brazil, sustainable economic
development was supported with the construction 
of a community bakery.

• At San Andrés in Honduras, Yamana contributed to
community education by donating computer science
equipment, books and furniture for the library.

• In Mato Grosso, where Yamana’s São Francisco and
São Vicente mines are located, Yamana sponsored 
a computer science school for local adolescents.

… c re a t i n g o p p o rtunities for 
employment and business gro w t h .
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E n v i ro n m e n t a l
R e s p o n s i b i l i t y
Focused on Best Practices

At Yamana, business and operational decisions are
guided by concern for our natural environment. Every
project we work on has a direct connection to the
environment, and every business decision incorporates
and assesses Yamana’s environmental impact in a
specific region. 

In compliance with the Company’s SHEC standards, 
mine sites and exploration projects are regularly
evaluated by corporate inspections and audits. In 2008,
ten inspections and audits were conducted at our
Brazilian mining operations and eight at our mining
operations in Argentina, Chile and Honduras. Six
inspections were conducted at our exploration projects 
in Mato Grosso, Goiás and Bahia in Brazil.

Sustainability for the Future: Yamana’s Goals

Protecting the environment requires an ongoing
commitment; one which Yamana knows is the most
important investment. As a result, we have improved the
environmental audit program through a collaborative
process integrated with the management review. In short,
no measure is considered too small. The cumulative
effect goes towards reducing our impact on the planet 
as we strive to reduce the consumption of all natural
resources (water, power and fuel) by as much as 
10 percent by 2010.

Environmental Initiatives Across Operations

Yamana seeks to uphold best practices to manage
environmental matters and compliance with local and
international legislation. We have implemented a number
of water saving, air monitoring, and protection initiatives
at our operations including the Water Monitoring Program
and Air Monitoring Program, which measure the quality of
the surface, groundwater, and air emissions sources that
are in place at all Yamana sites. Additionally, independent
and certified laboratories collect and analyze water and
air samples to ensure quality controls are being met. 

Reducing our operational energy consumption continues
to be a key goal. As part of SYG, Yamana remains focused
on energy efficiency and at a majority of our operations
clean hydropower energy is already in place to support
our effort of reducing electrical energy and diesel
consumption. 

The Solid Waste Management Program was designed 
to promote separation, storage and safe transportation
and disposal of waste and was introduced at all our
operations in 2008. Under this program, solid waste 
is safely separated and delivered to temporary waste
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storage centres in order for licensed companies to
recycle, process or dispose of it in adequate and 
licensed waste deposits. Organic waste is transformed
into fertilizer through a composting process and helps 
in the recovery process by fertilizing seedlings.

Cyanide has been used as a method of gold extraction
since the 1890’s and is currently used at over 90 percent
of gold mines worldwide. The handling of cyanide
requires much care and the safety of our employees and
environment is our top priority. In 2008, six of Yamana’s
mines became signatories of the International Cyanide
Code. Upon becoming a signatory to the Code, a company
is granted three years to obtain a certificate confirming
the implementation of the Code’s principles and
standards. Yamana is working towards obtaining the
certificate of confirmation of full compliance with the
Code by the end of 2010.

We seek to design realistic environmental programs that
minimize our impact while maximizing the sustainability 
of our environment for future generations. Exploring new
programs to reduce our carbon footprint is always a
priority. At Minera Florida in Chile, a biodiversity 
program was developed focusing on reforestation, soil
improvement, native tree nurseries and the production 
of honey. At Chapada in Brazil, mine tailings are being
tested to be used as fertilizers to enhance the area’s
agricultural system. The past year was also marked by
the consolidation of energy consumption controls at each
mine. Energy consumption reduction and water recycling
programs will continue to be enhanced and positive
results are expected over the next few years. 

… f o c u s e d on energy efficiency and 
reducing consumption.
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Health and
S a f e t y
Beyond Compliance

The overall health and safety of our employees is vital 
to our success and we prudently devote resources to
improvements. In 2008, we focused on upgrading safety
systems at many of our newly acquired mines and we will
continue to enhance these systems across all operations 
in 2009. Enhancements included the addition of new safety
equipment, newly formed safety teams, and the construction
of safe rooms to improve features at each operation.
Vaccination programs and health campaigns helped to
prevent occupational illnesses and training programs and
inspections were conducted to further improve safety.
Exercise and stretching sessions were incorporated at our
head office in Brazil to promote active living, attracting 90
percent of employees and resulting in reportedly lower
stress levels, less fatigue and improved work performance.

Yamana reports all injuries classified as lost time, first aid,
restricted work and medical treatment and strives to meet 
a zero accident target. Yamana has created a safety statistic
monitoring system to showcase safety performance and 
is continually working on lowering the Lost Time Injury
Frequency Rate (LTIFR) at each mine. An investigation 
into every accident, incident and related infringement is
conducted and appropriate training, education of risks and
frequent assessments at each operation are some of the
ingredients that make our safety and health systems
successful. 

Creating a safe work environment is a part of the
commitment and pledge we make to each and every
employee. Yamana has rigorous procedures in place 
to manage health and safety protocols and continues 
to make investments to enhance safety at all operations.
We strive to go beyond compliance and ensure
the prevention of accidents at our sites through the
implementation of best practices in health and 
safety management. 

Yamana’s safety programs include:

Approaches (Safety Behaviour Audits) - In effect since
2006, the audits encourage management to approach
employees to reinforce safety measures. The objective 
is to gain each employee’s commitment to conduct all
operating activities safely.

Daily Safety Dialogue (DDS) - Prior to the start of a 
day’s work, the DDS is conducted at all operations 
and covers specific issues related to safety, health 
and environmental guidelines.

Registration of Safety Occurrence (ROS) - Started in 
2007, the program requires employees at all operations 
to register potentially dangerous situations with
management. Each report is reviewed and solutions 
are implemented to avoid any safety issues.

PEACE - Which stands for Think, Study, Analyze and
Execute in Portuguese, is a safety program that enables
each employee to analyze a task in order to execute 
it safely. This program reinforces the five key actions
employees should take when assessing a potential 
risky situation.
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At Yamana, health and safety is the responsibility of
everyone and is not considered an obligation but a way of
life. As we focus on our goals for the future, we have set in
place year-over-year targets to consistently and proactively
implement programs and measures to reduce accidents and
injuries. With the establishment of the SHEC Committee we
demonstrate our ongoing commitment to achieving these
goals and continue to make every effort to meet and exceed
health and occupational safety standards within our industry.

The Safety, Health and Environmental Principles 
of Yamana 

1. To continuously employ in our activities and products,
environmental advancements that reduce pollution 
and health and safety risks while adhering to applicable
environmental, health and safety laws and legislation. 

2. To prioritize the development of more efficient, safer and
pollution-minimizing technology, and adopt technology 
that improves processes, products and the services 
of suppliers and contractors in order to maximize 
environmental protection.

3. To train, educate and motivate employees and 
contractors to execute their tasks and duties in 
a safe and environmentally responsible manner.

4. To foster a healthy and safe working environment  
- the responsibility of all employees.

5. To establish and review environmental, health and 
safety objectives and goals, and to work and consult with
stakeholders and communities to ensure we are meeting
those objectives.

6. To make recommendations to our suppliers and 
contractors in the management of environmental, 
health and safety policies, and sustainability with the 
consideration and input of stakeholders.

7. To build and operate facilities according to applicable
international standards for environmental management
and compliance.

For additional information about sustainability at Yamana,
please visit http://www.yamana.com/Corporate
Responsibility.

Indicator 2007 2008 

Accident frequency rate 
with time lost (1) 1.36 0.68

Safety approaches per 
month (average) 3,307 5,828

Average health campaigns 
per operation 4 8
(1) Frequency rate - number of accidents 

with time lost per 200,000 worked hours



Reserves and Resources
December 31, 2008
Mineral Reserves (Proven and Probable)

Proven Reserves Probable Reserves Proven and Probable Reserves

Tonnes Grade Contained Tonnes Grade Contained Tonnes Grade Contained
Gold (000’s) (g/t) oz. (000’s) (000’s) (g/t) oz. (000’s) (000’s) (g/t) oz. (000’s)

Alhue/Minera Florida 1,139 4.33 158 3,043 6.00 587 4,182 5.55 746
Alumbrera (12.5%) 44,000 0.40 566 1,250 0.29 12 45,250 0.40 578
Chapada 179,336 0.24 1,384 166,093 0.20 1,068 345,429 0.22 2,452
C1 Santa Luz 10,491 1.76 592 6,782 1.50 328 17,272 1.66 920
El Peñón 710 6.66 152 8,221 6.72 1,777 8,931 6.72 1,928
Fazenda Brasileiro 1,906 2.84 174 924 2.67 79 2,829 2.79 253
Gualcamayo 8,358 1.13 303 75,311 1.07 2,598 83,670 1.08 2,902
Jacobina 10,062 2.18 705 9,433 2.27 690 19,495 2.23 1,395
Mercedes – – – 2,647 7.10 604 2,647 7.10 604
San Andrés 28,720 0.64 590 7,402 0.61 145 36,122 0.63 734

São Francisco DLO 11,918 0.28 105 5,868 0.27 50 17,785 0.27 156
São Francisco GLO 9,321 1.30 391 4,776 1.18 181 14,097 1.26 572

Total São Francisco 21,239 0.73 496 10,643 0.68 231 31,882 0.71 727

São Vicente - Main Ore 6,580 1.06 225 2,854 0.90 82 9,434 1.01 307
São Vicente - ROM Ore 1,694 0.27 15 1,932 0.33 20 3,626 0.30 35

Total São Vicente 8,274 0.90 239 4,786 0.67 103 13,060 0.81 342

Sub Total Gold Reserves 314,234 0.53 5,360 296,535 0.86 8,222 610,769 0.69 13,581

Agua Rica 347,831 0.25 2,818 449,892 0.21 2,965 797,723 0.23 5,783

Total Gold Reserves 662,065 0.38 8,178 746,427 0.47 11,187 1,408,492 0.43 19,364

Proven Reserves Probable Reserves Proven and Probable Reserves

Tonnes Grade Contained Tonnes Grade Contained Tonnes Grade Contained 
Silver (000’s) (g/t) oz. (000’s) (000’s) (g/t) oz. (000’s) (000’s) (g/t) oz. (000’s) 

Alhue/Minera Florida 1,139 20.11 736 3,043 48.97 4,792 4,182 41.12 5,528
El Peñón 710 347.60 7,931 8,221 231.20 61,109 8,931 240.45 69,040
Mercedes – – – 2,647 72.43 6,163 2,647 72.43 6,163

Sub Total Silver Reserves 1,849 145.79 8,667 13,911 161.13 72,064 15,760 159.33 80,731

Agua Rica 347,831 3.83 42,775 449,892 3.46 49,989 797,723 3.62 92,764

Total Silver Reserves 349,680 4.58 51,442 463,803 8.19 122,053 813,483 6.63 173,495

Proven Reserves Probable Reserves Proven and Probable Reserves

Tonnes Grade Contained Tonnes Grade Contained Tonnes Grade Contained 
Copper (000’s) (%) lbs (mm) (000’s) (%) lbs (mm) (000’s) (%) lbs (mm)

Alumbrera (12.5%) 44,000 0.40 388 1,250 0.33 9 45,250 0.40 397
Chapada 179,336 0.33 1,305 166,093 0.31 1,135 345,429 0.32 2,440

Sub Total Copper Reserves 223,336 0.34 1,693 167,343 0.31 1,144 390,679 0.33 2,837

Agua Rica 347,831 0.57 4,386 449,892 0.43 4,285 797,723 0.49 8,671

Total Copper Reserves 571,167 0.48 6,079 617,235 0.40 5,429 1,188,402 0.44 11,508

Proven Reserves Probable Reserves Proven and Probable Reserves

Tonnes Grade Contained Tonnes Grade Contained Tonnes Grade Contained 
Zinc (000’s) (%) lbs (mm) (000’s) (%) lbs (mm) (000’s) (%) lbs (mm) 

Alhue/Minera Florida 1,139 1.30 33 3,043 1.54 103 4,182 1.47 136

Total Zinc Reserves 1,139 1.30 33 3,043 1.54 103 4,182 1.47 136

Proven Reserves Probable Reserves Proven and Probable Reserves

Tonnes Grade Contained Tonnes Grade Contained Tonnes Grade Contained 
Molybdenum (000’s) (%) lbs (mm) (000’s) (%) lbs (mm) (000’s) (%) lbs (mm) 

Alumbrera (12.5%) 44,000 0.014 14 1,250 0.015 0.4 45,250 0.014 14
Sub Total Moly Reserves 44,000 0.014 14 1,250 0.015 0.4 45,250 0.014 14

Agua Rica 347,831 0.035 268 449,892 0.033 327 797,723 0.034 596

Total Moly Reserves 391,831 0.033 282 451,142 0.033 328 842,973 0.033 610
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Mineral Resources (Measured, Indicated and Inferred)
(Mineral Resources have been categorized as Resources that remain after removal of Reserves)

Measured Resources Indicated Resources Measured & Indicated Resources

Tonnes Grade Contained Tonnes Grade Contained Tonnes Grade Contained T
Gold (000’s) (g/t) oz. (000’s) (000’s) (g/t) oz. (000’s) (000’s) (g/t) oz. (000’s) 

Alhue/Minera Florida 560 4.22 76 1,690 4.36 237 2,250 4.33 313
Amancaya – – – – – – – – –
C1 Santa Luz 12,029 1.50 580 13,728 1.43 633 25,757 1.46 1,213
Chapada 45,710 0.14 206 139,672 0.12 539 185,382 0.13 745
El Peñón 581 12.66 236 3,315 7.97 850 3,896 8.67 1,086
Ernesto – – – 1,520 3.66 179 1,520 3.66 179
Esquel – – – 4,700 15.00 2,286 4,700 15.00 2,286
Fazenda Brasileiro 264 2.14 18 627 2.66 54 890 2.50 72
Gualcamayo 216 3.35 23 14,749 1.20 568 14,966 1.23 592
Jacobina 8,428 2.54 687 8,135 3.22 842 16,563 2.87 1,529
Jeronimo – – – 1,110 7.97 284 1,110 7.97 284
La Pepa 15,750 0.61 308 133,682 0.57 2,452 149,432 0.57 2,760
Mercedes – – – 572 3.82 70 572 3.82 70
Pau-a-Pique 1,372 5.30 234 1,055 5.34 181 2,426 5.32 415
Pilar – – – – – – – – –
San Andrés 53,311 0.56 963 31,078 0.63 631 84,389 0.59 1,594

São Francisco DLO 7,682 0.26 64 16,259 0.26 134 23,941 0.26 197
São Francisco GLO 3,678 1.25 148 5,753 1.10 203 9,432 1.16 351

Total São Francisco 11,361 0.58 212 22,013 0.48 337 33,373 0.51 549

São Vicente 7,910 0.52 133 8,138 0.63 166 16,048 0.58 298

Sub Total Gold Resources 157,492 0.73 3,676 385,784 0.83 10,308 543,274 0.80 13,985

Agua Rica 64,169 0.17 361 248,108 0.16 1,299 312,277 0.17 1,660

Total Gold Resources 221,661 0.57 4,036 633,891 0.57 11,607 855,551 0.57 15,645

Measured Resources Indicated Resources Measured & Indicated Resources

Tonnes Grade Contained Tonnes Grade Contained Tonnes Grade Contained T
Silver (000’s) (g/t) oz. (000’s) (000’s) (g/t) oz. (000’s) (000’s) (g/t) oz. (000’s) 

Alhue/Minera Florida 560 29.68 534 1,690 26.16 1,421 2,250 27.03 1,956
Amancaya – – – – – – – – –
El Peñón 581 303.13 5,661 3,315 226.66 24,155 3,896 238.03 29,816
Esquel – – – 4,700 23.00 3,523 4,700 23.00 3,523
Mercedes – – – 572 60.61 1,114 572 60.61 1,114

Sub Total Silver Resources 1,141 168.87 6,195 10,277 91.44 30,213 11,418 99.18 36,409

Agua Rica 64,169 2.38 4,911 248,108 2.74 21,823 312,277 2.66 26,734

Total Silver Resources 65,310 5.29 11,106 258,385 6.26 52,036 323,695 6.07 63,143

Measured Resources Indicated Resources Measured & Indicated Resources

Tonnes Grade Contained Tonnes Grade Contained Tonnes Grade Contained T
Copper (000’s) (%) lbs (mm) (000’s) (%) lbs (mm) (000’s) (%) lbs (mm) 

Chapada 45,710 0.18 181 139,672 0.20 616 185,382 0.20 797

Sub Total Copper Resources 45,710 0.18 181 139,672 0.20 616 185,382 0.20 797

Agua Rica 64,169 0.49 700 248,108 0.40 2,178 312,277 0.42 2,878

Total Copper Resources 109,879 0.36 881 387,780 0.33 2,794 497,659 0.33 3,675

Measured Resources Indicated Resources Measured & Indicated Resources

Tonnes Grade Contained Tonnes Grade Contained Tonnes Grade Contained T
Zinc (000’s) (%) lbs (mm) (000’s) (%) lbs (mm) (000’s) (%) lbs (mm) 

Alhue/Minera Florida 560 1.61 20 1,690 1.48 55 2,250 1.51 75

Total Zinc Resources 560 1.61 20 1,690 1.48 55 2,250 1.51 75

Measured Resources Indicated Resources Measured & Indicated Resources

Tonnes Grade Contained Tonnes Grade Contained Tonnes Grade Contained T
Molybdenum (000’s) (%) lbs (mm) (000’s) (%) lbs (mm) (000’s) (%) lbs (mm) 

Agua Rica 64,169 0.01 40 248,108 0.01 165 312,277 0.01 206

Total Moly Resources 64,169 0.01 40 248,108 0.01 165 312,277 0.01 206
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Inferred Resources 

Tonnes Grade Contained
(000’s) (g/t) oz. (000’s)

2,409 5.81 450
1,390 7.90 351
4,989 1.43 230

186,801 0.11 661
3,555 8.98 1,027
2,144 2.61 180

900 9.90 274
442 5.30 75

12,759 1.04 428
25,225 2.22 1,797
3,100 7.10 701

37,900 0.50 620
452 5.82 85
998 3.90 125

12,400 2.42 972
4,704 0.79 120

17,609 0.25 141
7,300 1.88 441

24,909 0.73 582

3,623 0.87 101

328,700 0.83 8,779

651,000 0.12 2,512

979,700 0.36 11,291

Inferred Resources 

Tonnes Grade Contained 
(000’s) (g/t) oz. (000’s) 

2,409 51.40 3,980
1,390 73.00 3,270
3,555 263.30 30,098

900 21.00 575
452 68.00 989

8,706 139.02 38,912

651,000 2.30 48,139

659,706 4.10 87,051

Inferred Resources 

Tonnes Grade Contained 
(000’s) (%) lbs (mm) 

186,801 0.20 823

186,801 0.20 823

651,000 0.34 4,880

837,801 0.31 5,703

Inferred Resources 

Tonnes Grade Contained 
(000’s) (%) lbs (mm) 

2,409 1.43 76

2,409 1.43 76

Inferred Resources 

Tonnes Grade Contained 
(000’s) (%) lbs (mm)

651,000 0.03 488

651,000 0.03 488

Property Qualified Persons for Mineral Reserves Qualified Persons for Mineral Resources

Yamana Gold Inc. Mineral Reserve and Mineral Resource Reporting Notes:

1. Metal Prices and Cut-off Grades:

Mine Mineral Reserves Mineral Resources

Alhue/Minera Florida $700 Au, $11.00 Ag 2.5 g/t Au cut-off

Alumbrera (12.5%) $700 Au, $2.50 Cu, $12.00 Mo, 0.19% CuEq cut-off N/A

Amancaya N/A 1.0 g/t Au open-pit; 3.4 g/t Au UG

Chapada $700 Au, $1.85 Cu, 0.17% CuEq cut-off 0.17% CuEq cut-off

C1 Santa Luz $575 Au, 0.50 g/t Au cut-off 0.5 g/t Au cut-off

El Peñón $700 Au, $11.00 Ag, variable cut-off 3.9 or 5.0 g/t Au Eq

Ernesto N/A 1.0 g/t Au

Fazenda Brasileiro $700 Au 1.5 g/t Au cut-off

Gualcamayo $480 QDD Upper, $725 QDDLW, $625 AIM 0.3 g/t Au QDD OP, 0.5 g/t Au AIM OP, 1.0 g/t Au UG QDDLW

Jacobina $725 Au; 0.80 g/t Au cut-off 0.50 g/t Au cut-off

Jeronimo N/A 5.0 g/t Au cut-off

La Pepa N/A 0.3 g/t Au cut-off

Mercedes $700 Au, $12 Ag; 3.0 g/t Au cut-off 2.0 g/t Au cut-off

Pau-a-Pique N/A 1.5 g/t Au cut-off

Pilar N/A 0.5, 1.5 g/t Au

San Andrés $700 Au, 0.38 and 0.60 g/t cut-off ox/mix 0.38 g/t Au

Total São Francisco $700 Au 0.15 g/t Au

Total São Vicente $427.5 Au; 0.22 and 0.55 g/t Au cut-offs 0.20 g/t Au cut-off 

Agua Rica $425 Au, $1.10 Cu; 0.20% Cu and $3.74 cut-off 0.20% Cu and $3.74 cut-off

2. All Mineral Reserves and Mineral Resources have been calculated in accordance with the standards of the Canadian Institute 
of Mining, Metallurgy and Petroleum and NI 43-101, other than the estimates for the Alumbrera mine which have been calculated 
in accordance with the JORC Code which is accepted under NI 43-101. 

3. All Mineral Resources are reported exclusive of Mineral Reserves.
4. Mineral Resources which are not Mineral Reserves do not have demonstrated economic viability.
5. Reserves and Resources are reported as of December 31, 2008.
6. Qualified Persons Responsible for Mineral Reserve and Mineral Resource Estimates:

Fazenda Brasileiro

C1 Santa Luz

Jacobina

São Francisco

São Vicente

Ernesto/Pau-a-Pique

Chapada

San Andrés

Gualcamayo

Pilar 

El Peñón

Alhue/Minera Florida

Amancaya

Agua Rica

Alumbrera

Jeronimo

Esquel

Mercedes

La Pepa

Renato Petter, P.Eng., Director of Technical
Services, Yamana Gold Inc.

Enrique Munoz Gonzalez, MAusIMM, Metalica
Consultores S.A.

Normand L. Lecuyer, B.Sc., P.Eng., of Scott Wilson
Roscoe Postle Associates Inc.

Normand L. Lecuyer, B.Sc., P.Eng., of Scott Wilson
Roscoe Postle Associates Inc.

Renato Petter, P.Eng., Director of Technical
Services, Yamana Gold Inc.

N/A

Marco Antonio Alfaro Sironvalle, MAusIMM,
Metalica Consultores S.A.

Rogerio Moreno, MAusIMM, Principal Geologist,
MCB Servicos e Mineracao Ltda.

Renato Petter, P.Eng., Director of Technical
Services, Yamana Gold Inc.

N/A

William H. Wulftange, P.Geo, Director Technical
Compliance, Yamana Gold Inc.

William H. Wulftange, P.Geo, Director Technical
Compliance, Yamana Gold Inc.

N/A

Renato Petter, P.Eng., Director of Technical
Services, Yamana Gold Inc.

Julio Bruna Novillo, AusIMM, Xstrata Plc

N/A

N/A

Neil B. Prenn, P.Eng., Principal Engineer, Mine
Development Associates

N/A

Evandro Cintra, Ph.D., P.Geo., Senior Vice President,
Technical Services, Yamana Gold Inc.

Marco Antonio Alfaro Sironvalle, MAusIMM, 
Metalica Consultores S.A.

Chester M. Moore, P.Eng., Scott Wilson Roscoe 
Postle Associates Inc.

Evandro Cintra, Ph.D., P.Geo., Senior Vice President,
Technical Services, Yamana Gold Inc.

Mario E. Rossi, P.Eng., Principal Geostatiscian,
Geosystems International Inc.

Evandro Cintra, Ph.D., P.Geo., Senior Vice President,
Technical Services, Yamana Gold Inc.

Marco Antonio Alfaro Sironvalle, MAusIMM, 
Metalica Consultores S.A.

Rogerio Moreno, MAusIMM, Principal Geologist, 
MCB Servicos e Mineracao Ltda.

Ronald G. Simpson, P.Geo., GeoSim Services Inc.

Pamela L. De Mark, P.Geo., Senior Consultant, 
Snowden Mining Industry Consultants Inc.

Greg Walker, P.Geo., Senior Manager, Resources
Estimation, Yamana Gold Inc.

Greg Walker, P.Geo., Senior Manager, Resources
Estimation, Yamana Gold Inc.

Chester M. Moore, P.Eng., Scott Wilson Roscoe 
Postle Associates Inc.

Evandro Cintra, Ph.D., P.Geo., Senior Vice President,
Technical Services, Yamana Gold Inc.

Julio Bruna Novillo, AusIMM, Xstrata Plc

Chester M. Moore, P.Eng., Scott Wilson Roscoe 
Postle Associates Inc.

Robin J. Young, P.Geo., Western Services 
Engineering, Inc.

Greg Walker, P.Geo., Senior Manager, Resources
Estimation, Yamana Gold Inc.

Chester M. Moore, P.Eng., Scott Wilson Roscoe 
Postle Associates Inc.
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Operations and Financial Condition 
(United States Dollars unless otherwise specified, in accordance with Canadian Generally Accepted Accounting Principles (“GAAP”))
A cautionary note regarding forward-looking statements follows this Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Operations and Financial Condition.

Yamana Gold Inc.

1. CORE BUSINESS

Yamana Gold Inc. (the “Company” or “Yamana”) is a Canadian incorporated gold producer engaged in gold mining and related
activities including exploration, extraction, processing and reclamation. The Company has significant properties involved in gold
production, gold development, exploration and land positions throughout the Americas including Brazil, Argentina, Chile, Mexico
and Central America. The Company is producing gold and other precious metals at intermediate company production levels in
addition to significant copper production.

Company management plans to continue to build on its existing production base through existing operating mine expansions and
throughput increases, the advancement of its exploration properties and by targeting other gold consolidation opportunities in
Brazil, Argentina, Chile and elsewhere in the Americas. 

The Company is listed on the Toronto Stock Exchange (Symbol: YRI), the New York Stock Exchange (Symbol: AUY) and the
London Stock Exchange (Symbol: YAU).

2. HIGHLIGHTS

Overview

• Substantially completed construction of Gualcamayo and São Vicente for a total of nine mines operating in 2009. First gold
pour at São Vicente and Gualcamayo in early January 2009.

• Further advanced four development stage gold properties in 2008. 100% of Yamana’s targeted growth is in gold, consolidating
the Company’s position as a precious metals producer.

• Advanced the strength of the balance sheet and financial position of the Company to counter the impact of a developing
economic situation in late 2008.

• Undertook a plan to take the time to properly develop assets to provide prudent and disciplined growth.

Financial

Twelve months ended December 31, 2008
• Annual revenues of $1.1 billion, an increase of more than 40% over 2007.
• Net earnings of $434.8 million or $0.63 basic earnings per share compared with $157.2 million or $0.38 basic earnings per

share for 2007, an increase of more than 65% on a per share basis.
• Cash flow from operations before changes in non-cash working capital (a non-GAAP measure - see Section 6) of $425.6

million for the year and cash flow from operations after changes in non-cash working capital of $328.7 million compared to
$280.1 million and $281.1 million respectively for 2007.

• Cash at the end of the year of $170.1 million and available borrowing capacity of $500.0 million under a revolving line of 
credit of which approximately $250.0 million remains undrawn.

Three months ended December 31, 2008
• Revenues, net earnings and cash flow from operations were impacted by a significant non-recurring pricing adjustment

driven by a significant change in copper prices on sales of copper concentrate, with a negative impact of $74.1 million on
revenues and $80.7 million on cash flows.

• Revenues of $114.1 million, down 48% from the fourth quarter of 2007. Excluding the copper pricing adjustment, fourth quarter
revenues would have been $188.2 million.

• Net earnings of $179.4 million or $0.25 basic earnings per share compared with $47.1 million or $0.08 basic earnings per share
for the same quarter in 2007.

• Cash flow from operations after changes in non-cash working capital of $103.4 million compared with $145.8 million in the
fourth quarter in 2007.

Operational

Twelve months ended December 31, 2008
• Total production of 982,897 gold equivalent ounces for the year, an increase of 65% over 2007. 
• Co-product cash costs of $384 per ounce of gold. Cash costs at our largest mines: El Peñón - $308 per gold equivalent ounce

and Chapada $337 per gold ounce.
• By-product cash costs of $136 per gold equivalent ounce after copper by-product credits (cash cost per ounce is 

a non-GAAP measure - see Section 6).

 



34

YA
M

A
N

A
 G

O
LD

20
08

 A
N

N
U

A
L 

R
E

P
O

R
T

• Increase in gold equivalent ounce production at El Peñón to more than 400,000 ounces.
• Increased production at Jacobina by 19,164 gold ounces or 35% and decreased cash costs by $130 per ounce.

Three months ended December 31, 2008
• Production of 254,774 gold equivalent ounces for the quarter, an increase of 8% over the third quarter of 2008.
• Co-product cash costs of $383 per ounce. An improvement of 16% over the third quarter.
• Jacobina gold production increased by 27% compared to the third quarter.
• Increased production at São Francisco by 16% over the third quarter.
• Reduced cash costs at Jacobina by $199 per ounce, or by 26% compared to the third quarter.
• Reduced cash costs at San Andrés by $225 per ounce, or by 34% compared to the third quarter.
• Commenced operations at Gualcamayo and São Vicente with their first gold pour in early January 2009. Commercial

production is expected to begin in mid-2009 for average annual production of 195,000 to 210,000 ounces of gold at
Gualcamayo and 55,000 to 60,000 ounces of gold at São Vicente. 

Development and Exploration

• Exploration results received at El Peñón continue to support the Company’s view that El Peñón will be able to achieve 
an increased sustainable annual rate of production of 500,000 gold equivalent ounces per year. Increased production will 
be achieved by increasing tonnage and reducing grind size to increase plant capacity.

• Expansion at Jacobina achieved the planned plant capacity with ore processing targeted at an average of 5,700 tonnes 
per day in 2009. The second phase expansion will continue in 2009 toward a targeted plant capacity of 7,500 tonnes per day.

• In the fourth quarter, the Company completed an updated feasibility study for expansion at Chapada and immediately
commenced the first phase of expansion to 20 million tonnes per year with completion expected by mid-2009. This will be
followed by the second phase expansion to 24 million tonnes per year with completion expected in early 2010.

• Commissioning for the expansion at Minera Florida began in the fourth quarter, resulting in a throughput increase to 
2,000 tonnes per day for a target production level of up to 120,000 gold equivalent ounces beginning in 2010.

• Total proven and probable reserves increased by approximately 1.4 million ounces of contained gold or 8% compared 
with 2007, after the replenishment of 2008 production.

• Increased total measured and indicated resources by approximately 2.8 million contained gold ounces or 22% compared 
to the prior year.

3. OUTLOOK AND STRATEGY

The Company remains focused on the core mines, generating cash flow, preserving capital, maximizing cash balances 
and maintaining maximum flexibility across its various interests including its development stage and near development stage
projects. The Company continues to be committed to prudent and disciplined growth and will continue to improve the value 
and returns of its various projects. It will also continue to focus on containing costs and ensuring effective management of
capital expenditures.

During the current unsettling times of the global economy, the Company has stayed the course and remained committed to
optimize its liquidity and control of costs.

Total cash on hand as of December 31, 2008 exceeds $170.0 million. The Company completed equity financing for $108.0 million
(Cdn$135.0 million) before issue costs, and secured a further $200.0 million revolving credit facility in December. The Company is
well positioned financially to fund its strategic growth plan where enhancements, expansions, improvements and development
of existing assets are expected to drive production toward the Company’s objective to produce approximately 2.0 million gold
equivalent ounces per year beginning in 2012.

Yamana’s production plan is focused on disciplined growth targeting a range of 1.3 to 1.4 million gold equivalent ounces 
in 2009 and 1.4 to 1.5 million gold equivalent ounces in 2010 from mines currently in production, 1.6 million gold equivalent 
ounces in 2011 and more than 2.0 million gold equivalent ounces in 2012. Production targets are based on existing reserves 
and resources and proposed increases at exploration projects now being evaluated. The Company will continue to evaluate 
the further expansion at each of El Peñón and Minera Florida. With these expansions and the development of Mercedes, 
Pilar, C1 Santa Luz and Ernesto/Pau-a-Pique, the Company expects to achieve the above production targets.

Estimated gold production for 2009 and 2010 is detailed below. Gold equivalent ounce calculations are based on an assumed
gold to silver ratio of 55:1 which is a three-year historical average. Estimated silver production of approximately 12 million
ounces for each of 2009 and 2010 is treated as a gold equivalent on that basis.
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2009 2010 

Gold Production Estimates (in thousands of ounces)
Chapada 140 - 155 135 - 145
El Peñón (GEO) (i) 435 - 465 460 - 480
São Francisco 75 - 85 90 - 115
Gualcamayo 195 - 210 220 - 235
Jacobina 115 - 125 120 - 140
San Andrés 70 - 75 70 - 80
Fazenda Brasileiro 90 - 95 85 - 95
Minera Florida (GEO) (i) 105 - 110 110 - 120
São Vicente 55 - 60 50 - 55
Alumbrera (ii) 55 - 60 50 

Total GEO (including silver) (i) 1,335 - 1,440 1,390 - 1,515

Copper Production Estimates (in millions of pounds) (iii) 145 - 150 150 - 160

(i) GEO calculations are based on assumed gold to silver ratio of 55:1 which is a three-year historical average.
(ii) Represents Yamana’s 12.5% share of Alumbrera production.
(iii) Copper production at the Chapada Mine.

Cash costs reported on a gold equivalent ounce and by-product basis (a non-GAAP measure - see Section 6) apply zinc and
copper net revenue as a credit to the cost of gold production and as such the by-product gold equivalent ounce cash costs 
are impacted by realized zinc and copper prices. Gold equivalent ounce is determined by converting silver production to its 
gold equivalent using relative gold/silver metal prices and adding the converted silver production expressed in gold ounces to
the ounces of gold production. Gold production is expected to increase while change in copper and zinc production is expected
to be modest and as such the impact of the by-product credit is reduced on a per ounce basis with increasing gold production.
Cash costs are also impacted by inflation year-over-year.

Cash costs are reported annually and are expected to vary from quarter-to-quarter. For 2009 and 2010, the range of cash costs
expected is as follows:

2009 2010

Co-Product Cash Cost Estimates (per GEO) (i)
Chapada $275 - $305 $290 - $310 
El Peñón $280 - $310 $280 - $310
Gualcamayo $380 - $400 $380 - $410 
Jacobina $380 - $410 $350 - $380 
Minera Florida $340 - $350 $310 - $330
Other mines $450 - $480 $455 - $480

Co-product cash cost per GEO $345 - $375 $350 - $375

Co-product cash cost per pound of copper $0.90 - $1.00 $0.92 - $1.05

By-product cash cost per GEO $270 - $295 $265 - $310

(i) Excluding cash cost estimates for Alumbrera.

Cash costs (cautionary note regarding non-GAAP measures included in this Management’s Discussion and Analysis) were
estimated using the following copper prices and exchange rates:

2009 2010 

Copper (US$/lb) 1.75 2.00
Brazil - Reais/US$ 2.20 2.20
Argentina - Pesos/US$ 3.40 3.40
Chile - Pesos/US$ 650.00 625.00
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Production and cash cost guidance above is in line with previous guidance issued by the Company.

Capital expenditures for 2009 and 2010 are expected to be approximately $350 million and $400 million, respectively, including
sustaining capital of approximately $130 million in each year. The majority of capital costs in 2009 are allocated to the expansion
at Chapada, development work at El Peñón, development of the satellite deposits Amelia Ines and Magdalena and initial work 
on QDD Lower West at Gualcamayo, the purchase of certain additional mining concessions and further development at
Jacobina. The decisions to develop C1 Santa Luz and Mercedes are expected to be made in mid-year 2009 and in the first
quarter 2010, respectively, pending a cost review for improved economics at C1 Santa Luz and a final feasibility study and
further exploration at Mercedes. Capital expenditures shown above assume a modest amount for these projects in 2009 and
would increase mostly in 2010 once a construction decision is made. The decision to advance Ernesto/Pau-a-Pique and/or 
Pilar will depend on further evaluation of the economics of those projects in 2009. Results at Pilar are very promising and
indicate more tonnes of comparatively higher grade than was earlier indicated. Additional capital would be required to 
advance these development stage projects to production. 

Exploration expenses in 2009 are expected to be $56.0 million ($37.0 million capitalized and the remainder expensed). Yamana’s
exploration program in 2009 will focus on mine and near-mine exploration primarily in Chile, Brazil, Mexico and Argentina. 

In an effort to reduce volatility in cost structures due to fluctuating currency exchange rates, Yamana has hedged approximately
70% of its operating currency exposure at five of its mines in Brazil. A total of approximately 398.5 million Reais is now hedged
for the next 2 years at an average rate of approximately 2.25 Reais to the United States Dollar.

In Chile, given the strong correlation between the Chilean Peso and copper prices, a weakening in the currency serves as a
natural hedge to declining copper prices. Any decrease in copper margins for the Company’s unhedged copper due to lower
copper prices is significantly offset by the expected margin improvements related to its gold and silver production in Chile 
due to a weaker Peso. In 2009, approximately 35% of Yamana’s gold production will be from mines in Chile.

4. OVERVIEW OF FINANCIAL RESULTS

ANNUAL FINANCIAL REVIEW 

• Net earnings of $434.8 million or $0.63 basic earnings per share compared with $157.2 million or $0.38 basic earnings per
share for 2007, an increase of more than 65% on a per share basis.

• Annual revenues of $1.1 billion, an increase of more than 40% over 2007.
• Mine operating earnings of $362.8 million, a decrease of approximately 6% compared with $384.6 million in 2007 mainly due 

to lower copper prices.
• Foreign exchange gains of $131.5 million compared with losses of $40.4 million in 2007. 
• Unrealized gains on derivatives, principally from copper derivatives, of $174.0 million.
• Cash flow from operations before changes in non-cash working capital (a non-GAAP measure) of $425.6 million for the 

year and cash flow from operations after changes in non-cash working capital of $328.7 million compared to $280.1 million
and $281.1 million respectively for 2007.

• Impairment charges of $58.5 million against the São Francisco Mine mainly due to shortened life of mine as a result of
revised estimate of proven and probable reserves.

• Exploration expense of $19.4 million.
• Equity financing raised a cash flow of $101.9 million, net of issue costs.
• Capital expenditures of $586.9 million in 2008 compared to $273.2 million in 2007.
• Repaid debt of $95.6 million and secured an additional $200.0 million revolving credit facility before the end of the year. 

The Company now has $500.0 million of available credit under revolving credit lines of which approximately $250.0 million
remains undrawn.
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The table below presents selected financial data for the Company’s three most recently completed fiscal years as presented in
the audited consolidated financial statements: 

(in thousands of dollars) 2008 2007 2006 

Financial results
Revenues (ii) $ 1,054,607 $ 747,091 $ 169,206
Mine operating earnings $ 362,773 $ 384,580 $ 35,056
Net earnings (loss) $ 434,772 $ 157,245 $ (70,163)
Cash flow from (to) operations (after changes in non-cash working capital items) $ 328,675 $ 281,129 $ (3,215)
Cash flow from operations (before changes in non-cash working capital items) (iii) $ 425,567 $ 280,099 $ 40,171
Cash flow to investing activities $ (559,715) $ (689,847) $ (179,029)
Cash flow from financing activities $ 131,579 $ 614,344 $ 97,912

Per share financial results
Basic earnings (loss) per share $ 0.63 $ 0.38 $ (0.25)
Diluted earnings (loss) per share $ 0.62 $ 0.36 $ (0.25)

Financial position (in thousands of dollars)
Cash and cash equivalents $ 170,137 $ 284,894 $ 69,680
Total assets $ 9,337,353 $ 9,895,924 $ 2,181,192
Total long-term liabilities $ 2,419,639 $ 3,469,659 $ 387,401

Production (iv)
Total gold equivalent ounces produced 982,897 597,304 313,591 

Total gold equivalent ounces produced excluding 12.5% equity interest in Alumbrera 919,846 576,908 313,591 

Cash costs net of by-product copper credits per gold equivalent ounce produced (iii) $ 136 $ (182) $ 326
Co-product cash costs per gold equivalent ounce produced (iii) $ 384 $ 330 $ 326

Chapada copper contained in concentrate production (millions of lbs) 139.3 122.9 –
Chapada co-product cash costs per lb of copper (iii) $ 1.02 $ 0.72 –

Sales
Gold sales (ounces) 719,701 507,978 277,942 
Pre-commercial gold sales (ounces) – – 19,739 
Total gold sales (ounces) (i) 719,701 507,978 297,681 

Chapada payable copper contained in concentrate sales (millions of lbs) 131.9 117.0 –
Chapada concentrate sales (tonnes) 241,341 201,248 –

Silver sales (million of ounces) 9.8 1.8 –

Average realized gold price per ounce (ii) $ 871 $ 707 $ 613
Chapada average realized copper price per lb (excluding derivative contracts) $ 3.17 $ 3.32 –
Average realized silver price per ounce (ii) $ 15.18 $ 14.14 –

(i) Includes payable gold ounces from the Chapada Mine and excludes sales from 12.5% interest in Alumbrera Mine.
(ii) Revenues consist of sales net of sales taxes. Revenue per ounce data is calculated based on gross sales.
(iii) A cautionary note regarding non-GAAP measures is included in Section 6 of this Management’s Discussion and Analysis.
(iv) Gold equivalent ounces calculations on an assumed gold to silver ratio of 55:1 which is a three-year historical average. Silver production 

of approximately 12 million ounces for 2009 and 2010 is treated as a gold equivalent on this basis. 



The following table presents a summarized Statement of Operations for the Company’s most recently completed fiscal years:

(in thousands of dollars) 2008 2007 2006 

Revenues $ 1,054,607 $ 747,091 $ 169,206
Cost of sales (496,766) (287,640) (100,004)
Depreciation, amortization and depletion (190,893) (71,815) (33,510)
Accretion of asset retirement obligations (4,175) (3,056) (636)

Mine operating earnings 362,773 384,580 35,056 

Expenses
General and administrative (70,643) (69,251) (65,449)
Exploration and other operating expenses (26,188) 2,872 –
Write-off of mineral interests (58,993) (1,821) (3,675)

Operating earnings (loss) 206,949 316,380 (34,068)

Other business income (expenses) 47,758 (67,998) (25,361)
Unrealized gain (loss) on derivatives 173,985 (29,068) (35,773)

Earnings (loss) before income taxes, equity earnings and non-controlling interest 428,692 219,314 (95,202)

Income tax (expense) recovery (19,683) (63,872) 25,039 
Equity earnings from Minera Alumbrera 25,763 3,820 –
Non-controlling interest – (2,017) –

Net earnings (loss) $ 434,772 $ 157,245 $ (70,163)

Basic earnings (loss) per share $ 0.63 $ 0.38 $ (0.25)
Diluted earnings (loss) per share $ 0.62 $ 0.36 $ (0.25)

The Company successfully merged the Meridian and Northern Orion operations during the year after their acquisition by the
Company in October 2007.

Earnings per share were $0.63 basic and $0.62 on a diluted basis, compared with $0.38 per share basic and $0.36 per share on 
a diluted basis for 2007 (2006 - loss $0.25 per share basic and diluted).

Net earnings for the year were $434.8 million compared with net earnings of $157.2 million in 2007 (2006 - loss of $70.2 million).
Revenue increased due to higher production as a result of the full-year effect from the producing properties acquired in October
2007, and higher average realized prices for gold. This was partially offset by negative adjustments driven by a decline in copper
prices on sales of concentrate. Unrealized gains from commodity derivative contracts, which were acquired to mitigate price
risk of copper, offset the impact from the decline in the copper price on revenues. Increased cost of sales was driven by a
stronger Brazilian Real versus the United States Dollar and higher prices for consumables versus 2007.

Gross revenues for the year were derived from the sale of 719,701 ounces of gold, 9.8 million ounces of silver and 131.9 million
pounds of copper. This compares with gross revenues for 2007 from sale of 532,531 ounces of gold (2006 - 297,681 ounces of
gold), 1.8 million ounces of silver (2006 - nil) and 117.0 million pounds of copper (2006 - nil). Higher production volumes were 
due to full-year operation of the mines acquired from Meridian and Northern Orion in October 2007 and increased production
levels at Jacobina and Fazenda Brasileiro.

The Company’s average net realized gold price during the year was $871, an increase of 23% from an average net realized price
of $707 per ounce in 2007 (2006 - $613 per ounce). The average realized price excludes the impact of unrealized mark-to-market
adjustments on unsettled concentrate sales. The average market price for gold was $872 per ounce in 2008 compared to 
$697 per ounce in 2007 and $605 per ounce in 2006.

The average realized price of copper from Chapada was $3.17 per pound for the year, compared with the average realized price
of $3.32 per pound in 2007 (2006 - nil). The average realized price excludes the impact of unrealized mark-to-market adjustments
on unsettled concentrate sales. The average market price for copper was $3.16 per pound in 2008 (2007 - $3.24 per pound, 2006 -
$3.06 per pound).

The average realized price for silver during the year was $15.18 per ounce, compared with the average realized price of 
$14.14 per ounce in 2007 (2006 - nil). The average market price for silver was $14.97 per ounce in 2008 (2007 - $13.39 per ounce,
2006 - $11.59 per ounce).

The Company’s mine operating earnings were adversely affected by higher depreciation, depletion and amortization by 
$119 million and lower copper prices. Higher production volume in 2008 drove up depreciation, depletion and amortization
expense.
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General and administrative expenses were $70.6 million for the year, compared with $69.3 million in 2007 (2006 - $65.4 million).

Exploration expenses were $19.4 million for the year, compared with nil in 2007. This is excluding capitalized exploration of 
$62.1 million.

An impairment charge of $58.5 million was also recorded during the year for the São Francisco Mine.

The low tax rate for 2008 is due to the reversal of future tax liabilities on the foreign exchange related to intercompany loans 
and the amortization of the purchase price adjustment related to the acquisition of Meridian in 2007.

The Company recorded equity earnings from its 12.5% interest in the Alumbrera Mine of $25.8 million for the year, compared 
with $3.8 million attributable to the Company in 2007 for the two-and-a-half-month period post acquisition. The Company’s
interest in Alumbrera was obtained through the acquisition of Northern Orion in October 2007. Earnings at Alumbrera were 
also negatively impacted in the fourth quarter by the decline in copper prices.

Cash and cash equivalents as at December 31, 2008 were $170.1 million compared to $284.9 million as at December 31, 2007.
Cash decreased year-over-year mainly due to $586.9 million of capital expenditures compared with $273.2 million in 2007. 
Capital expenditures increased in 2008 due to the construction of the Gualcamayo and São Vicente Mines as part of the
Company’s growth strategy. Working capital as at December 31, 2008 was $161.3 million compared to $177.9 million as at
December 31, 2007. 

Cash flow from operations before changes in non-cash working capital items (a non-GAAP measure - see Section 6) 
was $425.6 million for the year compared with $280.1 million for the year ended December 31, 2007 (2006 - $40.2 million). 
The increase in cash flow from operations for the twelve months is primarily due to the full-year impact of post-acquisition 
sales of gold, copper and silver. Cash flow from operations after changes in non-cash working capital was $328.7 million
compared with $281.1 million for 2007 (2006 - $3.2 million outflow).

QUARTERLY FINANCIAL REVIEW 

• Net earnings of $179.4 million or $0.25 earnings per share compared with $47.1 million or $0.08 earnings per share for the
same quarter in 2007.

• Revenues of $114.1 million, down 48% from the fourth quarter of 2007 mainly due to a 46% decline in copper prices resulting
in significant negative pricing adjustments on prior period concentrate sales.

• Mine operating loss of $51.8 million (excluding a realized gain of $51.8 million on copper derivatives but including the
negative copper pricing adjustments of $74.1 million) compared with earnings of $76.6 million in the fourth quarter of 2007. 

• Unrealized gains on derivatives, principally from copper derivatives, of $137.5 million.
• Foreign exchange gain of $128.8 million compared with loss of $33.4 million in the fourth quarter of 2007 highlighting the

fourth quarter devaluation of Latin American currencies against the United States Dollar. This should also benefit operating
cost levels going forward.

• Cash flow from operations after changes in non-cash working capital of $103.4 million compared with $145.8 million in the
fourth quarter in 2007. Excluding the negative pricing adjustments, cash flow from operations after changes in non-cash
working capital would have been $184.1 million.

• Cash at the end of the year of $170.1 million. The cash position was strengthened through an equity financing for 
$108.0 million (Cdn$135.0 million), the monetizing of a portion of the copper derivatives for $47.5 million, the exercise of
warrants for $39.5 million and the divestment of the Company’s 40% joint venture interest in the Rossi Mine for $29.2 million.

• Capital expenditures of $170.2 million for the quarter.
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The table below presents selected quarterly financial and operating data:

December 31, September 30, June 30, March 31,
2008 2008 2008 2008

Financial results (in thousands of dollars)

Revenues (i) $ 114,144 $ 247,465 $ 336,938 $ 356,060
Mine operating earnings (loss) $ (51,787) $ 44,370 $ 174,942 $ 195,248
Net earnings for the period $ 179,365 $ 150,199 $ 42,089 $ 63,119
Cash flow from operating activities (after changes in non-cash 

working capital items) $ 103,371 $ 80,916 $ 136,346 $ 8,042
Cash flow from (to) operating activities (before changes in non-cash 

working capital items) (iii) $ 45,909 $ 90,067 $ 181,418 $ 108,173
Cash flow to investing activities $ (145,222) $ (135,179) $ (155,651) $ (123,663)
Cash flow from (to) financing activities $ 93,540 $ (53,683) $ 47,662 $ 44,060

Per share financial results
Basic earnings per share $ 0.25 $ 0.21 $ 0.06 $ 0.09
Diluted earnings per share $ 0.25 $ 0.21 $ 0.06 $ 0.09

Financial Position (in thousands of dollars)
Cash and cash equivalents $ 170,137 $ 125,636 $ 238,377 $ 213,916
Total assets $ 9,337,353 $ 9,222,513 $ 10,151,232 $ 9,929,098
Total long-term liabilities $ 2,419,639 $ 2,616,937 $ 3,588,874 $ 3,499,390

Production
Total gold equivalent ounces produced 254,774 235,406 257,497 235,220 
Total gold equivalent ounces produced 

excluding 12.5% equity interest in Alumbrera 233,860 223,945 243,874 218,167 

Co-product cash costs per gold equivalent ounce produced (ii) $ 383 $ 454 $ 332 $ 376

Chapada copper contained in concentrate production (millions of lbs) 36.8 34.9 36.6 31.0 
Chapada co-product cash costs per pound of copper (ii) $ 0.90 $ 1.19 $ 0.98 $ 1.02

Sales
Gold sales (ounces) 166,009 173,342 193,150 187,200 

Chapada payable copper contained in concentrate sales (millions of lbs) 30.1 33.4 35.2 33.2 

Silver sales (million of ounces) 2.2 2.3 2.9 2.4 

Average realized gold price per ounce (i) $ 789 $ 861 $ 893 $ 937
Chapada average realized copper price per lb (excluding derivative contracts) $ 1.59 $ 3.45 $ 3.81 $ 3.64
Average realized silver price per ounce (i) $ 10.20 $ 14.56 $ 17.20 $ 17.83
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December 31, September 30, June 30, March 31,
2007 2007 2007 2007

Financial results (in thousands of dollars)

Revenue (i) $ 218,598 $ 199,693 $ 183,667 $ 145,133
Mine operating earnings $ 76,610 $ 124,936 $ 106,659 $ 76,375
Net earnings for the period $ 47,109 $ 29,950 $ 52,761 $ 27,426
Cash flow from operating activities 

(after changes in non-cash working capital items) $ 145,808 $ 55,354 $ 78,851 $ 13,861
Cash flow from operating activities 

(before changes in non-cash working capital items) (iii) $ 28,033 $ 104,978 $ 90,905 $ 68,928
Cash flow (to) investing activities $ (535,865) $ (75,549) $ (61,375) $ (29,803)
Cash flow from (to) financing activities $ 601,434 $ (1,273) $ (1,542) $ 15,725

Per share financial results
Basic earnings per share $ 0.08 $ 0.08 $ 0.15 $ 0.08
Diluted earnings per share $ 0.08 $ 0.08 $ 0.14 $ 0.07

Financial Position (in thousands of dollars)
Cash and cash equivalents $ 284,894 $ 66,944 $ 88,956 $ 69,808
Total assets $ 9,895,924 $ 2,516,995 $ 2,407,179 $ 2,267,075
Total long-term liabilities $ 3,469,659 $ 489,585 $ 430,303 $ 384,455

Production
Gold equivalent ounces produced 209,092 131,366 115,843 120,607 

Co-product cash costs per gold equivalent ounce produced (ii) $ 350 $ 322 $ 325 $ 303

Chapada copper contained in concentrate production (millions of lbs) 30.5 33.5 31.5 27.4 
Chapada co-product cash costs per lb of copper (ii) $ 0.78 $ 0.71 $ 0.72 $ 0.66

Sales
Gold sales (ounces) 161,753 128,056 120,022 122,699 

Chapada payable copper contained in concentrate sales (millions of lbs) 28.4 33.0 31.7 23.9 

Silver sales (millions of ounces) 1.8 – – –

Average realized gold price per ounce (i) $ 795 $ 686 $ 660 $ 645
Chapada average realized copper price per lb (excluding derivative contracts) $ 3.19 $ 3.54 $ 3.59 $ 2.81
Average realized silver price per ounce (i) $ 14.14 – – –

(i) Revenues consist of sales net of sales taxes. Revenue per ounce data is calculated based on gross sales.
(ii) During commercial production.
(iii) A cautionary note regarding non-GAAP measures is included in this Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Operations and Financial

Condition (see Section 6).
(iv) Gold equivalent ounces calculations on an assumed gold to silver ratio of 55:1 which is a three-year historical average. Silver production 

of approximately 12 million ounces for 2009 and 2010 is treated as a gold equivalent on this basis.
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The following table presents a summarized Statement of Operations for the Company’s most recently completed and
comparative quarter:

For the Three Months Ended

December 31, December 31,
(in thousands of dollars) 2008 2007

Revenues before pricing adjustments $ 188,282 $ 236,786
Pricing adjustments related to prior period revenues (74,138) (18,188)

Revenues $ 114,144 $ 218,598

Cost of sales (117,131) (107,885)
Depreciation, amortization and depletion (48,185) (32,276)
Accretion of asset retirement obligations (615) (1,827)

Mine operating earnings (loss) $ (51,787) $ 76,610

Expenses
General and administrative (12,924) (37,720)
Exploration and other expenses (8,317) 19,049 
Write-off of mineral interests (58,993) –

Operating earnings (loss) $ (132,021) $ 57,939

Other business income 173,101 (48,708)
Unrealized gain on derivatives 137,534 50,417 

Earnings (loss) before income taxes, equity earnings and non-controlling interest $ 178,614 $ 59,648

Income tax (expense) recovery 6,744 (14,667)
Equity earnings from Minera Alumbrera (5,993) 4,145 
Non-controlling interest – (2,017)

Net earnings $ 179,365 $ 47,109

Basic earnings per share $ 0.25 $ 0.08
Diluted earnings per share $ 0.25 $ 0.08

The dramatic worsening in financial markets since mid-September evolved into a global economic crisis by the fourth quarter 
of 2008. As a result of the downturn of the world economy, demand for most metals fell and prices declined significantly. 
Prices for copper dropped to a low of $1.27 per pound and an average of $2.14 per pound in the fourth quarter from an average
of $3.34 per pound in the same quarter of 2007 (a decrease of nearly 36% on average prices) and from a high of $4.04 per pound
and an average of $3.48 per pound in the third quarter, representing a decrease of 39% on average prices. Silver prices also
decreased by 23% from the fourth quarter of a year ago. At the same time, exchange rates of currencies of the resource-based
economies versus the United States Dollar were also falling. Exchange rates for the Brazilian Real and the Chilean Peso,
currencies of countries where the Company’s key mining operations are located, versus the United States Dollar were down 
by approximately 28% in the fourth quarter compared to the same quarter of 2007. While the downward movement of the
exchange rates of Brazil and Chile had a favourable effect on the Company’s operating costs, lower copper and silver prices
adversely affected revenues.

Earnings per share were $0.25 on a basic and diluted basis for the fourth quarter of 2008, compared with basic and diluted
earnings per share of $0.08 for the same quarter in 2007.

Net earnings for the fourth quarter were $179.4 million compared with net earnings of $47.1 million in the same quarter in 2007.
Revenues were $114.1 million compared to $218.6 million for the same quarter in 2007. Revenue decreased mainly as a result 
of significant negative pricing adjustments driven by unfavourable copper prices on sales of payable copper in concentrate. 
The quarterly net earnings increased by more than three times over the same quarter of 2007 due to foreign exchange gains 
of $128.8 million on the strength of the United States Dollar, and realized and unrealized gains of $56.4 million and $137.5 million
respectively, on commodity derivative contracts which served as an economic hedge to mitigate the price risk of copper sales.
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Revenues for the quarter are comprised of the following:

Revenue
Quantity Realized (in thousands

Sold Price of dollars)

Gold (i) 166,009 oz. $ 789/oz. $ 130,998
Copper (i) 30.1 million lbs. $ 1.59/lb. 47,884
Silver 2,156,747 oz. $ 10.20/oz. 22,005

Gross revenues $ 200,887
Less:

- Treatment and refining charges (5,036)
- Sales taxes (3,456)
- Current period mark-to-market adjustments (4,113)
- Pricing adjustments related to prior period concentrate revenues (74,138)

Revenues $ 114,144

(i) Includes payable copper and gold contained in concentrate.

Revenues and mine operating earnings were reduced by $74.1 million relating to sales that occurred prior to the fourth quarter. 
The extent of these adjustments is considered to be non-recurring and unprecedented due to the magnitude of the change in
the copper prices during the fourth quarter. The final settlements will however impact the first quarter 2009 and the impact is
expected to be approximately $25 to $30 million.

The prices of gold, copper and silver for the fourth quarter of 2008 and 2007 are summarized below:

Realized Price Market Price

For the quarter ended December 31, 2008 2007 2008 2007

Gold (per oz.) $ 789 $ 795 $ 795 $ 788
Copper (per lb.) $ 1.59 $ 3.19 $ 1.79 $ 3.17
Silver (per oz.) $ 10.20 $ 14.14 $ 10.20 $ 14.56

Realized prices compared to market prices for copper may vary due to infrequent shipments and depending on timing of the
sales.

Unrealized gains from commodity derivative contracts, which were entered into to mitigate price risk of copper, more than 
offset the decrease in mine operating earnings and the impairment charges recorded during the fourth quarter. The Company’s
mine operating earnings were adversely affected by the lower copper prices on sales and negative pricing adjustments related
to prior period revenues, and higher depreciation, amortization and depletion resulting from higher production volume in 2008.

General and administrative expenses were $12.9 million for the fourth quarter, compared with $37.7 million in 2007. General 
and administrative expenses were higher in the fourth quarter in 2007 as a result of the acquisition of Meridian and Northern
Orion. General and administrative expense in 2008 also included a credit of $8.2 million reflecting the results of the Company’s
reassessment of the silicosis liability related to claims by former employees of Jacobina Mineração e Comércio Ltda. 

Exploration expenses for the quarter were $5.6 million compared to $nil in the same quarter of 2007.

In the fourth quarter, as a result of its review of carrying values compared to discounted future net cash flows, the Company
recorded an impairment charge of $58.5 million against the São Francisco Mine, one of the operating mines located in Brazil.
Future cash flows are based on management’s estimate of the operating results of the mine together with their estimate of 
the resale value of assets at the end-life of the mine. The quantity of ore over the life of the mine has been reduced compared 
to 2007 due to the impact of using a lower ore grade estimate in determining reserves and resources thereby reducing the 
size of the ultimate open-pit design.

The Company recorded an equity loss of its 12.5% interest in the Alumbrera Mine of $6.0 million for the quarter, mainly due to
lower copper prices, compared with earnings of $4.1 million attributable to the Company in the quarter ended December 31,
2007. The Company’s interest in Alumbrera was obtained through the acquisition of Northern Orion in October 2007.

Cash flow from operations after changes in non-cash working capital was a $103.4 million inflow for the fourth quarter
compared with a $145.8 million inflow for the quarter ended December 31, 2007. The decrease in cash flow from operations 
after change in non-cash working capital was primarily due to a significant downturn in copper price causing lower copper
sales revenues and negative pricing adjustments for copper in concentrate. The cash impact of pricing adjustments during 
the fourth quarter was negative $80.7 million. Excluding these adjustments, cash flow from operations after changes in 
non-cash working capital would have been $184.1 million inflow. 
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5. MINES AND DEVELOPMENT PROJECTS

OVERVIEW OF ANNUAL OPERATING RESULTS 

In 2008, the Company produced 982,897 gold equivalent ounces. This compares to total production of 597,304 ounces during
fiscal 2007 and production of 313,591 ounces during fiscal 2006. 

Copper production of 139.3 million pounds from the Chapada Mine for the year increased by 13% over the production of 
122.9 million pounds in 2007. Copper concentrate production at Chapada also increased by 21% over the prior year. 
Additionally, 43.2 million pounds of copper were produced from Alumbrera attributable to the Company compared with 
11.4 million pounds in the last 3 months of 2007. The Company did not have any copper production during the comparative 
year ended December 31, 2006 as the Chapada Mine was undergoing construction.

Average cash costs for the year were $136 (net of by-product credits) per gold equivalent ounce including Alumbrera. 
This compares to cash costs of credit $182 per ounce for the year ended December 31, 2007 and $326 per ounce for the 
year ended December 31, 2006. Co-product cost was $384 per gold equivalent ounce for 2008.

Co-product cash costs per pound of copper were $1.02 for the year from Chapada, compared with $0.72 for the year ended
December 31, 2007. Co-product cash costs for the year including the Company’s interest in the Alumbrera Mine were 
$1.18 per pound, compared with $0.79 for 2007.

The following table summarizes the production by mine for the fiscal year 2008:

Total Gold Equivalent Co-Product Cash Costs per Gold
Production Equivalent ounce 

(oz.) (dollar) (ii)

2008 2007 2006 2008 2007 2006 

Chapada 150,037 178,125 7,881 337 218 –
El Peñón (i) 407,944 77,340 – 308 265 –
Jacobina 73,240 54,076 62,534 411 541 327 
Fazenda Brasileiro 96,092 87,969 76,413 423 388 350 
Minera Florida (i) 64,615 12,788 – 398 243 –
São Francisco 75,936 104,764 80,128 629 373 295 
San Andrés 47,760 51,538 56,792 584 410 342 
Fazenda Nova – 6,925 29,843 – 551 294 
Rossi (40% interest) (i) 4,222 3,383 – 661 469 –

Total 919,846 576,908 313,591 382 332 326 

(i) Production and cash cost information disclosed in the above tables for 2007 and 2006 for mines acquired during the year consist solely 
of the information that was attributable to the Company.

(ii) A cautionary note regarding non-GAAP measures is included in this Management’s Discussion and Analysis.

Proven and probable reserves were 19.4 million ounces of contained gold, 173 million ounces of contained silver and 
11.5 billion pounds of contained copper as of December 31, 2008 based on a gold price of $700 per ounce (except for 
São Vicente at $428 per ounce), a silver price of $11 per ounce and a copper price of $1.85 per pound. This represents 
an increase of approximately 1.4 million ounces of gold or 8% from the prior year.

PRODUCTION IN 2008: GOLD EQUIVALENT OUNCES BY MINE

A. Chapada
B. El Peñón
C. Rossi
D. São Francisco
E. Jacobina
F. San Andrés
G. Fazenda Brasileiro
H. Minera Florida
I. Alumbrera

A

B

C

D

E

G

F

H

I

15.3%
41.5%

0.4%
7.7%
7.5%
4.9%
9.8%
6.6%
6.4%



45

YA
M

A
N

A
 G

O
LD

20
08

 A
N

N
U

A
L 

R
E

P
O

R
T

OVERVIEW OF QUARTERLY OPERATING RESULTS 

Total production for the fourth quarter was 254,774 gold equivalent ounces including the Company’s proportionate interest 
in production from the Alumbrera Mine. This compares favourably to production of 235,406 gold equivalent ounces for the 
third quarter of 2008 and attributable production of 229,488 gold equivalent ounces for the comparative quarter ended 
December 31, 2007.

Co-product cash costs (a non-GAAP measure, see Section 6) were $383 per gold equivalent ounce for the quarter compared
with $350 per gold equivalent ounce for the comparative fourth quarter of 2007. This also represents a decrease from 
co-product cash costs of $454 per gold equivalent ounce for the third quarter of 2008.

Copper production also increased during the fourth quarter vis-à-vis that of the third quarter. Copper production for the 
quarter ended December 31, 2008 was 36.8 million pounds from the Chapada Mine, compared with 34.9 million pounds and 
30.5 million pounds for the third quarter 2008 and the fourth quarter 2007, respectively. Additionally, 15.6 million pounds of 
copper were produced from Alumbrera attributable to the Company, compared with 11.4 million pounds for the quarter 
ended December 31, 2007 and 9.5 million pounds in the third quarter 2008. Total copper production for the fourth quarter 
was 52.4 million pounds.

Co-product cash costs per pound of copper were $0.90 for the quarter from the Chapada Mine. Co-product cash costs per
pound of copper for the quarter including the Company’s interest in the Alumbrera Mine were $0.96 per pound. This compares
favourably to co-product cash costs per pound of copper of $1.32 during the third quarter 2008.

The following table summarizes production statistics attributable to the Company by quarter for 2008:

Co-Product Cash Costs per Gold
Total Gold Equivalent Production Equivalent ounce 

(oz.) (dollar) (ii)

For the three months ended Dec. 31 Sep. 30 Jun. 30 Mar. 31 Dec. 31 Sep. 30 Jun. 30 Mar. 31

Chapada 35,263 35,876 41,959 36,939 293 367 345 341 
El Peñón 97,944 98,976 113,150 97,873 332 342 284 277 
Jacobina 23,439 18,519 18,581 12,701 573 772 (252) 553 
Fazenda Brasileiro 24,143 23,344 25,545 23,060 360 492 376 473 
Minera Florida 16,366 17,345 14,071 16,835 463 347 471 325 
São Francisco 21,569 18,577 16,669 19,121 544 750 667 572 
San Andrés 15,136 11,308 12,619 8,697 429 654 642 677 
Rossi (40% interest) (ii) – – 1,281 2,941 – – 861 574 

Total 233,860 223,945 243,875 218,167 388 447 322 374 

(i) A cautionary note regarding non-GAAP measures is included in this Management’s Discussion and Analysis.
(ii) Operations at the Rossi mine were suspended in mid-May 2008. The Company sold its interest in the Rossi mine in October 2008.

PRODUCTION IN THE FOURTH QUARTER 2008: GOLD EQUIVALENT OUNCES BY MINE

A. Chapada
B. El Peñón
C. São Francisco
D. Jacobina
E. San Andrés
F. Fazenda Brasileiro
G. Minera Florida
H. Alumbrera
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CHAPADA MINE
Three months

ended Years ended

December 31, December 31, December 31, December 31,
Operating Statistics 2008 2008 2007 2006

Production
Concentrate (tonnes) 65,728 244,301 201,339 –
Pre-commercial production (tonnes) – – – 10,278 

Gold contained in concentrate production (ounces) 35,263 150,037 178,125 –
Pre-commercial production (ounces) – – – 7,881 

Copper contained in concentrate (millions of pounds) 36.8 139.3 122.9 –
Pre-commercial production (millions of pounds) – – – 4.5 

Co-product cash costs per oz of gold produced (i) $ 293 $ 337 $ 218 –
Co-product cash costs per lb of copper produced (i) $ 0.90 $ 1.02 $ 0.72 –

Ore mined (tonnes) 3,809,512 14,521,140 18,651,162 877,197 
Ore processed (tonnes) 4,328,583 14,942,848 12,693,868 825,586 

Gold ore grade (g/t) 0.37 0.44 0.60 –
Copper ore grade (%) 0.43 0.47 0.50 –

Concentrate grade - gold (g/t) 16.71 19.32 27.6 –
Concentrate grade - copper (%) 25.29 25.86 27.7 –

Gold recovery rate (%) 67.9 71.0 73.0 –
Copper recovery rate (%) 89.5 89.6 87.8 –

Sales
Concentrate (tonnes) 59,233 241,341 201,248 –
Payable gold contained in concentrate (ounces) 24,621 149,549 168,135 –
Payable copper contained in concentrate (millions of pounds) 30.1 131.9 117.0 –

Depreciation, amortization and depletion per gold ounce sold $ 78 $ 47 $ 27 –
Depreciation, amortization and depletion per copper pound sold $ 0.18 $ 0.15 $ 0.09 –

(i) A cautionary note regarding non-GAAP measures is included in Section 6 of this Management’s Discussion and Analysis. 

Chapada is located in the state of Goiás, Brazil. The processing of ore at Chapada began in late November 2006 and the
Company achieved commercial production on February 11, 2007. The original design and operational results to date show the
promise of expanding mill throughput. The Company expects to complete the expansion of the mill and increase throughput to 
a rate of 20 million tonnes by mid-2009 and to expand in the next phase to 24 million tonnes.

Chapada produced a total of 35,263 ounces of gold contained in concentrate in the fourth quarter and 150,037 ounces of gold 
in the year 2008, compared with 45,428 ounces of gold in concentrate and 178,125 ounces of gold contained in concentrate
during the comparable periods in 2007. Lower production was mainly due to lower gold ore grade.

Production of copper at Chapada was 36.8 million pounds in the fourth quarter and 139.3 million pounds for the year ended
December 31, 2008. This compares with 30.5 million pounds and 122.9 million pounds of copper contained in concentrate 
during the comparable periods in 2007, showing an increase of 21% quarter-over-quarter and 13% year-over-year.

Co-product cash costs for the quarter were $293 per gold ounce and $0.90 per pound of copper which compare favourably 
to $367 per ounce and $1.19 per pound for the third quarter of 2008.

Total revenue for the quarter net of sales taxes and treatment and refining costs during the quarter was $7.3 million and 
$29.4 million on a full year basis. Associated overseas transportation costs were approximately $5.4 million and $26.7 million 
for the respective periods representing $0.15 and $0.19 per pound of copper, respectively. As at December 31, 2008, the 
Company had payables in the amount of $6 million in respect of concentrate sales.

Copper production for 2008 increased slightly from that of 2007. Meanwhile, gold production declined from that of 2007 
with a decline in grade. This also resulted in an increase in cash costs year-over-year.

Efforts to reduce the impact of the annual rainy season in early 2009 were completed by the end of 2008. Total production 
at Chapada for 2009 is expected to be between 140,000 to 155,000 ounces of gold and 145 to 150 million pounds of copper 
at a co-product cash cost of between $275 to $305 per ounce of gold and $0.90 to $1.00 per pound of copper, respectively.
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During the fourth quarter, the Company completed an updated feasibility study for the phased throughput expansion to 
20 million tonnes per year and then to 24 million tonnes per year. The Company has commenced the first phase of the expansion
to 20 million tonnes per year and plans to complete this phase by mid-2009. Expansion to 24 million tonnes per year is expected
to begin by early 2010 and to be completed in approximately 18 months. The decision to expand to 32 million tonnes per year
depends on prevailing metal prices and an increase in proven and probable reserves to extend the mine life. Capital expenditure
estimates for 2009 and 2010 include these two phases of expansion.

The Company continues its effort to exploit the pyrite resource at the Chapada Mine by developing business opportunities in 
the sulphuric acid market. A scoping study was released in May 2007 and concluded that additional gold and copper, along 
with sulphuric acid could be recovered from the pyrite concentrate taken from the tailings of the principal operations at
Chapada. In October 2008, the Company entered into agreement with a potential purchaser to explore the opportunity to supply
pyrite concentrate for the production of sulphuric acid in a facility to be constructed by the purchaser near the Chapada mine. 
A feasibility study for the modification of the floatation circuit is now underway to determine the feasibility of producing pyrite
concentrate that will meet the quality and quantity specifications of the purchaser.

EL PEÑÓN
Three months

ended Years ended

December 31, December 31, December 31, December 31,
Operating Statistics 2008 2008 2007 (ii) 2006

Production
Gold equivalent (ounces) 97,944 407,944 77,340 
Gold production (ounces) 54,987 224,990 44,965 –

Cash costs per gold equivalent ounce produced (i) $ 332 $ 308 $ 265 –

Ore mined (tonnes) 280,603 1,084,953 189,885 –
Ore processed (tonnes) 308,627 1,124,566 186,705 –

Gold ore grade (g/t) 5.98 6.73 7.92 –
Silver ore grade (g/t) 268.61 307.97 320.18 –

Gold ore recovery rate (%) 91.1 92.0 93.7 –
Silver ore recovery rate (%) 89.0 87.6 91.9 –

Sales
Gold sales (ounces) 50,626 216,810 43,005 –
Silver sales (ounces) 2,095,326 9,315,443 1,736,704 –

Depreciation, amortization and depletion per gold equivalent ounce sold $ 291 $ 281 $ 193 –

(i) A cautionary note regarding non-GAAP measures is included in Section 6 of this Management’s Discussion and Analysis. 
(ii) Comparative information reported in the above table excludes pre-acquisition data as Meridian Gold Inc. was acquired during the fourth

quarter of 2007. 

The El Peñón mine is located in northern Chile and producing gold and silver. It was acquired through the Company’s acquisition
of Meridian in October 2007.

El Peñón produced 97,944 gold equivalent ounces during the fourth quarter, a 27% increase from the 77,340 gold equivalent
ounces produced in the same quarter in 2007. Production for the year was 407,944 gold equivalent ounces. Cash costs were
$332 in the quarter ended December 31, 2008, compared with $265 per ounce in the fourth quarter in 2007. Cash costs averaged
$308 per ounce in 2008.

For the month of December 2008, average tonnage increased to approximately 110,000 tonnes and production totaled
approximately 36,000 gold equivalent ounces. The Company intends to mine at a rate of 3,600 tonnes per day for the next two
years before further increasing plant capacity although it will evaluate the further expansion as the proven and probable
reserves increase. The Company expects to be mining at an effective rate of 500,000 gold equivalent ounces per year in 2009,
targeting production of approximately 435,000 to 460,000 gold equivalent ounces and the creation of a stockpile. The Company
believes that significant potential exists at El Peñón and has substantially increased budgeted capital expenditures based on
exploration results.



48

YA
M

A
N

A
 G

O
LD

20
08

 A
N

N
U

A
L 

R
E

P
O

R
T

JACOBINA
Three months

ended Years ended

December 31, December 31, December 31, December 31,
Operating Statistics 2008 2008 2007 2006

Production
Gold production (ounces) 23,439 73,240 54,076 62,534 

Cash costs per ounce produced (i) $ 573 $ 411 $ 541 $ 327

Ore mined (tonnes) 417,521 1,509,679 1,044,312 1,102,188 
Ore processed (tonnes) 468,562 1,388,086 1,040,174 1,094,143 

Gold Grade (g/t) 1.74 1.82 1.71 1.91 

Gold Recovery rate (%) 89.3 90.0 94.8 94.2 

Sales
Gold sales (ounces) 20,510 69,792 54,458 64,102 

Depreciation, amortization and depletion per gold ounce sold $ 242 $ 248 $ 194 $ 196

(i) A cautionary note regarding non-GAAP measures is included in Section 6 of this Management’s Discussion and Analysis. 

Production at Jacobina was 23,439 ounces of gold in the fourth quarter and 73,240 ounces of gold in 2008. This compares 
with 18,264 ounces and 54,076 ounces of gold during the corresponding periods in 2007, representing increases of 28% 
quarter-over-quarter and 35% year-over-year. The increase in production was mainly due to improvement in the mine planning,
expansion of the process plant and the impact of a sill pillar failure in 2007.

Cash costs were $573 per ounce of gold for the fourth quarter and averaged $411 in 2008, compared with $626 per ounce 
and $541 per ounce of gold in the comparable periods in 2007. Lower cash costs are mainly attributable to economies of scale
resulting from increased tonnage of ore mined and processed and a credit from insurance proceeds on a business interruption
claim of $16 million related to a sill pillar failure. In addition, a weaker Brazilian Real versus the United States Dollar in the fourth
quarter of 2008 also contributed to lower expenses and cash costs for the quarter-over-quarter comparison.

For settlement of the claim against the 2007 sill pillar business interruption, the Company received and recorded a payment of
$14.0 million from the insurance company in the quarter ended December 31, 2007. An additional and final settlement payment 
of $16.1 million was received and recorded in the second quarter in 2008. The 2008 payment was credited against costs for the
quarter in which the payment was received as it represented proceeds for lost margins in excess of losses incurred.

Significant development work was completed in 2008. In the fourth quarter, Jacobina reached production levels of 5,000 to 
6,500 tonnes per day. Development work for the second phase of expansion to increase plant capacity to 7,500 tonnes per day
also advanced during the fourth quarter of 2008 and will continue in 2009. The Company expects to be mining from 9 to 12 stopes
at three mines in 2009 (Joao Belo, Canavieiras and Morro do Vento) with further development work at the fourth mine (Basal)
progressing during the year. Production and costs may be improved over current guidance based on work done at Basal. 
At Jacobina, new reserve ounces exceeded ounces mined; resources were upgraded from Inferred to Measured and 
Indicated and the average grade improved notably. 

The Company remains on track to increase the mining rate from developed stopes and expects to produce approximately
115,000 to 125,000 ounces of gold in 2009 at a cash cost of between $380 to $410 per ounce.
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GUALCAMAYO PROJECT

First gold bullion was produced early in January 2009 at Gualcamayo, and commercial production is expected to commence 
by the end of the second quarter of 2009. The first ore pass, primary crusher and underground conveyer system are scheduled 
to be commissioned in the first quarter 2009. A second ore pass will follow with a start-up date in the third quarter 2009. 

Total construction expenditures for 2008 were $163.3 million (including capitalized interest of $8.3 million) of which 
$54.6 million was spent during the fourth quarter. Total construction expenditures to date since the commencement of the
project were $190.6 million. An additional $23.9 million was spent during the year on fixed assets, exploration and feasibility
related expenditures.

Total production in 2009 is expected to be around 195,000 ounces of gold. Gold inventory of mined materials exceeded 
45,000 ounces at the end of December 2008 and continues to increase. The Company has committed to the construction 
of the Amelia Ines and Magdalena open pit satellite deposits which are expected to contribute to overall production in the 
first half of 2009.

In January 2009, the Company announced the results of its studies relating to the mining of Gualcamayo’s Quebrada Del Diablo
(QDD) Lower West underground deposit. Based on the results of the studies, the Company has decided to advance the front
caving mining approach to optimize project returns and net present value, significantly increase mineable and recoverable
reserves, achieve higher average head grade and increase mine life for Gualcamayo to approximately 13 years from the current
mine life of nine years. Production from this underground deposit is expected to begin no later than in 2015. The Company
continues to evaluate advancing production before 2015 by beginning mining in the western extension using the same front
caving mining approach. The Company has allocated almost its entire $6 million exploration budget for Gualcamayo in 2009
toward further exploration of QDD Lower West.

MINERA FLORIDA
Three months

ended Years ended

December 31, December 31, December 31, December 31,
Operating Statistics 2008 2008 2007 (ii) 2006

Production
Gold equivalent (ounces) 16,366 64,615 10,694 –
Gold production (ounces) 15,169 57,325 12,788 –

Cash costs per gold equivalent ounce produced (i) $ 463 $ 398 $ 243 –

Ore mined (tonnes) 140,771 471,798 74,307 –

Gold grade (g/t) 4.33 4.53 5.28 –
Silver ore grade (g/t) 22.24 36.68 66.59 

Gold recovery rate (%) 82.7 84.2 81.7 –
Silver recovery rate (%) 67.8 70.0 68.9 

Sales
Gold sales (ounces) 14,551 58,715 9,824 –
Silver sales (ounces) 61,421 471,150 70,564 –

Depreciation, amortization and depletion per gold equivalent ounce sold $ 207 $ 134 $ 165 –

(i) A cautionary note regarding non-GAAP measures is included in Section 6 of this Management’s Discussion and Analysis.
(ii) Comparative information reported in the above table excludes pre-acquisition data as Meridian Gold Inc. was acquired during the fourth

quarter of 2007.

Minera Florida is an underground mine located in the Alhue mining district of Chile. The mine was acquired through the
Company’s acquisition of Meridian in October 2007.

The mine produced a total of 16,366 gold equivalent ounces in the fourth quarter in 2008 compared with 12,788 gold equivalent
ounces in the same quarter in 2007. Cash costs for the fourth quarter were $463 per gold equivalent ounce compared with 
$243 per gold equivalent ounce in the same quarter in 2007.

On a yearly basis, Minera Florida produced 64,615 gold equivalent ounces in 2008 at average cash costs of $398 per gold
equivalent ounce.
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In addition, the mine produced 932 tonnes of zinc and 3,457 tonnes of zinc in the quarter and the year ended December 31, 2008,
respectively. In 2007, production of zinc was 601 tonnes. Zinc is accounted for as a by-product.

Commissioning for the expansion at Minera Florida began during the fourth quarter, resulting in a throughput increase to 
2,000 tonnes per day. The Company expects to produce approximately 105,000 to 110,000 gold equivalent ounces at Minera
Florida in 2009. Minera Florida has the potential to increase annual production with a target of up to 120,000 gold equivalent
ounces beginning in 2010 with a change in the mining method to accommodate the recently completed expansion and more
effectively mine in narrow veins. The Company will assess the increase in mill throughput rate after two years of mining at 
the current rate.

OTHER MINES

The following table presents key operating data for the other mining operations:

Three months
ended Years ended

December 31, December 31, December 31, December 31,
Operating Statistics 2008 2008 2007 2006

SAN ANDRÉS
Production
Gold production (ounces) 15,136 47,760 51,538 56,792 
Cash costs per ounce produced (i) $ 429 $ 584 $ 410 $ 342
Ore mined (tonnes) 723,064 2,827,494 2,608,051 3,159,294 
Gold Grade (g/t) 0.89 0.71 0.58 0.66 
Gold recovery rate (%) 74.6 76.3 105.7 85.6 

Sales
Gold sales (ounces) 13,990 45,141 53,692 54,484 

Depreciation, amortization and depletion per gold ounce sold $ 53 $ 57 $ 49 $ 105

FAZENDA BRASILIERO
Production
Gold production (ounces) 24,143 96,092 87,969 76,413 
Cash costs per ounce produced (i) $ 360 $ 423 $ 388 $ 350
Ore mined (tonnes) 270,090 1,107,710 1,198,709 977,478 
Ore processed (tonnes) 270,350 1,121,025 1,041,778 n/a
Gold Grade (g/t) 2.96 2.85 2.81 2.63 
Gold recovery rate (%) 93.8 93.4 94.3 92.0 

Sales
Gold sales (ounces) 21,683 95,461 86,959 75,321 

Depreciation, amortization and depletion per gold ounce sold $ 112 $ 104 $ 95 $ 104

SÃO FRANCISCO
Production
Commercial Gold production (ounces) 21,569 75,936 104,764 57,878 
Pre-commercial Gold production (ounces) – – – 22,250 
Total Gold production (ounces) 21,569 75,936 104,764 80,128 
Cash costs per ounce produced (i) $ 544 $ 629 $ 373 $ 295
Ore mined (tonnes) 1,590,583 7,419,243 7,566,871 2,372,101 
Gold Ore Grade (g/t) 0.65 0.60 0.54 0.67 
Gold recovery rate (%) 66.8 58.6 79.2 51.7 

Sales
Gold sales (ounces) 20,028 78,401 104,672 55,551 
Pre-commercial gold sales (ounces) – – – 19,739 
Total gold sales (ounces) 20,028 78,401 104,672 75,290 

Depreciation, amortization and depletion per gold ounce sold $ 168 $ 158 $ 98 $ 50
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Three months
ended Years ended

December 31, December 31, December 31, December 31,
Operating Statistics 2008 2008 2007 2006

ALUMBRERA (ii)
Production
Concentrate (tonnes) 18,024 68,281 20,254 –
Gold production (ounces) 2,963 7,560 3,379 –
Gold production in concentrate (ounces) 17,951 55,490 17,017 –
Total gold produced 20,914 63,050 20,396 –
Copper contained in concentrate (millions of pounds) 15.6 43.2 11.4 –
Cash costs per ounce produced (i) $ 544 $ (304) $ (816) –
Co-product cash costs per ounce of gold produced (i) $ 323 $ 431 $ 285 –
Co-product cash costs per pound of copper produced $ 1.10 $ 1.69 $ 1.42 –
Ore mined (tonnes) 1,131,501 3,521,353 734,984 –
Gold ore grade (g/t) 0.66 0.55 0.77 –
Copper ore grade (%) 0.64 0.50 0.58 –
Gold recovery rate (%) 78.6 75.1 80.1 –
Copper recovery rate (%) 89.3 82.2 85.7 –

Sales
Gold sales (ounces) 17,864 53,874 20,085 –
Gold doré sales (ounces) 2,779 7,445 4,469 –
Total gold sales (ounces) 20,643 61,319 24,554 –
Silver sales (ounces) 53,807 140,967 n/a –
Copper sales (pounds) 15,879,833 41,700,414 12,955,083 –

(i) A cautionary note regarding non-GAAP measures is included in Section 6 of this Management’s Discussion and Analysis.
(ii) Comparative information reported in the above table excludes pre-acquisition data as Northern Orion Resources Inc. was acquired 

during the fourth quarter of 2007.

A total of 21,569 ounces of gold were produced from the São Francisco Mine during the fourth quarter compared with 
21,244 ounces of gold during the comparative quarter ended December 31, 2007. On a full year basis, production was 
75,936 ounces of gold in 2008 versus 104,764 ounces of gold in 2007. Lower production for the year was mainly due to 
significant variance between actual and planned head grade (mine call factor) which varies periodically due to the coarse 
gold contained in the ore. Given the coarse gold nature of the ore at São Francisco and the variability to low grade material 
and fixed mining costs, the cost structure at São Francisco is highly sensitive to movements in the currency and prices for
consumables. The Company has implemented a new mine optimization plan to focus on sustainable production at lower costs.
An impairment charge of $58.5 million was recorded for the São Francisco Mine during the year and the life of the mine has
been shortened as a consequence of a revised estimate of the proven and probable reserves which decreased by 488,000
contained ounces of gold as at December 31, 2008. 

Gold production from all other mines was 81,762 gold equivalent ounces during the fourth quarter compared with 75,668 gold
equivalent ounces during the same quarter in 2007. Production improved despite the absence of attributable production from 
the Rossi Mine, which was divested in October 2008. On an annual basis, production from all other mines was 287,060 gold
equivalent ounces in 2008, compared with 274,975 gold equivalent ounces in 2007. The comparative information for 2007
excludes the pre-acquisition data from the Rossi and Alumbrera interests, which were acquired by the Company from 
Meridian Gold Inc. and Northern Orion Resources Inc., respectively, in October 2007.

Production at San Andrés was 15,136 ounces of gold during the fourth quarter, compared with 8,139 ounces of gold in the
quarter ended December 31, 2007. On an annual basis, production at San Andrés was 47,760 ounces of gold in 2008 compared 
to 51,538 ounces of gold in 2007. A number of productivity and cost reduction initiatives, including construction of new leach
pads, continue at San Andrés.

The Fazenda Brasiliero Mine produced 24,143 ounces of gold in the quarter and 96,092 ounces of gold in the year ended
December 31, 2008. This compares to 22,506 ounces of gold and 87,969 ounces of gold during the respective periods in 2007.
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Operations began at São Vicente with the first gold pour early January 2009. The mine is on track for commercial production 
in the second quarter of 2009. Total production from São Vicente is expected to be between 55,000 to 60,000 ounces of gold 
in 2009. Total construction expenditures for 2008 were $56.8 million of which $9.8 million was spent during the fourth quarter.
Total construction expenditures to date since the commencement of the project were $76.7 million. The São Vicente mine is 
an open pit mine, located 50 kilometres north of the Company’s São Francisco mine. Gold mineralization at São Vicente occurs
for more than 1,000 metres in two parallel northwest trending zones. There is potential for further upside through continued 
mine exploration. Initial mine life of São Vicente is expected to be five to six years.

Due to contractor issues the operator of the Rossi Mine (in which the Company held a 40% interest) suspended its operations 
in mid-May this year. In October, the Company sold its interest in the Rossi Mine for total gross cash proceeds of $29.2 million.

The Company’s interest in the Alumbrera Mine is reported as an equity investment. The Company recorded a loss from 
its 12.5% interest in Alumbrera Mine of $6.0 million and earnings of $25.8 million for the three and twelve months ended
December 31, 2008, respectively. The Company received $nil and $34.0 million in cash distribution during the three months 
and twelve months ended December 31, 2008.

The Fazenda Nova Mine in Brazil ceased mining operations in May 2007 and is currently under reclamation. Total expenditure 
of reclamation was $1.8 million in 2008.

6. NON-GAAP MEASURES

The Company has included certain non-GAAP measures including “cash cost per gold equivalent ounce” and “cash flow from
operations before changes in non-cash working capital” or “cash flow from operating activities before changes in non-cash
working capital” to supplement its financial statements, which are presented in accordance with Canadian GAAP. Non-GAAP
measures do not have any standardized meaning prescribed under Canadian GAAP, and therefore they may not be comparable
to similar measures employed by other companies. The data is intended to provide additional information and should not be
considered in isolation or as a substitute for measures of performance prepared in accordance with Canadian GAAP.

By-product and Co-product Cash Costs Per Ounce

The Company has included cash cost per ounce information because it understands that certain investors use this information
to determine the Company’s ability to generate earnings and cash flow for use in investing and other activities. The Company
believes that conventional measures of performance prepared in accordance with Canadian GAAP do not fully illustrate the
ability of its operating mines to generate cash flow. The measures are not necessarily indicative of operating profit or cash 
flow from operations as determined under Canadian GAAP. Cash costs are calculated on a by-product and co-product basis.
Cash costs are determined in accordance with the Gold Institute’s Production Cost Standard. By-product cash costs are
computed by deducting by-product copper and zinc revenues from operating cash costs. Cash costs on a co-product basis 
are computed by allocating operating cash costs separately to metals based on an estimated or assumed ratio. The following
table provides a reconciliation of cost of sales per the financial statements and cash cost per ounce: 

United States Dollar per 
In thousands of United States Dollars gold equivalent ounce

2008 2007 2006 2008 2007 2006 

Cost of sales (i) $ 496,766 $ 287,640 $ 100,004 $ 505 $ 482 $ 353

Adjustments:
Copper by-product credits (322,690) (357,650) – (328) (599) –
Non-controlling interest – (4,650) – – (8) –
Impact of equity interest in Alumbrera (12.5%) (19,566) (20,043) – (20) (34) –
Non-cash adjustments and other (20,619) (13,997) (7,596) (21) (24) (26)

Total cash costs (ii) $ 133,891 $ (108,700) $ 92,408 $ 136 $ (183) $ 327

(i) Cost of sales includes non-cash items including the impact of the movement in inventory.
(ii) Amortization and inventory purchase accounting adjustments are excluded from both total cash costs and cost of sales.
(iii) The reconciliation of cost of sales to co-product cash costs includes treatment and refining charges, overseas freight and non-cash

adjustments on the movement of inventory of $9.6 million and $16.3 million for the fourth quarter and full year 2008, respectively.
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Cash Flow From Operations Before Changes in Non-Cash Working Capital

The Company uses the financial measure “cash flow from operations before changes in non-cash working capital” or 
“cash flow from operating activities before changes in non-cash working capital” to supplement its consolidated financial
statements. The presentation of cash flow from operations before changes in non-cash working capital is not meant to be a
substitute for cash flow from operations or cash flow from operating activities presented in accordance with Canadian GAAP,
but rather should be evaluated in conjunction with such Canadian GAAP measures. Cash flow from operations before changes
in non-cash working capital excludes the non-cash movement from period to period in working capital items including accounts
receivable, advances and deposits, inventory, accounts payable and accrued liabilities. The terms “cash flow from operations
before changes in non-cash working capital” or “cash flow from operating activities before changes in non-cash working
capital” do not have a standardized meaning prescribed by Canadian GAAP, and therefore the Company’s definitions are 
unlikely to be comparable to similar measures presented by other companies. The Company’s management believes that the
presentation of cash flow from operations before changes in non-cash working capital provides useful information to investors
because it excludes the non-cash movement in working capital items and is a better indication of the Company’s cash flow 
from operations and considered to be meaningful in evaluating the Company’s past financial performance or the future
prospects. The Company believes that conventional measure of performance prepared in accordance with Canadian GAAP
does not fully illustrate the ability of its operating mines to generate cash flow.

7. BUSINESS ACQUISITIONS

ACQUISITION OF MERIDIAN GOLD INC.

In 2007, the Company acquired all of the outstanding common shares of Meridian Gold Inc. (“Meridian”), which held two
operating mines in Chile: El Peñón and Minera Florida; a 40% interest in the Rossi property in Nevada and other exploration 
and development projects in Mexico, Argentina and the United States. The Company offered to exchange 2.235 common shares
of the Company and $6.99 cash for each common share of Meridian. The purchase price equated to a total consideration of
$34.60 (Cdn$34.64) per share or $3.6 billion. The acquisition was accounted for as a multi-stage acquisition with minority interest
expense net of tax of $2 million included in the earnings of Meridian from October 12, 2007 until the 100% interest was achieved
at December 31, 2007.

In the fourth quarter of 2008, the Company divested its 40% interest in the Rossi Mine for cash proceeds of $29.2 million and 
a gain of $2.3 million. The gain on the sale of this interest is not considered material to the Company.

ACQUISITION OF NORTHERN ORION RESOURCES INC.

On July 19, 2007, the Company and Northern Orion Resources Inc. (“Northern Orion”) entered into a definitive business
combination agreement whereby the Company would acquire all of the issued and outstanding securities of Northern Orion on
the basis of 0.543 of a Yamana common share for each Northern Orion share. Having fulfilled the customary conditions including
approval by the shareholders, Northern Orion was amalgamated as a 100% subsidiary of the Company on October 13, 2007. 
As a result of the acquisition of Northern Orion, the Company has acquired interests in the Alumbrera Mine (12.5%) and the
Agua Rica project (100%) in Argentina. The results of operations of Northern Orion were included in the consolidated financial
statements of the Company from October 13, 2007. 

ACQUISITION OF VICEROY EXPLORATION LTD.

In 2006, the Company acquired all of the outstanding common shares of Viceroy Exploration Ltd. (“Viceroy”), an exploration-
stage company. The Company issued Viceroy shareholders 0.97 of a Yamana common share for each Viceroy common share.
The Company exchanged all outstanding shares, options and share purchase warrants of Viceroy for similar securities of the
Company at an exchange ratio of 0.97 of a Yamana common share for 1 Viceroy common share. Total consideration paid was
approximately $550 million comprised of approximately 52.5 million common shares, transaction costs and issued options and
share purchase warrants acquired from Viceroy. The Company has consolidated the results of operations from October 13, 2006.
On January 2, 2007, an additional 4 million shares were issued on the completion of the compulsory acquisition.
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ACQUISITION OF DESERT SUN MINING CORP.

On April 5, 2006, the Company completed the acquisition of Desert Sun Mining Corp. (“DSM”) which owned the Jacobina 
gold mine in the Bahia state of Brazil near the Company’s Fazenda Brasileiro mine. Total consideration was approximately 
$632 million comprised of approximately 63.9 million common shares, transaction costs and issued options and share purchase
warrants. The Company exchanged all outstanding shares, options and share purchase warrants of DSM for similar securities 
of the Company at an exchange ratio of 0.6 of a Yamana common share for 1 DSM common share.

ACQUISITION OF RNC GOLD INC.

On February 28, 2006, the Company completed the acquisition of RNC Gold Inc. and 100% of the San Andrés Gold Mine in
Honduras. The purchase price of this transaction totaled $53.0 million, comprised of approximately 5.8 million Yamana common
shares, $22.3 million in cash and other transaction costs.

This transaction resulted in the Company acquiring the San Andrés Gold Mine and the La Libertad Mine along with a 60%
interest in the Cerro Quema development stage property. On July 6, 2006, the Company sold the La Libertad Mine and its interest
in the Cerro Quema development stage property for total consideration of 32 million shares in Central Sun Mining Corp.

8. LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES

Cash and cash equivalents as at December 31, 2008 were $170.1 million compared to $284.9 million as at December 31, 2007.
Factors that could impact on the Company’s liquidity are monitored regularly and include the market price of gold and copper,
production levels, operating cash costs, capital costs and exploration expenditures.

Cash on hand at the end of the year decreased by 40% from that of the prior year mainly due to repayment of term debt and
higher outflows of cash in expenditures related to mine construction and expansion, partly offset by higher proceeds from the
exercise of options and warrants in 2008, the monetization of the copper derivatives, the sale of Rossi and an equity issue in
December.

Working capital was $161.3 million as at December 31, 2008, at about the same level as at December 31, 2007.

Gold sales are made at spot prices and receivables are settled in approximately 3 to 5 days. 

OPERATING CASH FLOW

Cash flow generated from operations before changes in non-cash working capital items for the year was $425.6 million
compared to $280.1 million and $40.2 million for the years ended December 31, 2007 and 2006, respectively. The increase is
mainly attributed to significant increases in revenues. Changes in non-cash working capital items for the year were a cash
outflow of $96.9 million (2007 - inflow of $1.0 million; 2006 - outflow of $43.4 million).

In the fourth quarter of 2008, cash flow to operating activities before changes in non-cash working capital was $45.9 million 
and cash flow from operating activities after changes in non-cash working capital item was $103.4 million, compared with 
$28.0 million and $145.8 million, respectively, in the same quarter of 2007. Cash flows from operating activities were lower due 
to lower sales revenues for copper and a higher negative pricing adjustment related to prior period revenues as a result of
significantly lower copper prices. Excluding the pricing adjustment for prior period revenues of $74.1 million, cash flow from
operating activities after changes in non-cash working capital item would have been $184.1 million for the fourth quarter of 2008.

Cash inflow from operations after taking into effect changes in working capital items for the year was $328.7 million, compared
to an inflow of $281.1 million and outflow of $3.2 million for the year ended 2007 and 2006, respectively.

FINANCING ACTIVITIES

Cash inflows from financing activities for the year ended December 31, 2008 were $131.6 million compared to $614.3 million in
2007 and included the following:

• proceeds, net of transaction costs of a public offering for $101.9 million;
• $170.4 million from the exercise of options and warrants;
• dividends paid of $69.9 million; and
• debt repayment of $95.6 million.
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The Company further increased its revolving credit facility to $500 million. The following summarizes the terms in respect to
these facilities as at December 31, 2008:

• The facilities bear interest at a rate of LIBOR plus 1.5% to 3% per annum (December 31, 2007 - LIBOR plus 0.95% to 
1.5% per annum), depending on the Company’s debt to EBITDA ratio. The effective interest rate at December 31, 2008 was
5.83% and 4.46% on the non-revolving credit facility and revolving credit facility respectively (December 31, 2007 - 6.01% 
and 5.74% respectively).

• Undrawn amounts are subject to a commitment fee of 0.55% to 1.1% per annum (December 31, 2007 - 0.2% to 0.4% 
per annum) depending on the Company’s debt to EBITDA ratio. 

• The non-revolving facility and $250.0 million of the revolving facility matures in 2012. The remaining $250.0 million under 
the revolving facility matures 2010. Amounts drawn down as at December 31, 2008 mature in 2012. 

• The facilities are secured by guarantees from, and pledge of shares of, certain operating subsidiaries, and will mature up 
to 2012.

As at December 31, 2008, the Company has met all of the externally imposed capital requirements relating to the credit facilities.

INVESTING ACTIVITIES

Cash outflow to investing activities were $559.7 million (2007 - $689.8 million) for the year of which approximately $122.3 million
includes expenditures on property, plant and equipment, $240.5 million to mineral properties and construction of $224.2 million.
These outflows represent an increase of over 200% in expenditures relating to mineral interests in comparison to prior year’s
expenditures of $273.2 million outlining management’s intent to properly develop and expand existing assets and create new
mines.

The following is a summary of capital expenditures by mine for the fourth quarter and for the years ended December 31, 2008
and 2007: 

Three months
ended Years ended

December 31, December 31, December 31, December 31,
(in thousands of dollars) 2008 2008 2007 2006

Gualcamayo $ 61,763 $ 187,190 $ 65,278 $ 3,570
Jacobina 22,244 87,779 72,027 20,602 
El Peñón 22,276 74,898 15,280 –
São Vicente 12,582 59,615 17,504 2,846 
Minera Florida 19,856 50,778 7,200 –
Chapada 15,737 34,492 38,864 142,809 
Mercedes 3,122 19,202 2,718 –
San Andrés 4,149 17,514 7,500 4,034 
São Francisco 2,105 12,437 17,551 27,959 
Jacaranda 2,802 11,640 1,397 –
Pilar 1,624 11,125 4,605 1,162 
Agua Rica 1,616 7,821 3,372 –
Other 305 12,429 19,856 16,319 

$ 170,181 $ 586,920 $ 273,152 $ 219,301

(i) Includes construction, fixed assets, exploration, feasibility and capitalized interest costs.
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9. CAPITALIZATION

Shareholders’ equity as at December 31, 2008 was $6.5 billion compared to $5.9 billion as at December 31, 2007. 

The following table sets out the common shares, warrants and options outstanding as at December 31, 2008:

Actual 
outstanding 

as at Weighted
December 31, average Weighted

(in thousands) 2008 year-to-date (i) average Q4 (i)

Common shares 732,845 691,536 706,869
Warrants 14,530 8,652 3,344
Options 5,065 1,497 293

Total 752,440 701,685 710,506

(i) The weighted average number of shares excludes anti-dilutive options and warrants.

Of the total number of warrants outstanding, approximately 9.2 million warrants are publicly traded with an average weighted
exercise price of Cdn$11.05.

SHARE CAPITAL

As at December 31, 2008, the Company had 732.8 million (December 31, 2007 - 668.4 million; December 31, 2006 - 344.6 million)
common shares outstanding. The basic weighted average number of common shares outstanding was 691.5 million shares for
the year and 706.9 million shares for the quarter ended December 31, 2008.

The Company issued a total of 64.4 million common shares during the year, 22.5 million in connection with a public offering, and
an additional 41.9 million common shares in respect to the exercise of stock options, share appreciation rights and warrants.

As of March 3, 2009, the total number of shares outstanding are 732.9 million.

WARRANTS

As at December 31, 2008, the Company had a total of 14.5 million (December 2007 - 46.9 million; December 31, 2006 - 16.9 million)
share purchase warrants outstanding. Expiry dates on share purchase warrants range from February 2010 to May 2011, and
exercise prices range from Cdn$10.42 to Cdn$19.08. All outstanding warrants were exercisable at an average weighted exercise 
price of Cdn$13.73 per share (December 2007 - Cdn$6.91 per share; December 31, 2006 - Cdn$8.66 per share). The weighted
average remaining life of warrants outstanding was 1.5 years (December 31, 2007 - 1.2 years; December 31, 2006 - 2.6 years).

During 2008, the Company did not issue any additional warrants. 

The remaining warrants held from the acquisition of Northern Orion have the following terms:
(i) The YRI.wt.c warrants have an exercise price of Cdn$6.00. On exercise the holder would receive 0.543 of a Yamana share.

These warrants expire on February 17, 2010. These relate to previously existing B warrants of Northern Orion.
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STOCK-BASED INCENTIVE PLANS

A significant contributing factor to the Company’s future success is its ability to attract and maintain qualified and competent
people. To accomplish this, the Company has adopted Stock-Based Incentive Plans designed to advance the interests of the
Company by encouraging employees, officers and directors, and consultants to have equity participation in the Company
through the acquisition of common shares. The Company did not grant any stock options under its stock option plan (“Share
Incentive Plan”) during the current fiscal year. A total of 9.0 million stock options were granted during the comparative period
ended December 31, 2007, 18.3 million stock options were granted during the period ended December 31, 2006. 

A total of 11.7 million and 7.8 million stock options were exercised during 2008 and 2007 respectively (2006 - 9.9 million) under 
the Share Incentive Plan. A total of 5.1 million (December 31, 2007 - 17.2 million; December 31, 2006 - 16.1 million) stock options
were outstanding as at December 31, 2008 all of which were exercisable (December 31, 2007 17.2 million; December 31, 2006 -
15.9 million). Stock options outstanding as at December 31, 2008 had a weighted average exercise price of Cdn$9.21 per share
(December 31, 2007 - Cdn$8.08; December 31, 2006 - Cdn$7.27 per share) and a weighted average life of 2.81 years (December
31, 2007 - 2.96 years; December 31, 2006 - 4.55 years).

The Company established two new stock-based compensation plans in 2008, the Deferred Share Unit (“DSU”) and the 
Restricted Share Unit (“RSU”) plans (refer to Note 19 of the consolidated financial statements for additional details). 

The Company granted 272,692 DSUs at a weighted average price of Cdn$11.88 for a total non-cash expense of $3.0 million 
during 2008. A mark-to-market recovery of $0.5 million is included in general and administrative expenses with respect to 
these DSUs for a net expense of $2.5 million for 2008.

During 2008, the Company granted a total of 1,128,125 RSUs at a weighted average price of Cdn$13.47. A total of $2.0 million 
was credited to contributed surplus and $nil share capital in respect of these RSUs as these awards have not yet fully vested. 
The expense of $2.0 million is included in general and administrative expenses.

10. GENERAL AND ADMINISTRATIVE EXPENSES

General and administrative expenses were $70.7 million for the year ended December 31, 2008 compared with $69.3 million 
in 2007 (2006 - $65.4 million).

General and administrative expenses for the fourth quarter were $12.9 million and includes a credit of $8.2 million on the
reversal of the Silicosis liability at the Jacobina mine.

General and administrative and other expenses were higher for 2008 as it includes stock-based compensation and expenses
resulted from the full-year effect of the Company’s post-acquisition growing operations. Most of the general and administrative
expenses are incurred in currencies other than the United States Dollar, therefore it would cause a foreign exchange impact 
on the Company’s earnings.

The Company has a defined benefit pension plan covering certain North American employees. The pension plan is frozen as 
of December 15, 2008 and is currently in the process of being formally closed with the assets being liquidated. Included in
general and administrative expenses on the Company’s consolidated statement of operations is $0.3 million of pension expense
(2007 - $0.1 million).

The Company expects ongoing general and administrative expenses to be in the range of $65 - $70 million per annum.
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11. FOREIGN EXCHANGE

The Company’s revenues are denominated in United States Dollars (USD). However, the Company’s operating expenses are
incurred predominantly in Brazilian Reais (BRL), Chilean Pesos (CLP), Argentine Pesos (ARG) and to a lesser extent in Canadian
Dollars (CAD), United States Dollars, Mexican Pesos and Honduras Lempiras. Accordingly, fluctuations in the exchange rates
can significantly impact the results of operations.

In 2008, the Company recognized foreign exchange gains of $131.5 million. This compares to a foreign exchange loss of 
$40.4 million for 2007 (2006 - gain of $0.3 million). The gains arose mainly from foreign exchange effect on future income tax
liabilities recognized on business acquisitions. A strong United States Dollar versus the currencies of the countries in which 
the Company operates contributed to the gains.

The Company entered into certain hedge contracts where the value of the Real has been fixed against the United States Dollar.
These hedges are further described in Section 15, Derivatives.

The following table summarizes the movement in key currencies vis-à-vis the United States Dollar:

Three months ended As at

December 31, December 31, December 31,
2008 2007 Variance 2008 Variance

Average Exchange Rate
USD-CAD 1.2101 0.9804 23.4% 1.2228 –1.0%
USD-BRL 2.2908 1.9516 17.4% 2.3560 –2.8%
USD-ARG 3.3363 3.1218 6.9% 3.4571 –3.5%
USD-CLP 644.4283 522.3674 23.4% 647.9950 –0.6%

Twelve months ended

December 31, December 31, December 31,
2008 2007 Variance 2006 Variance

Average Exchange Rate
USD-CAD 1.0667 1.0744 –0.7% 1.1346 –6.0%
USD-BRL 1.8402 1.9516 –5.7% 2.1800 –15.6%
USD-ARG 3.1709 3.1218 1.6% 3.0914 2.6%
USD-CLP 523.9220 522.3674 0.3% 539.3932 –2.9%

Period-end Exchange Rate
USD-CAD 1.2228 0.9820 24.5% 1.1664 4.8%
USD-BRL 2.3560 1.7741 32.8% 2.1385 10.2%
USD-ARG 3.4571 3.1500 9.7% 3.0702 12.6%
USD-CLP 647.9950 497.7000 30.2% 532.5500 21.7%

12. INVESTMENTS AND INVESTMENT INCOME 

INVESTMENT AND INTEREST INCOME AND EXPENSES

Investment losses net of interest income were $29.1 million for the year compared to investment and interest income of 
$11.5 million for 2007 (2006 - income $3.1 million). The Company recognized investment write-offs on its available-for-sale and
auction rate securities, which are classified as a long-term investment, for a total amount of $39.6 million during the year, 
which more than offset its interest income.

Interest and financing expenses were $44.7 million for the year compared to $22.0 million for 2007 (2006 - $ 28.8 million). 
Higher interest and financing expenses were mainly due to interest expense on increased borrowing and other financial fees. 

LONG-TERM INVESTMENTS

Third-party sponsored Asset-Backed Commercial Paper (“ABCP”)

The Company holds Cdn$15 million face value in Symphony Trust Series A notes, which is supported by synthetic assets, or 
a combination of synthetic and traditional securitized assets (the “ABCP investment”). The ABCP investment was acquired
through the Company’s acquisition of Northern Orion in October 2007 and was recorded at its estimated fair value as of the
acquisition date. The ABCP investment matured on August 24, 2007, however, due to the liquidity issues in the ABCP market,
there was no settlement on the maturity date. Through the Pan-Canadian Investors Committee for Third-Party Structured 
Asset-Backed Commercial Paper, a process is underway to exchange the defaulted short-term notes for longer terms notes
along with the creation of a liquid trading market. However, the ultimate trading values and recoveries of the ABCP investment
are uncertain as at December 31, 2008. 
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The Company has estimated the fair value of the ABCP investment considering the best available public information regarding
market conditions and other factors that a market participant would consider for such investments.

The Company performed a discounted cash flow valuation on the ABCP based on the forecasted ultimate recovery of the 
ABCP investment to determine carrying value. The Company’s valuation of the ABCP investment assumed that the repayment,
discounted at a risk-free rate plus a 10% credit spread, would occur in 8 years and interest would be accrued over this period.
As a result of this valuation, in determining the fair value for the purchase price allocation at the date of acquisition, the
Company recorded a write-down of approximately 50% of the principal amount of the ABCP investment. Subsequent valuations
since December 31, 2007, have not resulted in any additional write-down of the ABCP investment in the current year.

The Company has classified the ABCP investment as a long-term investment since the end of 2007.

Through a series of actions during 2007 and 2008, an agreement (“the Montreal Accord”) was reached regarding the
comprehensive restructuring of the ABCP covered by the Montreal Accord. The Company’s Symphony Trust notes were part 
of this restructuring. This restructuring was completed in January 2009 resulting in the creation of several new special purpose
investments that were distributed to affected ABCP holders in lieu of the ABCP that was held. Based on the underlying assets 
of the Symphony Trust, the Company received new Master Asset Vehicle II notes (“MAV II Notes”) as a replacement for the old
Symphony Trust notes. As part of the restructuring, $0.4 million in interest was paid on the Company’s notes in January 2009.

For the Symphony Trust Series A Notes, the Company received new MAV II Notes, which consist of Class A-1 and A-2 Notes 
for a total value of Cdn$13.4 million, and Class B and Class C Notes for a total of Cdn$1.5 million. On January 21, 2009, Dominion
Bond Rating Service (“DBRS”) finalized the ratings of “A” to both the Class A-1 and Class A-2 Notes. The Class B and Class C
Notes have not yet been rated by DBRS. The MAV II trust indenture provides that payment of all or a portion of the interest
owing to holders of the Class A-1 Notes may be deferred, but in any event no later than January 22, 2019, at which time all
interest then accrued and unpaid on the Class A-1 Notes shall be paid. The valuation of the MAV II Notes has assumed that
interest is accrued and paid on the expected repayment date of January 22, 2017, as outlined in the MAV II trust indenture. 

The restructuring of the notes, which also included the establishment of new bank and government liquidity lines and credit
ratings for the new master asset vehicles, is a positive development for the Company’s investments (now MAV II Notes). 
With the restructuring, there is a greater likelihood that a secondary trading market will develop for these securities. 

Auction-Rate Securities (“ARS”)

The Company holds $30.1 million face value in ARS with various legal maturity dates to 2052 (the “ARS investments”). These 
ARS investments can be classified as part of the “Derivative Product Companies” and “Regulation XXX” investment industries.
The ARS investments were acquired through the Company’s acquisition of Meridian Gold in October 2007 and recorded at
estimated fair value on the acquisition date resulting in an impairment of par value as of that date of 50% of the carrying value.

Although there are prospects for the restructuring of the underlying securities or the creation of secondary trading markets 
for the securities, the ultimate trading values and recoveries of the ARS investments are highly uncertain. Due to the absence 
of a tradable and properly functioning market for auction rate securities, the Company has not been able to liquidate its ARS
investments and thus realize any value on its ARS investments. Although the Company continues to receive interest payments,
the ARS investments are not currently trading and therefore do not have a readily transparent market value. 

The Company performed a discounted cash flow valuation on the ARS based on the forecasted ultimate recovery of the 
ARS investment to determine carrying value. Unlike the Canadian ABCP restructuring, there has been no similar development 
for the ARS market in the United States. Furthermore, the ARS market has deteriorated further. Specific to the Company’s ARS,
there have been several credit downgrades for the securities and one issue had an event of default.

The Company’s valuation of the ARS investments assumed that repayment, discounted at a risk-free rate plus a 20% credit
spread, would occur in 20 years. The Company also assumed that the ARS investments continue to stay current on their interest
payments. As a result of this valuation, the Company recorded an impairment of approximately 90% of the principal amount for 
a total write-down of $27.1 million, $12 million of which was recorded in December 2008 in investment and other business loss.

The Company continues to monitor developments in the market for ARS instruments.

Corporate and Agency Bonds

In the first quarter of 2008, the Company wrote-down the corporate and agency bonds to their market value of $4.0 million. 
These were subsequently sold in the second quarter of 2008 for cash proceeds of $4.4 million.
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13. INCOME TAXES

The Company recorded an income tax expense of $19.7 million for the year. This compares to a tax expense of $63.9 million 
for 2007 and a tax recovery of $25.0 million for 2006. The current year income tax provision mainly reflects a current income 
tax expense of $65.6 million for 2008 and a future income tax recovery of $45.9 million. This compares to a current income tax
expense of $79.4 million for 2007 and $6.0 million for 2006 and a future tax recovery of $15.5 million for 2007 and a $31.1 million
recovery for 2006. The expense reflects the current taxes incurred in our Brazilian, Chilean and Honduran mines. The expense 
is reduced by the recognition of tax losses available to be used against future income taxes payable in Brazil and the reversal 
of the future tax liability on inter-company loans.

The tax rate is summarized as follows:

Current Tax Future Tax Total Tax
Expense Expense Expense

(For the year ended December 31, 2008) Income (Recovery) (Recovery) (Recovery) Income

Income from operations $ 362,773 $ 86,549 $ (20,747) $ 65,802 18.1%
Other income (loss) $ 65,919 $ (20,938) $ (25,181) $ (46,119) –70.0%

$ 428,692 $ 65,611 $ (45,928) $ 19,683 4.6%

Current Tax Future Tax Total Tax
Expense Expense Expense

(For the year ended December 31, 2007) Income (Recovery) (Recovery) (Recovery) Income

Income from operations $ 384,580 $ 119,077 $ (2,887) $ 116,190 30.2%
Other income (loss) $ (165,266) $ (39,727) $ (12,591) $ (52,318) 31.7%

$ 219,314 $ 79,350 $ (15,478) $ 63,872 29.1%

Current Tax Future Tax Total Tax
Expense Expense Expense

(For the year ended December 31, 2006) Income (Recovery) (Recovery) (Recovery) Income

Income from operations $ 35,056 $ 16,524 $ 691 $ 17,215 49.1%
Other income (loss) $ (130,258) $ (10,486) $ (31,768) $ (42,254) 32.4%

$ (95,202) $ 6,038 $ (31,077) $ (25,039) 26.3%

The consolidated balance sheet reflects recoverable tax installments in the amount of $14.4 million and an income tax liability 
of $6.8 million. Additionally, the balance sheet reflects a future income tax asset of $148.5 million and a future income tax liability
of $1.7 billion.

The Company has approximately $139.1 million of tax losses available for carryforward in Brazil. Approximately 70% of these
losses have been recognized as a tax asset. The Company expects to use these losses against future income from operating
mines in Brazil. 

The majority of the future tax liability arise on the allocation of the purchase price of acquisitions to the underlying assets as 
the tax basis of these assets did not increase. Future tax liabilities relating to the operating mines will reverse as the assets 
are depreciated or depleted. The future tax liabilities relating to exploration potential will not reverse until the property becomes 
a mine, is written off, or is sold. The largest components of the future tax liabilities relate to:

(in thousands of dollars)

Gualcamayo $ 232,000
Agua Rica $ 362,000
El Peñón $ 304,000
Exploration Potential $ 606,000

The Company has exposure to foreign exchange fluctuations in Brazil. As the Real weakened by 33% throughout the year 
vis-à-vis the U.S. Dollar, from a rate of 1.7713 as at December 31, 2007 to a rate of 2.3560 as at December 31, 2008, it resulted 
in a future income tax recovery of approximately $38.5 million on the revaluation of U.S. Dollar denominated inter-corporate 
debt, although the debt is eliminated on consolidation. 
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The income tax expense reported from period to period will vary depending on the foreign currency exchange rate in effect 
in the period. However, the income tax on inter-company debt is payable only if and when the debt is repaid and therefore, 
if the debt is not repaid, the income tax payable will not have to be paid. Likewise, the actual amount of taxes payable will
depend on the foreign exchange rate in effect at the time that the inter-corporate debt is repaid.

The Company’s combined Canadian federal and provincial statutory tax rate was 33.5% (2007 - 36.1%; 2006 - 36.1%). 
There are a number of factors that affect the Company’s effective tax rate including the rate differential and proportion of
income earned in each jurisdiction, tax benefits that were not recognized, foreign currency gains and losses and changes 
in tax rates. As a result, the Company’s effective tax rate may fluctuate from period to period. A reconciliation of the Company’s
statutory rate to the effective tax rate is provided in Note 23 to the consolidated financial statements.

14. CLOSURE AND RECLAMATION COSTS

The Company accrues reclamation and closure costs at their fair value. Fair value is determined as the discounted future 
cash expenditures. Significant management judgments and estimates are made when estimating reclamation and closure 
costs. Reclamation and closure costs are estimated based on the Company’s interpretation of current regulatory requirements
and are amortized over the life of each mine on a unit-of-production basis.

Accretion charged to 2008 earnings was $4.2 million compared to $3.1 million in 2007 (2006 - $0.6 million).

Reclamation expenditures during the year were $7.5 million compared to $4.7 million in 2007 (2006 - $0.4 million).

15. DERIVATIVES 

The Company recorded realized losses on the settlement of derivatives of $10.0 million in 2008 compared with $17.1 million of
realized loss in 2007.

Additionally, the Company recorded unrealized gains on commodity derivative contracts of $174.0 million for the year ended
December 31, 2008. This compares to an unrealized loss of $29.1 million in 2007. These unrealized gains on the copper derivative
contracts are described below under “Commodity Hedging”.

COMMODITY HEDGING

The Company enters into commodity forward contracts to mitigate commodity price risk and enable business planning with
greater certainty. From time to time, the Company may enter into long call options to ensure its participation in commodity price
increases.

The Company has a copper hedging program that was designed to mitigate risks to earnings and cash flows from its Chapada
mine. Hedging copper also provides further leverage to gold prices and increases the impact of gold on the Company’s
unhedged revenues.

The copper derivatives provide an effective economic hedge against downward movements in the copper price allowing 
the Company to manage metal price risk and enable business planning with certainty. As Chapada produces a concentrate 
of copper and gold which is sold in concentrate form, under accounting rules, hedge accounting is not permitted. However, 
the Company has concluded that the above mentioned financial instruments provide an effective means for the Company to
manage metal price risk and enable business planning with greater certainty. In accordance with derivative accounting rules
changes, the fair value of the financial instruments are reflected in current earnings from period to period. This accounting
results in fluctuations in net earnings from period to period until such time as the contracts are closed. The unrealized 
mark-to-market gain (loss) represents the value on notional cancellation of these contracts based on market values as at
December 31, 2008 and does not represent an economic obligation for the Company nor does it represent an estimate of 
future gains or losses. During the fourth quarter, cash proceeds of $47.5 million were realized on reducing the commodity
derivative contracts by 86.3 million pounds.
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The following table summarizes the details of the copper hedging program outstanding as at December 31, 2008:

Weighted
Average
Forward Unrealized 

Weighted Price as at Gain  
Pounds Average December 31, on Copper

Year of Outstanding Contract 2008 Derivatives (a)
Settlement Contract Type (in millions) Price ($/lb) ($/lb) (in thousands)

2009 Forward sales 49.2 $ 2.9912 $ 1.3992 $ 78,006
2010 Forward sales 1.4 $ 3.0060 $ 1.4233 $ 1,958

50.6 $ 79,964

(a) Excluded unrealized gains of $12.7 million related to contracts expired before the end of 2008 for settlement in January 2009.

The Company recorded a net mark-to-market gain of $139.0 million and $175.4 million for the three month and twelve month
periods ended December 31, 2008 (2007: fourth quarter - gain of $48.4 million; twelve months - loss of $30.3 million), net of 
the mark-to-market gain on the call options. This is due to a significant decline in the price of copper that started in the third 
quarter and continued in the fourth quarter. The Company has a total of 50.6 million pounds under open forward contracts as 
at December 31, 2008. Subsequent to the end of 2008, the Company entered into additional forward sales contracts to hedge 
26.5 million pounds of copper at $1.54 per pound for the period between February and July of 2009. These contracts and the
existing forward sales positions held by the Company hedge 75.7 million pounds of copper at about $2.50 per pound for the 
year 2009.

During the year, the Company closed its forward sales commitment for silver and zinc resulting in cash proceeds of $4.3 million
to the Company.

CURRENCY HEDGING

As at December 31, 2008, the Company held forward contracts to hedge against the risk of an increase in the value of the 
Real versus the United States Dollar with respect to a portion of the expected Real expenditures. These contracts fix the rate 
of exchange for the sale of approximately 398.5 million Reais at an average exchange rate of 2.2545 Real to the United States
Dollar. The Company has effectively hedged approximately 70% of its Real based operating expenditures at its Brazilian mines.

The notional amounts of these forward contracts have been designated against forecast Real denominated expenditures as 
a hedge against the variability of the United States Dollar amount of those expenditures caused by changes in the currency
exchange rates for 2009 through to April 2011. A total of 207.1 million Reais are hedged for 2009 and approximately 191.4 million
for 2010 through April 2011.

The currency hedge has been accounted for as a cash flow hedge with the effective portion of $46.5 million for the twelve
month period ended December 31, 2008 credited to other comprehensive income and the ineffective portion of $13.6 million
expensed in 2008. 

The following table summarizes the details of the currency hedging program as at December 31, 2008:

(quantities in thousands) 
Jacobina São Francisco São Vicente

Brazilian Brazilian Brazilian
Real Real Real Weighted

Year of Notional Contract Notional Contract Notional Average
Settlement Amount Fixed Rate Amount Fixed Rate Amount Contract Rate

2009 65,700 2.3264 59,818 2.1359 25,576 2.3980 
2010 53,266 2.4395 60,000 1.9915 22,808 2.3980 
2011 – – 20,000 1.9650 – –

118,966 2.3757 139,818 2.0467 48,384 2.3980 

Fazenda Brasileiro Chapada Total

Brazilian Brazilian Brazilian Market 
Real Real Real Weighted rate as at 

Year of Notional Contract Notional Contract Notional Average December 31, 
Settlement Amount Fixed Rate Amount Fixed Rate Amount Contract Rate 2008

2009 41,040 2.3900 14,984 2.3980 207,118 2.2928 2.3560 
2010 34,200 2.3900 1,099 2.3980 171,373 2.2477 2.3560 
2011 – – – – 20,000 1.9650 2.3560 

75,240 2.3900 16,083 2.3980 398,491 2.2545 2.3560 
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INTEREST RATE HEDGING

The Company has interest rate swap agreements for a total amount of $550.0 million, with a notional amount of $465.8 million 
as at December 31, 2008, to convert a floating rate credit facility to a fixed rate over a 5 year period. These contracts fix the 
rate of interest on this portion of the Company’s long-term debt at a weighted average of 4.50% plus a margin of 1.5% to 3% 
per annum, depending on the Company’s debt to Earnings before Interest, Taxes, Depreciation and Amortization (“EBITDA”)
ratio. The current margin is 1.1%. Of the amount hedged the Company has settled $21.1 million of the notional amount in the
fourth quarter and $84.2 million of the notional amount in the twelve months ended December 31, 2008. 

The interest rate hedge has been accounted for as cash flow hedge with the effective portion of the hedge of $13.6 million 
loss for the year ended December 31, 2008 recorded to other comprehensive income. 

16. CONTRACTUAL COMMITMENTS

The Company is contractually committed to the following as at December 31, 2008: 

Year (in thousands of dollars) 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 Thereafter Total

Mine operating/construction 
and service contracts and other $ 187,929 $ 69,668 $ 55,510 $ 18,616 $ 581 $ 4,801 $ 337,105 

Long-term debt principal 
repayments (i) 84,211 84,211 84,211 313,156 – – 565,789 

$ 272,140 $ 153,879 $ 139,721 $ 331,772 $ 581 $ 4,801 $ 902,894 

(i) Excludes interest expense

17. CONTINGENCIES

Due to the size, complexity and nature of the Company’s operations, various legal and tax matters arise in the ordinary 
course of business. The Company accrues for such items when a liability is both probable and the amount can be reasonably
estimated. In the opinion of management, these matters will not have a material effect on the consolidated financial statements
of the Company. 

In 2004, a former director of Northern Orion commenced proceedings in Argentina against Northern Orion claiming 
damages in the amount of $177 million for alleged breaches of agreements entered into by the plaintiff. The plaintiff alleged 
that the agreements entitle him to a pre-emption right to participate in acquisitions by Northern Orion in Argentina and 
claimed damages in connection with the acquisition by Northern Orion of its 12.5% equity interest in the Alumbrera project. 
On August 22, 2008, the National Commercial Court No. 8 of the City of Buenos Aires issued a first-instance judgment rejecting
the claim. The plaintiff appealed this judgment and a decision of the appellate court is pending. While the Company considers
that the plaintiff’s allegations are unfounded and has been advised by its Argentine counsel that the appeal is unlikely to be
successful; the outcome is not certain. There is no assurance that the Company will be wholly successful in confirming the 
first-instance judgment at appellate courts.

The Company has a contingent liability which consists of amounts provided to settle claims by former employees of Jacobina
Mineração e Comércio Ltda (“JMC”), relating to silicosis. This balance represents management’s best estimate for all known
and anticipated future obligations related to health claims against JMC prior to acquisition by the Company in April 2006. 
The Company estimates this contingency to be about $6.1 million as at December 31, 2008. The decrease of $16.8 million in 
the year relates to the movement of claims that have been settled or released as well as the devaluation of the Brazilian Real
vis-à-vis the United States Dollar.

18. OFF-BALANCE SHEET ARRANGEMENTS

The Company does not have any material off-balance sheet arrangements. All items that meet the definition of off-balance 
sheet arrangements are disclosed in the notes to the financial statements.
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19. GOLD AND COPPER MARKETS

For the quarter and year ended December 31, 2008, spot gold prices averaged $795 and $872 per ounce, respectively. 
This represents an increase of 1.3% from the fourth quarter of the prior year and an increase of 25.1% from the 2007 
year-average.

The Company’s gold is sold at spot prices in world markets. The Company’s revenue and profitability are highly dependant 
on spot gold prices. Gold prices continue to be supported by positive market fundamentals. Decreasing mine supply, steady
investment and physical demand and lower central bank selling and lending are all driving prices. As well, gold’s appeal as 
a hedge against inflation and the United States Dollar has continued to underpin higher gold prices in the near-term. Due to
these factors, the Company expects gold prices to remain well supported in the near to mid-term in the midst of a high degree 
of market volatility. 

For the quarter and year ended December 31, 2008, spot copper prices averaged $1.79 and $3.16 per pound, respectively. 
This represents a decrease of 46% compared with the same quarter of 2007 and a decrease of 3% compared with the 2007 
year-average. Copper prices in the fourth quarter of 2008 declined approximately 49% from that of the third quarter. The drop 
in prices was caused by the rapid downturn in global economic activities brought about by the ongoing financial crisis. 
The world’s major copper consuming nations, most notably the United States and China, are experiencing a sharp contraction 
of growth in GDP. Recently, global copper inventories have started to increase substantially as consumers continue to reduce
stock and copper demand has eased. However, the Company expects that copper prices will remain well above long-term
averages as the global supply demand balance in copper is expected to remain relatively tight by historical standards and
compared with other base metals. 

20. RESERVE ESTIMATES 

The figures for reserves and resources are determined in accordance with National Instrument 43-101, issued by the 
Canadian Securities Administrators. This National Instrument lays out the standards of disclosure for mineral projects including
rules relating to the determination of mineral reserves and resources. This includes a requirement that a “qualified person” 
(as defined under the NI 43-101) supervise the preparation of the reserve reports. The Company’s reserve reports are reviewed
by Evandro Cintra, Senior Vice-President Technical Services, who is a “qualified person”.

Proven and probable reserves were 19.4 million ounces of contained gold (December 31, 2007 - 17.9 million), 173.5 million ounces
of contained silver and 11.5 billion pounds of contained copper as of December 31, 2008 based on a gold price of 
$700 per ounce (except for São Vicente based on $428 per ounce), a silver price of $11.00 per ounce and a copper price of 
$1.85 per pound. This represents an increase of approximately 1.4 million ounces of gold or an 8% from the prior year.

The Company had 173.5 million ounces of contained silver from the El Peñón and Minera Florida mines and the Mercedes 
and Agua Rica projects as at December 31, 2008.

The primary changes in proven and probable reserves were: 

Increase in 
contained ounces 

(in thousands)

Gualcamayo 1,131 
Mercedes 604 
Jacobina 171 
Minera Florida (Alhue) 144 
São Francisco (488)
Alumbrera (105)
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Reserves as at December 31, 2008 were estimated using the following price assumptions:

Gold price per oz / Copper price per lb

Mine/Project 2008 2007 2006

Jacobina $ 700 $ 575 $ 475
San Andrés $ 700 $ 575 $ 450
Fazenda Brasileiro $ 700 $ 575 $ 450
Chapada $ 700 / $1.85 $ 575 / $1.75 $ 450 / $1.10
São Francisco $ 700 $ 575 $ 450
São Vicente $ 428 $ 428 $ 428
Fazenda Nova n/a $ 575 $ 550
C1 Santa Luz $ 700 $ 575 $ 425
Ernesto $ 700 $ 575 $ 450
El Peñón $ 700 $ 575 n/a
Gualcamayo $ 700 $ 575 n/a
Pilar $ 700 $ 575 n/a
Amancaya $ 700 $ 550 n/a
Alhue $ 700 $ 575 n/a
Mercedes $ 700 n/a n/a

Proven and probable reserves for Chapada were 2.5 million contained gold ounces and 2.4 billion pounds of contained copper.
This compares to 2.4 million ounces of contained gold ounces and 2.3 billion pounds of contained copper as at December 31,
2007. Current resource estimates include 745,000 contained gold ounces of measured and indicated resources plus an additional
661,000 contained gold ounces of inferred resources. Contained copper resources include 797 million pounds of measured and
indicated resources plus an additional 823 million pounds of inferred resources. A 17-year mine life is contemplated for Chapada
based on current throughput.

Proven and probable reserves for the São Francisco Mine were 727,000 contained ounces which compares to 1.2 million
contained ounces as at December 31, 2007. A change of reserve model parameters and mining account for the reduction of the
contained reserves. Current resource estimates include 549,000 ounces of measured and indicated resources plus an addition 
of 582,000 ounces of inferred resources.

The Company was successful in developing a decline which exposed the vein at the Mercedes Project. The reserves as at
December 31, 2008 were 604,000 contained ounces of gold. Total measured and indicated resources at year end were 70,000
contained ounces plus an additional 85,000 contained ounces of inferred resources. A pre-feasibility study was commissioned.

Proven and probable reserves increased by 1.1 million contained ounces at the Gualcamayo mine as a result of drilling at the
QDD lower west target. Total proven and probable gold ounces were 2.9 million contained ounces and current resource
estimates include 592,000 measured and indicated ounces and 428,000 ounces of inferred resources.

Proven and probable reserves at San Andrés were 734,000 of contained gold ounces which compares to 741,000 ounces as at
December 31, 2007.

At Jacobina, new proven and probable reserve ounces exceed mined ounces with 1.4 million contained ounces at the end of 
the year. Additionally, approximately 50% of reserves are in the proven category. Resources were upgraded from Inferred to
Measured and Indicated for a total of 1.5 million contained ounces of Measured and Indicated resources at the end of the year.
Inferred resources were previously determined on geological modeling and Yamana has reduced total Inferred resources
pending further drilling that will lead to better geological modeling. Average grades improved in all reserve and Measured 
and Indicated resource categories vis-à-vis the prior year.

It should be noted that reserves and resources are estimates only. There are numerous uncertainties inherent in estimating
mineral reserves and mineral resources, including many factors beyond the Company’s control. Such estimation is a subjective
process, and the accuracy of any reserve or resource estimate is a function of the quantity and quality of available data and 
of the assumptions made and judgments used in engineering and geological interpretation.

Fluctuations in gold and copper prices, results of drilling, metallurgical testing and production and the evaluation of mine plans
subsequent to the date of any estimate may require revision of such estimate. The volume and grade of reserves mined and
processed and recovery rates may not be the same as currently anticipated. Any material reductions in estimates of mineral
reserves and mineral resources, or of the Company’s ability to extract these mineral reserves, could have a material adverse
effect on the Company’s results of operations and financial condition. Depreciation and amortization using the units-of-
production would be impacted by a change in reserves/resources.

Complete information relating to reserves and resources indicating tonnage and grade for the various mines and projects is
contained in a complete resource and reserve table accompanying this annual report.
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21. EXPLORATION AND DEVELOPMENT

The Company continues to actively explore its exploration targets around existing mines and additional regional exploration
targets located on four major greenstone belts in South America. The Company spent $81.5 million during the year on
exploration programs of which $62.1 million was capitalized and $19.4 million was expensed. This compares to $40.9 million
during the comparative year ended December 31, 2007, all of which as capitalized. The summary that follows summarizes 
key initiatives and highlights from the exploration program at the Company.

The Company has allocated approximately $55.6 million in its 2009 budget for exploration. The 2009 exploration program will
focus on El Peñón, Quebrada del Diablo (“QDD”) Lower West at Gualcamayo, Alhue, Jacobina, Mercedes and Pilar de Goías.

GUALCAMAYO, ARGENTINA

Quebrada del Diablo (“QDD”) Lower West Update
In January 2009, the Company received the results of its studies relating to the mining of QDD Lower West underground deposit.
Two alternative approaches to mining the deposit were considered with the conclusion that QDD Lower West is feasible as an
underground operation under either approach. The approaches were evaluated based on overall project cost, complexity, total
gold recovery, value and return maximization and the potential for further upside. Under the first approach, mining would be by
shrinkage fill with production targeted to begin in 2011. Under the second approach, a front caving with pillar recovery method
would be used with targeted production expected to begin in 2015. The latter approach would effectively extend Gualcamayo’s
expected mine life from 9 years to 13 years. 

The Gualcamayo property is located in northern San Juan Province, Argentina, approximately 270 km north of the provincial
capital, San Juan City. It consists of three main mineral deposits, the main QDD deposit, the Amelia Ines and Magdalena satellite
deposits and the QDD Lower West underground deposit. The QDD Lower West deposit is located below QDD, towards the west
and continued drilling on the deposit is expected to increase reserves, particularly in the western extension.

The project has been evaluated based on approximately 15,000 metres of drilling, although considerable drilling and other
related exploration is ongoing in the western extension, extensive geological, geotechnical and metallurgical test work,
feasibility level design and engineering and initial underground development to improve knowledge of the deposit and provide
access for underground exploration. The metallurgical test work supports heap leaching recovery of approximately 80% 
within 30 days.

The QDD Lower West mineral resource estimate, based on a cut-off grade of 1.0 g/t Au using sample data received as of
September 30, 2008, includes measured and indicated resources of 8.26 million tonnes grading 2.90 g/t Au containing 769,000
ounces of gold, and inferred resources of 1.6 million tonnes grading 2.66 g/t Au containing 136,000 ounces of gold. 

The financial analysis for the studies used a gold price of $725 per ounce. At the current gold price of $900 per ounce, the 
after-tax IRR for the QDD Lower West project using the front caving approach increases to over 50% and the project would 
have an after-tax net present value (at 5% discount rate) of approximately $100 million.

Both mining methods are feasible. The front caving mining alternative increases total mineable ounces, reduces costs, 
provides significantly improved returns, allows for the expansion of resources and better addresses geotechnical constraints
and provides for a longer mine life and a higher return and value. The shrinkage fill method would accelerate production from
QDD Lower West. Based on the results of the studies, the Company has decided to advance the front caving mining method.
Further, the Company will continue drilling with the goal of proving up the QDD Lower West western extension which has the
potential to significantly expand reserves. With additional drilling and assuming an extension of QDD Lower West, the Company
believes that it may accelerate the production schedule under the front caving alternative by beginning mining in the western
extremity, thereby advancing production, further increasing the value of QDD Lower West and its return on investment.

The advantages of pursuing the front caving alternative include:
• improved project returns and net present value;
• improved cash costs relating to the underground mining thereby decreasing the average cash costs for Gualcamayo;
• significant increase in mineable and recoverable reserves;
• higher average head grade; and
• increased mine life for Gualcamayo to approximately 13 years from its current mine life of nine years.

The financial analysis of both alternatives suggests that the value of and the return for QDD Lower West are more sensitive 
to gold price and operating costs than capital expenditures. As drilling continues, the Company will continue to evaluate
opportunities to further enhance project economics including the potential to reduce operating costs, increase mineable
reserves through extension to the west and accelerate production.

The current analysis for the front caving approach considers mining beginning in the area below the main QDD open pit which 
is the area with the most defined resources. The Company continues to evaluate advancing production before 2015 by beginning
mining in the western extension using the same front caving mining approach. The Company has allocated almost its entire 
$6 million exploration budget for Gualcamayo in 2009 toward further exploration of QDD Lower West.
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MERCEDES, MEXICO

In February 2009, the Company announced the results of its studies relating to the development of its Mercedes project. 
The Mercedes project is located in northern Sonora, Mexico approximately 200 kilometres south of Tucson, Arizona. 
The deposit consists of a complex gold-silver hydrothermal low-sulphidation vein/stockwork system with several mineralized
structures discovered to date, two of which, the Mercedes and Klondike veins, have been significantly advanced and support
development of Mercedes as a mine. 

The proposed bench and fill mining method is consistent with the mining method used at the Company’s El Peñón mine 
where geologic conditions are similar to Mercedes. Expected throughput at 1,500 tonnes per day would result in production of
approximately 118,000 GEO for approximately six years based on known reserves. Cash costs are expected to be $264 per GEO.
Gold recovery is expected to be approximately 95% based on metallurgical test work to date. Silver recovery is expected to be
approximately 30% which is consistent with similar mineral deposits. Gold and silver production is expected to be approximately
112,000 ounces and 366,000 ounces, respectively, or approximately 118,000 GEO as previously indicated. GEO calculations are
based on an assumed gold to silver ratio of 55:1 which is a three-year historical average. Total capital costs are expected to 
be approximately $152 million including a contingency of $16.8 million and owner costs of $9.8 million. Costs for Mercedes 
were determined for the purposes of the study based on inputs and quotations in 2008. The Company believes improvements 
in these cost references may be possible.

The financial analysis for the study, using a gold price of $814 per ounce and a silver price of $13 per ounce, suggests an 
after tax NPV at a 5% discount rate of $72.7 million, with an after tax IRR of 22.4%.

The Company intends to continue to advance the project in 2009. Mercedes shows a high geological potential given the size 
of the property and the results of geological and geophysical studies to date. The Company is continuing to drill at Mercedes
targeting 30,000 metres of drilling in 2009, with a budget of approximately $4.0 million. The Company intends to provide updates
to this study and, depending on the results, expects to make a construction decision thereafter. Construction of the mine is
expected to take approximately two years and, provided that a construction decision is made not later than Q1 2010, the
Company expects to be in production at Mercedes by 2012. The Company will also determine improvements in costs in addition
to increased recoverable gold equivalent ounces during this period. The Company believes that in 2009 most of the inferred
resources and some narrow indicated resources may be upgraded to reserves, further increasing reserves by approximately
80,000 GEO. The Company’s objective is to increase total recoverable GEO to at least 1.0 million GEO before a construction
decision is made. With the upgrade of inferred resources and the discovery of an additional 280,000 GEO with a successful
drilling and exploration effort, the estimated NPV and IRR would increase to $153 million and 27.4%, respectively, based on 
the same economic assumptions used in the current study. In 2009, the current capital budget includes an amount for the
continued development of a production-ready exploration decline that is currently 400 metres long and has reached the
mineralized zone in Mercedes, confirming grades and vein width. This decline will provide confirmation of the grade distribution,
and other geological and geotechnical aspects, and will also serve as a platform for underground drilling and preparation 
for future mine development work.

ERNESTO/PAU-A-PIQUE, BRAZIL

In February 2009, the Company announced the results of its studies relating to the development of its Ernesto/Pau-a-Pique
project. The Ernesto/Pau-a-Pique project is located in southwest Mato Grosso state, near Pontes e Lacerda in Brazil. 
The Ernesto deposit is approximately 60 kilometres south of the Company’s São Francisco mine. The Pau-a-Pique deposit 
is approximately 56 kilometres by road south of the Ernesto deposit. The significant existing infrastructure including paved
roadways supports the development of Ernesto/Pau-a-Pique as two mines with a common plant. 

The deposits are hosted by meta-sedimentary rocks of Proterozoic age and at the contact with underlying granitic basement
rocks. The gold mineralization is hosted by quartz veins in the metasedimentary rocks (arenites and conglomerates) or
associated with shear zones at the contact of the metasediments with the underlying granite basement. At Ernesto, gold-rich
quartz veins and veinlets occur within a thick, low-angle structure at the base of the meta-sedimentary sequence and 
within sulphidic horizons in overlying altered meta-arenite units.

The project has been evaluated based on more than 50,000 metres of drilling to date, and the region hosts various targets 
of considerable potential for increasing resources at the project. The Company plans to continue with additional exploration 
in 2009, focusing on infill drilling at Ernesto in particular. 

The Ernesto/Pau-a-Pique mineral resources estimate, based on cut-off grades of 1.0 g/t gold for the open pit and 1.5 g/t gold 
for underground, includes indicated resources of 3.95 million tonnes grading 4.67 g/t gold containing 593,000 ounces of gold 
and inferred resources of 3.14 million tonnes grading 3.02 g/t gold containing 305,000 ounces of gold.
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An infill program is planned for 2009 to support a feasibility study and construction decision by the end of the year. The Company
believes that Ernesto/Pau-a-Pique has significant merit. Given the robust return, high grade, comparatively low capital cost and
significant infrastructure supporting the project, the Company’s capital cost budget includes the costs for construction
beginning in 2010, and anticipates Ernesto/Pau-a-Pique will be in production in 2012. 

The financial analysis for this study using a gold price of $825 per ounce suggests an after tax NPV at a 5% discount rate of 
$138 million, with an after tax IRR of 38%. This includes certain incentives and tax benefits related to operating in Mato Grosso
state, which the Company is entitled to rely on for all of its exploration, development and producing properties in Mato Grosso.
Ernesto/Pau-a-Pique would be supplementing production from the Company’s mines already in production and in proximity to
Ernesto/Pau-a-Pique in Mato Grosso.

Total capital costs are expected to be approximately $86 million through 2010 and 2011. Total annual production is expected 
to be approximately 100,000 ounces of gold with an average cash cost of approximately $356 per ounce. 

The Company intends to determine if further improvements in equipment and contractor costs can be realized in 2009, as 
the capital cost references for this project were made in 2008. Certain elements of the scoping study for Ernesto/Pau-a-Pique,
including capital and operating costs, are consistent with higher level financial and operating review and support the 
Company’s objective of completing a feasibility-level study by the end of 2009. 

PILAR, BRAZIL 

In 2008, the Company invested approximately $6.1 million and drilled approximately 23,000 metres at its Pilar project in 
Goias state, Brazil. Exploration in 2009 contemplates a budget of approximately $4.0 million and 20,000 metres of drilling 
planned. In less than a year, an inferred mineral resource estimate of 12.4 million tonnes grading 2.42 g/t gold and containing
approximately 970,000 ounces was delivered, and more than 43,000 metres of drilling has been completed to date. An update 
to Pilar’s resource estimate is expected in Q2 2009 which will include the drilling information completed in 2008. Pilar is
advancing rapidly to the development stage and the Company anticipates that Pilar will be developed in part as an open-pit 
and also as an underground mine.

22. DEPLETION AND IMPAIRMENT OF MINERAL INTERESTS

Depletion on mineral interests is calculated on a unit-of-production basis which is highly impacted by estimates of reserves 
and resources. There are several uncertainties inherent in estimating mineral reserves and mineral resources as discussed
under reserve estimates.

Management has reviewed the undiscounted future cash flows of its mining projects, based on a long-term gold price of 
$800 per ounce. Other estimates included in the determination of future cash flows include estimates on the amount of reserves,
recoverable ounces and production levels. Based on this review, management has concluded that there is no impairment in
mineral interests nor goodwill as at the current fiscal year end, except for the São Francisco Mine.

Differences between management’s assumptions and market conditions could have a material effect in the future.

23. RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES 

Exploration, development and mining of metals involve numerous inherent risks. As such, the Company is subject to various
financial, operational and political risks that could have a significant impact on its profitability and levels of operating cash
flows. Although the Company assesses and minimizes these risks by applying high operating standards, including careful
management and planning of its facilities, hiring qualified personnel and developing their skills through training and
development programs these risks cannot be eliminated. Such risks include changes in local laws governing the mining
industry, a decline in metal prices (such as gold, copper, silver and zinc) and the activity in the mining sector, uncertainties
inherent in estimating mineral reserves and mineral resources and fluctuations in local currency against the United States
Dollar. 

Readers are encouraged to read and consider the risk factors more particularly described in the Company’s Annual Information
Form for the year ended December 31, 2008. Such risk factors could materially affect the future operating results of the
Company and could cause actual events to differ materially from those described in forward-looking statements relating 
to the Company.
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Operating and Political Risks

The Company holds mining properties in Brazil, Argentina, Chile, Honduras and Mexico and as such is exposed to the laws
governing the mining industry in those countries. The governments in those countries are currently supportive of the mining
industry but changes in government regulations including taxation, the repatriation of profits, restrictions on production, export
controls, environmental compliance, expropriation of property, shifts in the political stability of the country and labour unrest
could adversely affect the Company and its exploration and production initiatives in these countries.

To mitigate land title risks, the Company makes no commitments and does not undertake exploration without first determining
that necessary property rights are in good standing. However, despite the Company’s best efforts, land title may still be affected
by undetected defects.

Currency Risks 

Conducting exploration and production in Latin America also exposes the Company to the risk of currency fluctuations. 
A significant portion of the Company’s expenditures are denominated in Brazilian Reais, Argentine Pesos, Chilean Pesos and 
to a lesser extent Canadian Dollars, Mexican Pesos and Honduran Lempiras. Revenues are earned in United States Dollars. 
A strengthened local currency could adversely affect the Company’s costs denominated in United States Dollars. Historically,
the Real has been highly volatile relative to other currencies and can fluctuate significantly against the United States Dollar 
over short-term periods.

The sensitivity of the Company’s net earnings due to a 10% change in United States Dollar exchange rate compared to the
following currencies is summarized in the table below. The sensitivity analysis includes the impact of the foreign currency
movements on operating costs and unrealized gains on losses arising from the translation of monetary assets and liabilities 
as at the balance sheet date.

Effect on
translation

Effect on Effect on of monetary
(In thousands of dollars) earnings, operating assets and
(On 10% change in United States Dollar exchange rates) net of tax earnings liabilities

Brazilian Real $ 11,704 $ 9,031 $ 2,673 
Argentine Peso (i) $ 61,943 $ 3,462 $ 58,481
Canadian Dollar $ 6,485 $ – $ 6,485
Honduran Lempiras $ 1,172 $ 704 $ 468
Chilean Peso $ 6,599 $ 4,744 $ 1,854 

(i) The sensitivity to the Argentine Peso is attributable to large future income tax liabilities in respect to business acquisitions.

The Company has entered into several currency hedges to mitigate against fluctuations in the Real vis-à-vis the United States
Dollar as further discussed in Section “Derivatives”.

Commodity Risks 

The mining industry is intensely competitive and is highly dependent on commodity prices. The profitability of the Company is
directly related to the market price of gold, copper and silver. A decline in the price of gold, copper or silver could negatively
impact the Company’s operations.

The sensitivity of the Company’s revenues and net earnings due to a 10% change in commodity prices is summarized in the 
table below:

Effect on
(In thousands of dollars) earnings,
(On 10% change in price) Revenues net of tax

Gold $ 68,344 $ 40,699
Copper $ 61,329 $ 50,126 
Silver $ 14,856 $ 8,846

In addition to the direct impact of changes in copper prices on revenues, net earnings are also affected by unrealized
accounting gains or losses on the mark-to-market of copper derivative contracts that do not qualify for hedge accounting 
but provide an economic hedge (refer to Section “Derivatives” for details). 

The Company has entered into several currency hedges to mitigate against fluctuations in the price of copper as further
discussed in Section “Derivatives”.

The Company has not hedged any of its gold. 

Mineral reserves and resources are estimates which may differ significantly from actual mining results.
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Interest Rate Risks

The Company is exposed to interest rate risk on its variable rate debt. During the fourth quarter of 2007, the Company entered
into a total of $550 million in interest rate swap agreements to convert floating rate financing to fixed rate financing over a 
5 year period. These contracts fix the rate of interest on the Company’s long-term debt at 4.50%. The effective portion of
changes in the fair value of the interest rate swaps has been recorded in other comprehensive income until the forecast 
interest expense impacts earnings. The ineffective portion of changes in the fair value of the interest rate swaps have been
recorded in current earnings.

Credit Risks

Credit risk is the risk that a third party might fail to fulfill its performance obligations under the terms of a financial instrument.
For cash, cash equivalents and accounts receivable, credit risk is represented by the carrying amount on the balance sheet. 
For long-term investments credit risk represents the par value of the instruments. For derivatives, the Company assumes 
no credit risk when the fair value of the instruments is negative. When the fair value of the instruments is positive, this is 
a reasonable measure of credit risk. The Company limits credit risk by entering into business arrangements with high 
credit-quality counterparties, limiting the amount of exposure to each counterparty and monitoring the financial condition 
of counterparties. 

Liquidity Risks

Liquidity risk is the risk that a financial instrument cannot be eliminated quickly, by either liquidating it or by establishing an 
off-setting position. Under the terms of our trading agreements, counterparties cannot require the Company to immediately
settle outstanding derivatives except upon the occurrence of customary events of default. We mitigate liquidity risk by
spreading the maturity dates of derivatives over time, managing its capital expenditures and operation cash flows, and by
maintaining adequate lines of credit.

Environmental Risks

The Company’s mining and processing operations and exploration activities in Brazil, Chile, Argentina, Mexico and Central
America are subject to various laws and regulations governing the protection of the environment, exploration, development,
production, exports, taxes, labour standards, occupational health, waste disposal, toxic substances, mine safety, and other
matters. Permits from various governmental authorities are necessary in order to engage in mining operations in all jurisdictions
in which the Company operates. Such permits relate to many aspects of mining operations, including maintenance of air, water
and soil quality standards. In most jurisdictions, the requisite permits cannot be obtained prior to completion of an
environmental impact statement and, in some cases, public consultation. Further, the Company may be required to submit for
government approval a reclamation plan, to post financial assurance for the reclamation costs of the mine site, and to pay for
the reclamation of the mine site upon the completion of mining activities. The Company mitigates this risk by performing certain
reclamation activities concurrent with production.

Mining, like many other extractive natural resource industries, is subject to potential risks and liabilities concerning the
environmental effects associated with mineral exploration and production. Environmental liability may result from mining
activities conducted by others prior to the Company’s ownership of a property. To the extent Yamana is subject to uninsured
environmental liabilities, the payment of such liabilities would reduce funds otherwise available for business activities and 
could have a material adverse effect on the Company. Should the Company be unable to fully fund the cost of remedying an
environmental problem, the Company might be required to suspend operations or enter into interim compliance measures
pending completion of the required remedy, which could have a material adverse effect. The Company mitigates the likelihood
and potential severity of these environmental risks it encounters in its day-to-day operations through the application of high
operating standards.

Energy Risks

The Company consumes energy in mining activities, primarily in the form of diesel fuel, electricity and natural gas. As many 
of the Company’s mines are in remote locations and energy is generally a limited resource, the Company faces the risk that
there may not be sufficient energy available to carry out mining activities efficiently or that certain sources of energy may not 
be available. The Company manages this risk by means of long-term electricity agreements with local power authorities and
inventory control process on consumables. Many of the mines have on-site generator sets as back-up to mitigate the
anticipated and unanticipated interruptions from the energy providers.
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24. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND ESTIMATES

In preparing financial statements in accordance with Canadian GAAP, management is required to make estimates and
assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses for the period end. Critical
accounting estimates represent estimates that are uncertain and for which changes in those estimates could materially 
impact on the Company’s financial statements. Management reviews its estimates and assumptions on an ongoing basis 
using the most current information available. The following accounting estimates are critical: 

• Revenue Recognition
Revenue from the sale of gold or other metals is recognized when all significant risks and rewards of ownership pass to 
the purchaser including delivery of the product, there is a fixed or determinable selling price and collectability is reasonably
assured. Settlement adjustments, if any, are reflected in revenue when the amounts are finally settled.

Sales revenue is recognized at the fair value of consideration received. Revenue includes treatment and refining charges 
if payment of these amounts can be enforced at the time of sale. Gold and silver revenue is recorded at the time of physical
delivery and transfer of title. Sale prices are fixed at the delivery date based on the terms of the contract or at spot prices.
Incidental revenues from the sale of by-products (zinc) are classified with cost of sales. Concentrate revenue for
independent smelters are set at a specified future date after shipment based on market prices. Revenues are recorded at 
the time the rights and rewards of ownership pass to the buyer using forward market prices on the expected date that final
sales prices will be fixed. Variations between the prices set under the smelting contracts are caused by changes in market
prices and result in an embedded derivative in the accounts receivable. The embedded derivative is recorded at fair value
each period until final settlement occurs, with changes in the fair value classified in revenue. In a period of extreme and
unusual price volatility, such as the steep decline in copper prices that occurred during September to December in 2008, 
the effect of mark-to-market price adjustments related to the quantity of metal which remains to be settled with independent
smelters could be significant.

For changes in metal quantities upon receipt of new information and assay, the provisional sales quantities are adjusted 
as well.

• Asset retirement obligations
Asset retirement obligations are accrued at their fair value. Fair value is determined as the discounted future cash
expenditures. Asset retirement obligations and other environmental liabilities are based on management judgments and
estimated engineering costs, taking into account the anticipated method and extent of remediation consistent with legal
requirements, current technology and the possible use of the location. Since these estimates are specific to the locations
involved, there are many individual assumptions underlying the Company’s total asset retirement obligations and provision 
for other environmental liabilities. While these individual assumptions can be subject to change, none are individually
significant to the Company’s reported financial results. Asset retirement obligations are amortized over the life of each 
mine on a unit-of-production basis.

• Inventories
Finished goods, work-in-process, heap leach ore and stockpile ore are valued at the lower of the average production 
costs or net realizable value. The assumptions used in the valuation of work-in process inventories include estimates 
of gold contained in the ore stacked on leach pads, assumptions of the amount of gold stacked that is expected to be
recovered from the leach pads, the amount of gold in these mill circuits and an assumption of the gold price expected to 
be realized when the gold is recovered. If these estimates or assumptions prove to be inaccurate, the Company could be
required to write-down the recorded value of its work-in-process inventories, which would reduce the Company’s earnings
and working capital.

• Depletion and impairment of mineral properties
Mining interests are the most significant assets of the Company and represent capitalized expenditures related to the
development of mining properties and related plant and equipment and the value assigned to exploration potential on
acquisition. Capitalized costs are depreciated and depleted using either a unit-of-production method over the estimated
economic life of the mine which they relate to, or using the straight-line method over their estimated useful lives.

The costs associated with mining properties are separately allocated to exploration potential, reserves and resources 
and include acquired interests in production, development and exploration-stage properties representing the fair value 
at the time they were acquired. The values of such mineral properties are primarily driven by the nature and amount of
material interests believed to be contained or potentially contained, in properties to which they relate.
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The Company reviews and evaluates its mining interests for impairment at least annually or when events or changes in
circumstances indicate that the related carrying amounts may not be recoverable. An impairment is considered to exist if 
the total estimated future undiscounted cash flows are less than the carrying amount of the assets. An impairment loss is
measured and recorded based on discounted estimated future cash flows. Future cash flows are estimated based on
expected future production, commodity prices, operating costs and capital costs. 

There are numerous uncertainties inherent in estimating mineral reserves and mineral resources. Differences between
management’s assumptions and market conditions could have a material effect in the future on the Company’s financial
position and results of operation.

• Goodwill and impairment testing
The Company evaluates, on at least an annual basis, the carrying amount of goodwill to determine whether current events
and circumstances indicate that such carrying amount may no longer be recoverable. To accomplish this, the Company
compares the fair value of the reporting unit to its carrying amounts. If the carrying value of the reporting unit exceeds its 
fair value, the Company compares the implied fair value of the reporting unit’s goodwill to its carrying amount, and any
excess of the carrying value over the fair value is charged to operations. Assumptions underlying fair value estimates 
are subject to significant risks and uncertainties.

For goodwill impairment testing purposes, the Company estimates the fair value of a gold property using a discounted 
cash flow valuation based on projected future cash flows. The determination of fair value is highly subjective and requires
numerous assumptions including, but not limited to, projected future revenues based on estimated production, long-term
metal prices, operating expenses, capital expenditures, inflation index, exchange and discount rates. 

• Reserve estimates
The figures for reserves and resources are determined in accordance with National Instrument 43-101, “Standards of
Disclosure for Mineral Projects”, issued by the Canadian Securities Administrators. There are numerous uncertainties
inherent in estimating mineral reserves and mineral resources, including many factors beyond the Company’s control. 
Such estimation is a subjective process, and the accuracy of any reserve or resource estimate is a function of the quantity
and quality of available data and of the assumptions made and judgments used in engineering and geological interpretation.
Differences between management’s assumptions including economic assumptions such as metal prices and market
conditions could have a material effect in the future on the Company’s financial position and results of operation.

• Income taxes
Future income tax assets and liabilities are determined based on the temporary differences between financial reporting 
and tax bases of assets and liabilities, as well as the benefit of losses available to be carried forward to future years for
income tax purposes. Future income tax assets and liabilities are measured using substantively enacted tax rates and laws
that will be in effect when the differences are expected to reverse. Future income tax assets are recorded on the financial
statements if realization is considered more likely than not.

Long-term income tax liabilities are recorded on the profits earned in Chile that the Company expects to repatriate to its
foreign shareholders.

• Purchase price allocations on business acquisitions
Purchase price allocations on business acquisitions are determined by the Company based on detailed valuations which 
rely in part on a report from a third party expert. The preliminary allocation of the purchase prices represents management’s
initial estimates. A detailed valuation is to be completed within one year of each acquisition. It is anticipated that the final
purchase price allocations may result in a change to the amounts assigned to mineral properties, a change to the value
attributable to tangible assets and the identification of goodwill. 

• Long-term investments
Long-term investments held by the Company include third-party sponsored asset backed commercial paper and auction 
rate securities. Due to the absence of properly functioning markets for these assets, the Company has estimated the fair
value of these investments considering the best available public information regarding market conditions and other 
factors that a market participant would consider for such investments.

CHANGE IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The Company adopted the provisions of Section 1400, General Standards of Financial Statement Presentation; Section 1535,
Capital Disclosures; Section 3031, Inventories; Section 3862, Financial Instruments - Disclosures; and Section 3863, Financial
Instruments - Presentation. As a result, the Company has added the following new accounting policies: 
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(i) General Standards of Financial Statement Presentation

Section 1400, General Standards of Financial Statement Presentation has been amended to include requirements to assess 
and disclose an entity’s ability to continue as a going concern. Management makes an assessment of an entity’s ability to
continue as a going concern. When management is aware, in making its assessment, of material uncertainties related to events
or conditions that may cast significant doubt upon the entity’s ability to continue as a going concern, those uncertainties shall 
be disclosed. When financial statements are not prepared on a going concern basis, that fact shall be disclosed, together with
the basis on which the financial statements are prepared and the reason why the entity is not regarded as a going concern. 

(ii) Capital Disclosures

Section 1535 requires the disclosure of both qualitative and quantitative information that enables users of financial statements 
to evaluate (i) an entity’s objectives, policies and processes for managing capital; (ii) quantitative data about what the entity
regards as capital; (iii) whether the entity has complied with any capital requirements; and (iv) if it has not complied, the
consequences of such non-compliance. 

(iii) Inventories

The new standard Section 3031 on inventories, establishes standards for the measurement and disclosure of inventories. 
The Standard provides guidance on the determination of cost and requires the allocation of overhead expenses and other 
costs to inventory. Inventories must be measured at the lower of cost and net realizable value. Consistent use must be made 
of the method of determining inventory. Reversal of previous write-downs is required when there is a subsequent increase in
the value of inventories. The amount of inventories recognized as an expense during the period shall be disclosed. 

Except for the new guidance on reversal of write-downs the Company’s current practice for valuing inventory is substantially 
in accordance with the new standard. The adoption of Section 3031 did not have a material impact on the Company’s
consolidated financial statements. 

(iv) Financial Instruments - Disclosure and Presentation

Sections 3862 and 3863 replace Handbook Section 3861, Financial Instruments - Disclosure and Presentation, revising and
enhancing its disclosure requirements and carrying forward unchanged its presentation requirements for financial instruments.
Sections 3862 and 3863 place increased emphasis on disclosures about the nature and extent of risks arising from financial
instruments and how the entity manages those risks. 

25. INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARD (IFRS) CHANGEOVER PLAN

The Company has been monitoring the deliberations and progress being made by accounting standard setting bodies and
securities regulators in Canada, Brazil, Chile, Argentina, the United States and other countries with respect to their plans to
converge to International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”):

• The Accounting Standards Board in Canada and the Canadian Securities Administrators (“CSA”) have confirmed that
domestic issuers will be required to transition to IFRS for fiscal years beginning on or after January 1, 2011. On February 13,
2008, the CSA confirmed that use of IFRS will be required in 2011 for publicly accountable profit-oriented enterprises. 
IFRS will replace Canada’s GAAP for those enterprises. 

• The Brazilian accounting standards setting body, Comitê de Práticas Contábeis, has announced the adoption of IFRS
effective January 1, 2010 for financial reporting by public companies.

• In Chile, IFRS will likely be adopted between 2009 and 2011, depending on the nature and ownership structure of the
business. The accounting standards setting body of Chile, Colegio de Contadores de Chile, continues to deliberate the
timetable and requirements for conversion to IFRS.

• On August 28, 2008, the Securities and Exchange Commission of the United States announced that it would seek public
comments on a proposed roadmap for the potential mandatory adoption of IFRS beginning in 2014 for large accelerated
filers, accelerated filers in 2015 and then remaining public companies in 2016.

In preparation for the changeover from GAAP to IFRS, the Company commenced the planning process during the second
quarter of 2008. Specific initiatives are underway and others have been planned for the transitioning from GAAP to IFRS. 
Current status of the project is as follows:
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RESOURCES

• In addition to the designated project management position within the controller’s organization, the Company has earmarked
resources at the corporate and São Paulo offices for the project. The Company will continue to invest in training and
resources to ensure a timely and effective conversion.

• The Company has retained the services of a major public accounting firm to provide technical and process management
assistance.

PROCESS

• A diagnostic assessment of the key impact areas was completed and it is being followed by a detailed assessment of
accounting and measurement differences between IFRS and the Company’s practices. The assessment has been carried 
out at the corporate and regional offices in Brazil and Chile. Further detailed work to quantify differences is planned to be
undertaken at the other regional offices and minesites during 2009. 

• A high-level impact assessment of IFRS conversion on Company’s IT Systems and tax processes has also been performed;
impact assessment in IT Systems, tax, business processes will continue, in terms of both breadth and depth.

• Initial findings and observations from the work completed to date will serve as an input in establishing the key parameters 
to develop solutions during the next phase of the project. An issues log has been established to identify and monitor
resolution of issues. 

• In addition to the quarterly update, the project team has planned for and communicated to the Company’s Audit Committee
the schedule of two IFRS training/orientation sessions during 2009. Training and communication plans have been developed
to execute knowledge transfer during 2009, which is commensurate to the knowledge required by the staff members who are
assigned to execute specific tasks of the conversion project. Communication for external stakeholders is planned for 2010.

• The Company’s Internal Control Group has begun planning to access the project management process for adequacy in
achieving the desired project results.

• Appropriate communication channels have been established to periodically keep operating departments and staff members
in the Controller’s organization informed of the project status.

• The Company’s external auditor is kept aware of the progress and the issues identified.

ACCOUNTING POLICIES

• An initial assessment of exemptions available under IFRS 1 “First-time Adoption of IFRSs” has been completed.
• The Company will make decisions on the allowable exemptions under IFRS 1 that it will invoke after careful consideration 

of sensitivities around financial and operational implications.

26. RECENT ACCOUNTING PRONOUNCEMENTS

Recently issued Canadian and United States accounting pronouncements are outlined below.

Canadian GAAP

(a) In February 2008, the Canadian Institute of Chartered Accountants (“CICA”) issued Section 3064 “Goodwill and Intangible
Assets” to replace Section 3062 “Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets” and Section 3450 “Research and Development
Costs”. 
- Effective January 1, 2009, the Company adopted the new handbook Section 3064, which clarifies the recognition and

measurement criteria of intangible assets and, in particular, for intangible assets that are generated internally. This
Company expects the adoption of this Standard will not have a material effect on its consolidated financial position or
results of operations.

(b) In January 2009, the CICA issued Section 1582 “Business Combinations”, Section 1601 “Consolidated Financial Statements”
and Section 1602 “Non-Controlling Interests” to replace Section 1581, and Section 1600. These Sections shall be applied
prospectively to business combinations on or after the effective date of January 1, 2011 with earlier application permitted. 
- Effective January 1, 2011, the Company will adopt the new handbook sections, which establish updated standards on 

the recognition, measurement criteria and presentation on acquisitions, the accounting for assets and liabilities assumed 
and non-controlling interests. The impact of implementation of this standard will not be material to the Company’s
consolidated financial statements.

(c) Canadian public companies will be required to prepare their financial statements in accordance with International Financial
Reporting Standards (“IFRS”), as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board, for financial years beginning on 
or after January 1, 2011 (the “Changeover Date”). 
- Effective January 1, 2011, the Company will adopt IFRS as the basis for preparing its consolidated financial statements.

The Company will issue its financial results for the quarter ended March 31, 2011 prepared on an IFRS basis and provide
comparative data on an IFRS basis as required.

 



75

YA
M

A
N

A
 G

O
LD

20
08

 A
N

N
U

A
L 

R
E

P
O

R
T

United States GAAP

(a) In December 2007, the FASB released FASB 141-R, Business Combinations and FASB 160, Non-controlling Interests in
Consolidated Financial Statements - an amendment of ARB No. 51. 
- FASB 141-R applies prospectively to business combinations for which the acquisition date is on or after the beginning 

of the first annual reporting period beginning on or after December 15, 2008, which is a business combination in the year
ending December 31, 2009 for the Company. This statement will require more assets acquired and liabilities assumed to
be measured at fair value as of the acquisition date, liabilities related to contingent consideration to be re-measured at
fair value in each subsequent reporting period, an acquirer to expense acquisition-related costs and non-controlling
interests in subsidiaries initially to be measured at fair value and classified as a separate component of equity. The
Company will assess the impact of this standard for business combinations occurring after January 1, 2009.

- FASB 160 is effective for fiscal years, and interim periods within those fiscal years, beginning on or after December 15,
2008, which for the Company is the year ending December 31, 2009 and the interim periods within that fiscal year. The
objective of this statement is to improve the relevance, comparability, and transparency of the financial information as 
it requires more assets acquired and liabilities assumed to be measured at fair value as of the acquisition date, liabilities
related to contingent consideration to be re-measured at fair value in each subsequent reporting period, an acquirer 
to expense acquisition-related costs (e.g., deal fees to attorneys, accountants, investment bankers) and non controlling
interests in subsidiaries initially to be measured at fair value and classified as a separate component of equity. 
The Company is assessing the impact of the new standards.

(b) In March 2008, FASB issued FASB Statement No. 161, Disclosures about Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities -
an amendment of FASB Statement No. 133, Accounting for Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities. 
- This Statement requires enhanced disclosures about how and why a company uses derivative and hedging activities,

how derivative instruments and related hedged items are accounted for under FAS 133 (including interpretations) and
how these affect a company’s financial position, financial performance and cash flows which collectively improve the
transparency of financial reporting. This statement is effective for financial statements issued for fiscal years and interim
periods beginning after November 15, 2008, with early application encouraged. This statement encourages, but does not
require, comparative disclosures for earlier periods at initial adoption. The Company is assessing the impact of the new
standard.

(c) In May 2008, FASB issued FASB Statement No. 162, The Hierarchy of Generally Accepted Accounting Principles.
- The Statement identifies the sources of accounting principles and the framework for selecting the principles to be 

used in the preparation of financial statements of non-governmental entities that are presented in conformity with 
generally accepted accounting principles in the United States. FASB 162 became effective 60 days following the
Securities and Exchange Commission’s (“SEC”) approval of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (“PCAOB”)
amendment to AU Section 411, The Meaning of Present Fairly in Conformity With Generally Accepted Accounting
Principles. The SEC granted approval of the PCAOB amendment in September 2008. Adoption of this Standard is not
expected to result in a change in the Company’s current practice.

(d) In late June 2008, FASB released EITF 07-5 Determining Whether an Instrument (or Embedded Feature) Is Indexed to an
Entity’s Own Stock, which provides further guidance on the accounting treatment for certain equity instruments with
elements of foreign currency risk. 
- The Company’s functional currency is the United States Dollar and it has issued and outstanding warrants that have 

an exercise price that is denominated in Canadian dollars. The Company has determined that such warrants with an
exercise price that is different from the entity’s functional currency cannot be classified as equity based on the evaluation
of the warrant’s settlement provisions. As a result, these instruments will need to be treated as derivatives and recorded
as liabilities that are carried at their fair value, with changes in the fair value from period to period recorded as a gain or
loss in the statement of operations. EITF 07-5 is effective for interim and annual financial statements related to fiscal
years beginning after December 15, 2008, and earlier adoption is not permitted. 
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27. DISCLOSURE CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES

Disclosure controls and procedures are designed to provide reasonable assurance that all relevant information is gathered 
and reported to senior management, including the Company’s Chairman and Chief Executive Officer and Senior Vice President,
Finance and Chief Financial Officer, on a timely basis so that appropriate decisions can be made regarding public disclosure.
The Company’s system of disclosure controls and procedures includes, but is not limited to, our Timely Disclosure and
Confidentiality Policy, our Code of Business Conduct and Ethics, our Insider Trading Policy and Share Dealing Code, our
Whistleblower Policy, our Fraud Policy, the effective functioning of our Audit Committee and procedures in place to
systematically identify matters warranting consideration of disclosure by the Audit Committee.

As at the end of the period covered by this Management’s Discussion and Analysis, management of the Company, with the
participation of the Chairman and Chief Executive Officer and the Senior Vice President, Finance and Chief Financial Officer,
evaluated the effectiveness of the Company’s disclosure controls and procedures as required by applicable rules of the SEC 
and the Canadian Securities Administrators (or Canadian securities regulatory authorities). The evaluation included
documentation review, enquiries and other procedures considered by management to be appropriate in the circumstances.
Based on that evaluation, the Chairman and Chief Executive Officer and the Senior Vice President, Finance and Chief Financial
Officer have concluded that, as of the end of the period covered by this management’s discussion and analysis, the disclosure
controls and procedures (as defined in Rule 13a-15(e) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934) were effective to provide
reasonable assurance that information required to be disclosed in the Company’s annual filings and interim filings and other
reports filed or submitted under applicable securities laws, is recorded, processed, summarized and reported within time
periods specified by those laws and that material information is accumulated and communicated to management of the
Company, including the Chairman and Chief Executive Officer and the Senior Vice President, Finance and Chief Financial 
Officer, as appropriate to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure.

MANAGEMENT’S REPORT ON INTERNAL CONTROL OVER FINANCIAL REPORTING

Management of the Company is responsible for establishing and maintaining effective internal control over financial reporting
as such term is defined in the rules of the United States Securities and Exchange Commission and the Canadian Securities
Administrators. The Company’s internal control over financial reporting is designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding
the reliability of the Company’s financial reporting for external purposes in accordance with accounting principles generally
accepted in Canada and the United States of America for external purposes. The Company’s internal control over financial
reporting includes:

• maintaining records that in reasonable detail accurately and fairly reflect our transactions and dispositions of the assets 
of the Company;

• providing reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary for preparation of our financial statements 
in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

• providing reasonable assurance that receipts and expenditures are made in accordance with authorizations of management
and the directors of the Company; and

• providing reasonable assurance that unauthorized acquisition, use or disposition of company assets that could have a
material effect on the Company’s financial statements would be prevented or detected on a timely basis. 

The Company’s internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect all misstatements because of inherent
limitations. Additionally, projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls 
may become inadequate because changes in conditions or deterioration in the degree of compliance with the Company’s
policies and procedures.

Management assessed the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2008
based on the criteria set forth in Internal Control - Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations
of the Treadway Commission (COSO). Based on this assessment, management has determined that, as of December 31, 2008, 
the Company’s internal control over financial reporting is effective and no material weaknesses were identified. The Company
has certified the above in its annual filings with both the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission on Form 40-F as required by
the United States Sarbanes-Oxley Act and with Canadian securities regulatory authorities.

Deloitte and Touche LLP, the Company’s Independent Registered Chartered Accountants, have audited the consolidated financial
statements of the Company for the year ended December 31, 2008, and have also issued a report on the internal controls over
financial reporting under Auditing Standard No. 5 of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States).
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CHANGES IN INTERNAL CONTROLS

During the year ended December 31, 2008, there has been no change in the Company’s internal control over financial reporting
that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the Company’s internal control over financial reporting.

LIMITATIONS OF CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES

The Company’s management, including the Chairman and Chief Executive Officer and the Senior Vice President, Finance 
and Chief Financial Officer, believe that any disclosure controls and procedures or internal controls over financial reporting, 
no matter how well conceived and operated, can provide only reasonable, not absolute, assurance that the objectives of the
control system are met. Further, the design of a control system must reflect the fact that there are resource constraints, and 
the benefits of controls must be considered relative to their costs. Because of the inherent limitations in all control systems,
they cannot provide absolute assurance that all control issues and instances of fraud, if any, within the Company have been
prevented or detected. These inherent limitations include the realities that judgments in decision-making can be faulty, and that
breakdowns can occur because of simple error or mistake. Additionally, controls can be circumvented by the individual acts 
of some persons, by collusion of two or more people, or by unauthorized override of the control. The design of any systems of
controls also is based in part upon certain assumptions about the likelihood of future events, and there can be no assurance
that any design will succeed in achieving its stated goals under all potential future conditions. Accordingly, because of the
inherent limitations in a cost effective control system, misstatements due to error or fraud may occur and not be detected. 

This report provides a discussion and analysis of the financial condition and results of operations (“Management’s Discussion
and Analysis”) to enable a reader to assess material changes in financial condition between December 31, 2008 and
December 31, 2007 and results of operations for the period ended December 31, 2008, December 31, 2007 and December 31,
2006.

This Management’s Discussion and Analysis has been prepared as of March 16, 2009. The audited consolidated financial
statements prepared in accordance with Canadian Generally Accepted Accounting Principles (“Canadian GAAP”) follow 
this Management’s Discussion and Analysis. This Management’s Discussion and Analysis is intended to supplement and
complement the audited consolidated financial statements and notes thereto as at and for the year ended December 31, 2008
(collectively the “Financial Statements”). You are encouraged to review the Financial Statements in conjunction with your
review of this Management’s Discussion and Analysis. This Management’s Discussion and Analysis should be read in
conjunction with both the annual audited consolidated financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2008 and the
most recent Annual Information Form for the year ended December 31, 2008 on file with the Securities Commissions of all 
of the provinces in Canada and the 2008 Annual Report on Form 40-F on file with the United States Securities and Exchange
Commission. Certain notes to the Financial Statements are specifically referred to in this Management’s Discussion and
Analysis and such notes are incorporated by reference herein. All Dollar amounts in the Management’s Discussion and
Analysis are in United States Dollars, unless otherwise specified.
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CAUTIONARY NOTE REGARDING FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

This Management’s Discussion and Analysis contains or incorporates by reference “forward-looking statements” within the
meaning of the United States Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995 and applicable Canadian securities legislation.
Except for statements of historical fact relating to the Company, information contained herein constitutes forward-looking
statements, including any information as to the Company’s strategy, plans or future financial or operating performance. 
Forward-looking statements are characterized by words such as “plan,” “expect”, “budget”, “target”, “project”, “intend”,
“believe”, “anticipate”, “estimate” and other similar words, or statements that certain events or conditions “may” or “will”
occur. Forward-looking statements are based on the opinions, assumptions and estimates of management considered
reasonable at the date the statements are made, and are inherently subject to a variety of risks and uncertainties and other
known and unknown factors that could cause actual events or results to differ materially from those projected in the forward-
looking statements. These factors include the impact of general business and economic conditions, global liquidity and credit
availability on the timing of cash flows and the values of assets and liabilities based on projected future conditions, fluctuating
metal prices (such as gold, copper, silver and zinc), currency exchange rates (such as the Brazilian Real and the Chilean Peso
versus the United States Dollar), possible variations in ore grade or recovery rates, changes in the Company’s hedging program,
changes in accounting policies, changes in the Company’s corporate resources, changes in project parameters as plans
continue to be refined, changes in project development and production time frames, risk related to joint venture operations, the
possibility of project cost overruns or unanticipated costs and expenses, higher prices for fuel, steel, power, labour and other
consumables contributing to higher costs and general risks of the mining industry, failure of plant, equipment or processes to
operate as anticipated, unexpected changes in mine life, final pricing for concentrate sales, unanticipated results of future
studies, seasonality and unanticipated weather changes, costs and timing of the development of new deposits, success of
exploration activities, permitting time lines, government regulation of mining operations, environmental risks, unanticipated
reclamation expenses, title disputes or claims, limitations on insurance coverage and timing and possible outcome of pending
litigation and labour disputes, as well as those risk factors discussed or referred to in the Company’s annual Management’s
Discussion and Analysis and Annual Information Form for the year ended December 31, 2008 filed with the securities regulatory
authorities in all provinces of Canada and available at www.sedar.com, and the Company’s Annual Report on Form 40-F filed
with the United States Securities and Exchange Commission. Although the Company has attempted to identify important factors
that could cause actual actions, events or results to differ materially from those described in forward-looking statements, there
may be other factors that cause actions, events or results not to be anticipated, estimated or intended. There can be no
assurance that forward-looking statements will prove to be accurate, as actual results and future events could differ materially
from those anticipated in such statements. The Company undertakes no obligation to update forward-looking statements if
circumstances or management’s estimates, assumptions or opinions should change, except as required by applicable law. 
The reader is cautioned not to place undue reliance on forward-looking statements. The forward-looking information contained
herein is presented for the purpose of assisting investors in understanding the Company’s expected financial and operational
performance and results as at and for the periods ended on the dates presented in the Company’s plans and objectives and 
may not be appropriate for other purposes. 

CAUTIONARY NOTE TO UNITED STATES INVESTORS CONCERNING ESTIMATES OF MEASURED, INDICATED AND INFERRED
MINERAL RESOURCES

This Management’s Discussion and Analysis uses the terms “Measured”, “Indicated” and “Inferred” Mineral Resources. 
United States investors are advised that while such terms are recognized and required by Canadian regulations, the United
States Securities and Exchange Commission does not recognize them. “Inferred Mineral Resources” have a great amount of
uncertainty as to their existence, and as to their economic and legal feasibility. It cannot be assumed that all or any part of an
Inferred Mineral Resource will ever be upgraded to a higher category. Under Canadian rules, estimates of Inferred Mineral
Resources may not form the basis of feasibility or other economic studies. United States investors are cautioned not to assume
that all or any part of Measured or Indicated Mineral Resources will ever be converted into Mineral Reserves. United States
investors are also cautioned not to assume that all or any part of an Inferred Mineral Resource exists, or is economically or
legally mineable.

CAUTIONARY NOTE REGARDING RESERVES AND RESOURCES

Readers should refer to the Annual Information Form of the Company for the year ended December 31, 2008 and other
continuous disclosure documents filed by the Company since January 1, 2009 available at www.sedar.com, for further
information on mineral reserves and resources, which is subject to the qualifications and notes set forth therein.
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for Financial Reporting

Yamana Gold Inc.

The accompanying consolidated financial statements of Yamana Gold Inc. and all the information in this annual report are the
responsibility of management and have been approved by the Board of Directors.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared by management on a going concern basis in accordance with
accounting principles generally accepted in Canada. When alternative accounting methods exist, management has chosen those 
it deems most appropriate in the circumstances. Financial statements are not precise since they include certain amounts based 
on estimates and judgments. Management has determined such amounts on a reasonable basis in order to ensure that the financial
statements are presented fairly, in all material respects. Management has prepared the financial information presented elsewhere 
in the annual report and has ensured that it is consistent with that in the financial statements.

Yamana Gold Inc. maintains systems of internal accounting and administrative controls in order to provide, on a reasonable 
basis, assurance that the financial information is relevant, reliable and accurate and that the Company’s assets are appropriately
accounted for and adequately safeguarded.

The Board of Directors is responsible for ensuring that management fulfills its responsibilities for financial reporting and is 
ultimately responsible for reviewing and approving the financial statements. The Board carries out this responsibility principally
through its Audit Committee.

The Audit Committee is appointed by the Board, and all of its members are independent directors. The Committee meets at least 
four times a year with management, as well as the external auditors, to discuss internal controls over the financial reporting
process, auditing matters and financial reporting issues, to satisfy itself that each party is properly discharging its responsibilities,
and to review the quarterly and the annual reports, the financial statements and the external auditors’ report. The Committee 
reports its findings to the Board for consideration when approving the financial statements for issuance to the shareholders. 
The Committee also considers, for review by the Board and approval by the shareholders, the engagement or reappointment of 
the external auditors. The consolidated financial statements have been audited by Deloitte & Touche LLP, Independent Registered
Chartered Accountants, in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards and standards of the Public Company
Accounting Oversight Board (United States) on behalf of the shareholders. Deloitte & Touche LLP have full and free access to 
the Audit Committee.

Peter Marrone Charles B. Main
Chairman and Senior Vice President, Finance and 
Chief Executive Officer Chief Financial Officer

March 16, 2009
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Chartered Accountants

TO THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS AND SHAREHOLDERS OF YAMANA GOLD INC.

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Yamana Gold Inc. and subsidiaries (the “Company”) as at
December 31, 2008 and 2007, and the related consolidated statements of operations, shareholders’ equity, comprehensive income,
and cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2008. These financial statements are the responsibility
of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards and the standards of the Public
Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States). These standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain
reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, 
on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes assessing 
the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall financial 
statement presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, these consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of Yamana Gold
Inc. and subsidiaries as at December 31, 2008 and 2007, and the results of their operations and their cash flows for each of the three
years in the period ended December 31, 2008 in accordance with Canadian generally accepted accounting principles.

We have also audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States), the
Company’s internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2008, based on the criteria established in Internal Control -
Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission and our report dated
March 16, 2009 expressed an unqualified opinion on the Company’s internal control over financial reporting.

Independent Registered Chartered Accountants
Vancouver, Canada
March 16, 2009

COMMENTS BY INDEPENDENT REGISTERED CHARTERED ACCOUNTANTS ON CANADA-UNITED STATES OF AMERICA 
REPORTING DIFFERENCE

The standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States) require the addition of an explanatory paragraph
(following the opinion paragraph) when there are changes in accounting principles that have a material effect on the comparability
of the Company’s financial statements, such as the changes described in Note 2 to the consolidated financial statements. Although
we conducted our audits in accordance with both Canadian generally accepted auditing standards and the standards of the Public
Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States), our report to the Board of Directors and Shareholders, dated March 16, 2009,
is expressed in accordance with Canadian reporting standards which do not require a reference to such changes in accounting
principles in the auditors’ report when the changes are properly accounted for and adequately disclosed in the financial statements.

Independent Registered Chartered Accountants
Vancouver, Canada
March 16, 2009
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TO THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS AND SHAREHOLDERS OF YAMANA GOLD INC.

We have audited the internal control over financial reporting of Yamana Gold Inc. and subsidiaries (the “Company”) as of 
December 31, 2008, based on the criteria established in Internal Control - Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of
Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission. The Company’s management is responsible for maintaining effective 
internal control over financial reporting and for its assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting,
included in the accompanying Management’s Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting. Our responsibility is to express 
an opinion on the Company’s internal control over financial reporting based on our audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States).
Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether effective internal 
control over financial reporting was maintained in all material respects. Our audit included obtaining an understanding of internal
control over financial reporting, assessing the risk that a material weakness exists, testing and evaluating the design and operating
effectiveness of internal control based on the assessed risk, and performing such other procedures as we considered necessary 
in the circumstances. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.

A company’s internal control over financial reporting is a process designed by, or under the supervision of, the company’s 
principal executive and principal financial officers, or persons performing similar functions, and effected by the company’s board 
of directors, management, and other personnel to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting 
and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. 
A company’s internal control over financial reporting includes those policies and procedures that (1) pertain to the maintenance 
of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company; 
(2) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in
accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the company are being made 
only in accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the company; and (3) provide reasonable assurance
regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of the company’s assets that could have 
a material effect on the financial statements.

Because of the inherent limitations of internal control over financial reporting, including the possibility of collusion or improper
management override of controls, material misstatements due to error or fraud may not be prevented or detected on a timely basis.
Also, projections of any evaluation of the effectiveness of the internal control over financial reporting to future periods are subject 
to the risk that the controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the
policies or procedures may deteriorate. 

In our opinion, the Company maintained, in all material respects, effective internal control over financial reporting as of 
December 31, 2008, based on the criteria established in Internal Control - Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of
Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission.

We have also audited, in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards and the standards of the Public
Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States), the consolidated financial statements as of and for the year ended 
December 31, 2008 of the Company and our report dated March 16, 2009 expressed an unqualified opinion on those financial
statements and included a separate report titled Comments by Independent Registered Chartered Accountants on Canada-United
States of America Reporting Differences referring to changes in accounting principles.

Independent Registered Chartered Accountants
Vancouver, Canada
March 16, 2009
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As at December 31 (In thousands of United States Dollars)

Yamana Gold Inc.

2008 2007

Assets
Current
Cash and cash equivalents (Note 5) $ 170,137 $ 284,894 
Accounts receivable 26,995 81,774 
Inventory (Note 6) 123,988 97,626 
Other current assets (Note 7) 200,986 186,210 

522,106 650,504 

Mineral interests (Note 8) 8,534,081 8,947,306 
Investments (Note 9) 12,517 53,314 
Other long-term assets (Note 10) 89,628 65,378 
Future income tax assets (Note 23(b)) 124,021 124,422 
Goodwill (Note 11) 55,000 55,000 

$ 9,337,353 $ 9,895,924 

Liabilities
Current
Accounts payable $ 143,705 $ 136,355 
Accrued liabilities 66,080 126,487 
Income taxes payable 6,848 56,288 
Current portion of derivative related liabilities (Note 29(a)) 25,897 53,954 
Current portion of credit facilities (Note 12) 83,749 83,245 
Other current liabilities 34,516 16,305 

360,795 472,634 

Credit facilities (Note 12) 472,215 539,179 
Asset retirement obligations (Note 13) 90,010 63,444 
Derivative related liabilities (Note 29(a)) 10,823 27,933 
Future income tax liabilities (Note 23(b)) 1,714,146 2,696,387 
Other long-term liabilities (Note 14) 132,445 142,716 

2,419,639 3,469,659 

2,780,434 3,942,293 

Non-controlling interest (Note 20) 46,800 46,810 

Shareholders’ Equity
Capital Stock (Note 16)
Issued and outstanding 732,844,955 common shares

(December 31, 2007 - 668,416,987 shares) 6,055,892 5,502,518 
Share purchase warrants (Note 18) 44,109 270,805 
Contributed surplus 26,587 77,393 
Accumulated other comprehensive loss (Note 17) (40,651) (3,855)
Retained earnings 424,182 59,960 

6,510,119 5,906,821 

$ 9,337,353 $ 9,895,924 

Contractual commitments and contingencies (Notes 27 and 30)
The accompanying notes are an integral part of the financial statements.

Approved by the Board

Peter Marrone Patrick Mars
Director Director
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For the Years Ended December 31 (In thousands of United States Dollars except for shares and per share amounts)

Yamana Gold Inc.

2008 2007 2006

Revenues $ 1,054,607 $ 747,091 $ 169,206 

Cost of sales (496,766) (287,640) (100,004)
Depreciation, amortization and depletion (190,893) (71,815) (33,510)
Accretion of asset retirement obligations (4,175) (3,056) (636)

Mine operating earnings 362,773 384,580 35,056 

Expenses
General and administrative (70,643) (69,251) (65,449)
Exploration (19,371) – –
Other operating expenses (6,817) 2,872 –
Write-off of mineral interests (Note 21) (58,993) (1,821) (3,675)

Operating earnings (loss) 206,949 316,380 (34,068)

Investment and other business (loss) income (29,076) 11,503 3,142 
Interest and financing expenses (Note 22) (44,671) (22,034) (28,846)
Foreign exchange gain (loss) 131,541 (40,385) 343 
Realized loss on derivatives (Note 29(a)) (10,036) (17,082) –
Unrealized gain (loss) on derivatives (Note 29(a)) 173,985 (29,068) (35,773)

Earnings (loss) before income taxes, equity earnings 
and non-controlling interest 428,692 219,314 (95,202)

Income tax (expense) recovery (Note 23(a)) (19,683) (63,872) 25,039 
Equity earnings from Minera Alumbrera (Note 8) 25,763 3,820 –
Non-controlling interest – (2,017) –

Net earnings (loss) $ 434,772 $ 157,245 $ (70,163)

Basic earnings (loss) per share $ 0.63 $ 0.38 $ (0.25)
Diluted earnings (loss) per share $ 0.62 $ 0.36 $ (0.25)
Basic weighted average number of shares 

outstanding (Note 16(b)) 691,536 415,232 276,617 
Diluted weighted average number of shares 

outstanding (Note 16(b)) 701,685 431,917 276,617 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the financial statements.
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For the Years Ended December 31 (In thousands of United States Dollars)

Yamana Gold Inc.

Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income
For the years ended (In thousands of United States Dollars)

Yamana Gold Inc.

2008 2007 2006

Common shares
Balance, beginning of year $ 5,502,518 $ 1,619,850 $ 310,409 
Issued on exercise of stock options, share appreciation 

rights and warrants (Note 16(a)) 449,933 99,091 82,594 
Issued on business acquisitions (Note 4) – 3,783,577 1,056,817 
Public offering (net of issue costs) (Note 16(a)) 103,441 – 170,030 

$ 6,055,892 $ 5,502,518 $ 1,619,850 

Shares to be issued
Balance, beginning of year $ – $ 42,492 $ –
To be issued on exercise of stock options, share 

appreciation rights and warrants – (3,009) 3,009 
Issued on business acquisitions – (39,483) 39,483 

$ – $ – $ 42,492 

Share purchase warrants
Balance, beginning of year $ 270,805 $ 73,004 $ 3,737 
Exercise of warrants (226,029) (4,906) (18,355)
Transfer of expired warrants (667) – –
Warrants issued – – 13,111 
Value of warrants acquired on business acquisition – 202,707 74,511 

$ 44,109 $ 270,805 $ 73,004 

Contributed surplus
Balance, beginning of year $ 77,393 $ 61,578 $ 4,676 
Transfer of stock-based compensation on the exercise 

of stock options and share appreciation rights (17,722) (36,789) (35,655)
Transfer of expired warrants 667 – –
Transfer of value of options on the exercise of options 

issued or outstanding through business acquisitions (35,800) 52,167 54,041 
Stock-based compensation 2,049 437 38,516 

$ 26,587 $ 77,393 $ 61,578 

Retained earnings (deficit)
Balance, beginning of year $ 59,960 $ (80,334) $ (3,848)
Opening adjustments (Note 2) – 249 –
Net earnings (loss) 434,772 157,245 (70,163)
Dividends declared (70,550) (17,200) (6,323)

Retained earnings (deficit), end of year 424,182 59,960 (80,334)
Accumulated other comprehensive loss (Note 17) (40,651) (3,855) –

383,531 56,105 (80,334)

Total shareholders’ equity $ 6,510,119 $ 5,906,821 $ 1,716,590 

2008 2007 2006

Net earnings (loss) $ 434,772 $ 157,245 $ (70,163)
Other comprehensive (loss) income, net of taxes:
Net change in unrealized (losses) gains on 

available-for-sale securities:
Change in fair value (29,842) (7,296) –
Reclassification of losses recorded in earnings 33,817 – –

Net change in fair value of hedging instruments (40,771) 6,951 –

Other comprehensive loss (36,796) (345) –

Comprehensive income (loss) $ 397,976 $ 156,900 $ (70,163)

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the financial statements.
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For the Years Ended December 31 (In thousands of United States Dollars)

Yamana Gold Inc.

2008 2007 2006

Operating Activities
Net earnings (loss) for the year $ 434,772 $ 157,245 $ (70,163)

Asset retirement obligations paid (5,578) (4,710) (358)
Other 10,000 10,397 5,000 

Items not involving cash:
Depreciation, amortization and depletion 190,893 71,815 33,510 
Stock-based compensation 4,493 726 41,099 
Future income taxes (Note 23(a)) (45,928) (15,478) (31,077)
Accretion of asset retirement obligations (Note 13) 4,175 3,056 636 
Unrealized foreign exchange (gain) loss (124,129) 17,765 (343)
Unrealized (gain) loss on commodity contracts (Note 29(a)) (173,985) 29,068 35,773 
Write-off of mineral interests (Note 21) 58,993 1,821 3,675 
Write-offs and provisions against other assets 51,951 2,385 –
Mark-to-market on sales of concentrate 17,072 – –
Financing charges 2,919 3,352 19,744 
Other (81) 2,657 2,675 

425,567 280,099 40,171 

Net change in non-cash working capital (Note 24(c)) (96,892) 1,030 (43,386)

328,675 281,129 (3,215)

Financing Activities
Public offering (net of issue costs) 101,941 – 170,030 
Issue of common shares upon exercise of options 

and warrants (net of issue costs) 170,382 37,912 51,179 
Dividends paid (69,930) (17,200) (2,883)
Proceeds of notes payable and long-term liabilities 30,000 654,174 –
Repayment of notes payable and long-term liabilities (95,621) (53,278) (115,414)
Financing costs (5,193) (7,264) (5,000)

131,579 614,344 97,912 

Investing Activities
Expenditures on mineral properties (240,496) (131,926) (64,829)
Acquisition of property, plant and equipment (122,254) (90,999) (27,762)
Expenditures on assets under construction (224,170) (50,227) (126,710)
Corporate acquisitions, net of cash acquired – (416,668) 66,815 
Proceeds on disposition of mineral interests 33,192 – –
Return of investment from Minera Alumbrera Ltd (Note 8) 8,222 15,555 –
Other assets (14,209) (15,582) (26,543)

(559,715) (689,847) (179,029)

Effect of foreign exchange on non-United States 
dollar denominated cash and cash equivalents (15,296) 9,588 2,379 

(Decrease) Increase in cash and cash equivalents (114,757) 215,214 (81,953)
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year 284,894 69,680 151,633 

Cash and cash equivalents, end of year $ 170,137 $ 284,894 $ 69,680 

Cash and cash equivalents are comprised 
of the following:

Cash at bank $ 138,435 $ 99,322 $ 55,243 
Bank term deposits 31,702 101,757 14,437 
Short-term money market securities – 83,815 –

$ 170,137 $ 284,894 $ 69,680 

Supplementary cash flow information (Note 24)

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the financial statements.
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For the Years Ended December 31, 2008, December 31, 2007 and December 31, 2006
(Tabular amounts in thousands of United States Dollars unless otherwise noted)

Yamana Gold Inc.

1. NATURE OF OPERATIONS

Yamana Gold Inc. (the “Company” or “Yamana”) is a Canadian incorporated gold producer engaged in gold mining and 
related activities including exploration, extraction, processing and reclamation. Yamana has significant properties involved in
gold production, gold development, exploration and land positions throughout the Americas including Brazil, Argentina, Chile,
Mexico and Central America. The Company is producing gold and other precious metals at intermediate company production
levels in addition to significant copper production.

The Company’s net earnings and operating cash flows for the year result from operations in Brazil, Chile, Honduras and
Argentina. Gold mining requires the use of specialized facilities and technology. The Company relies heavily on such facilities
and technology to maintain production levels. Cash flow and profitability of operations are affected by various factors including
levels of production, prices of consumables, interest rates, environmental costs, the level of exploration activity and other
discretionary costs and activities. Profitability and operating cash flows are also affected by the market prices of gold, silver 
and copper and foreign currency exchange rates which can fluctuate widely. Yamana seeks to manage the risks associated
with its business, however many factors affecting the above risks are beyond the Company’s control.

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

BASIS OF CONSOLIDATION AND PRESENTATION

The accompanying consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with Canadian generally accepted
accounting principles (“Canadian GAAP”) and include the assets, liabilities and operations of the Company and its wholly-
owned subsidiaries. Canadian GAAP differs in certain aspects from United States of America generally accepted accounting
principles (“US GAAP”) as described in Note 31.

The Company’s 40% interest in the Rossi joint venture (sold during the fourth quarter of 2008) and its 50% interest in Aguas Frias
S.A., both acquired through its acquisition of Meridian Gold Inc. (Meridian), are accounted for using the proportionate
consolidation method. 

The financial statements of entities which are controlled by the Company through voting equity interests, referred to as
subsidiaries, are consolidated. Entities which are jointly controlled, referred to as joint ventures, are proportionately
consolidated. Variable Interest Entities (“VIEs”), which include, but are not limited to, special purpose entities, trusts,
partnerships, and other legal structures, as defined by the Accounting Standards Board in Accounting Guideline 15,
“Consolidation of Variable Interest Entities” (“AcG 15”), are entities in which equity investors do not have the characteristics 
of a “controlling financial interest” or there is not sufficient equity at risk for the entity to finance its activities without additional
subordinated financial support. VIEs are subject to consolidation by the primary beneficiary who will absorb the majority of the
entities’ expected losses and/or expected residual returns. The Company’s 56.7% interest in Agua De La Falda (“ADLF”), which 
is a variable interest entity, is consolidated and the non-controlling interest of the Company’s partner is recorded (Note 20). 
All inter-company accounts are eliminated on consolidation.

Investments in shares of investee companies in which the Company’s ownership and rights arising therefrom provide the
Company with the ability to exercise significant influence are accounted for using the equity method. The Company’s investment
in Minera Alumbrera Ltd., which owns the Bajo de la Alumbrera Mine in Argentina, has been accounted for using the equity
method. Cash distributions received are credited to the equity investment.

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

Cash and cash equivalents consist of cash on hand, cash on deposit with banks and highly liquid short-term investments 
with terms of less than 90 days. 
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INVENTORIES AND STOCKPILED ORE

Inventory consisting of metal-in-circuit ore, gold in process and product inventories is valued at the lower of the weighted
average cost of production and net realizable value. Net realizable value is calculated as the difference between the estimated
future metal price based on prevailing and long-term metal prices and estimated costs to complete production into a saleable
form. Inventories of material and supplies expected to be used in production are valued at the lower of cost and net
replacement value. Write-downs of inventory resulting from net realizable and/or net replacement impairments are reported 
as a component of current period costs.

Metal in circuit is comprised of ore in stock piles and ore on heap leach pads. Ore in stock piles is comprised of ore extracted
from the mine and available for further processing. Costs are added to ore in stock piles at the current mining cost per tonne
and removed at the accumulated average cost per tonne. Costs are added to ore on the heap leach pads based on current
mining costs and removed from the heap leach pad as ounces are recovered in process at the plant based on the average 
cost per recoverable ounce on the heap leach pad.

Although the quantities of recoverable gold placed on the heap leach pads are reconciled by comparing the grades of ore
placed on the heap leach pads to the quantities of gold actually recovered, the nature of the leaching process inherently limits
the ability to precisely monitor inventory levels. As such, engineering estimates are refined based on actual results over time.
Variances between actual and estimated quantities resulting from changes in assumptions and estimates that do not result in
write-downs to net realizable value are accounted for on a prospective basis. The ultimate recovery of gold from each heap
leach pad will not be known until the leaching process is concluded.

Gold in process represents materials that are currently in the process of being converted to a saleable product.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 

Financial assets and financial liabilities, including derivatives, are recognized when the Company becomes a party to the
contractual provisions of the financial instrument. All financial instruments are measured at fair value on initial recognition.
Measurement in subsequent periods depends on whether the financial instrument has been classified as held-for-trading,
available-for-sale, held-to-maturity, loans and receivables, or other financial liabilities. 

Financial assets and financial liabilities held-for-trading are measured at fair value with changes in those fair values recognized
in interest and other business income. Loans and receivables, and other financial liabilities are measured at amortized cost 
and are amortized using the effective interest method. Available-for-sale financial assets, designated based on the criteria that
management does not hold these for the purposes of trading, are presented as investments and measured at fair value with
unrealized gains and losses recognized in other comprehensive income (“OCI”) unless their impairment is determined to be
other than temporary. 

DERIVATIVES

Derivative instruments are recorded at fair value, including those derivatives that are embedded in financial or non-financial
contracts that are not closely related to the host contracts. Changes in the fair values of derivative instruments are recognized
in net income with the exception of derivatives designated as effective cash flow hedges.

For cash flow hedges that qualify under the hedging requirements of Section 3865, the effective portion of any gain or loss on
the hedging instrument is recognized in OCI and the ineffective portion is included in operations as an unrealized gain (loss) 
on commodity and currency contracts in the Statement of Operations.

Commodity derivatives 
The Company may enter into commodity contracts including forward contracts and derivatives to manage exposure to
fluctuations in metal prices such as copper, zinc and silver. In the case of forwards, these contracts are intended to reduce
the risk of declining prices on future sales. Purchased options are intended to allow the Company to benefit from higher
market metal prices. In instances where the call option purchases offset the committed ounces of the corresponding
forward, derivative assets/liabilities are presented net of amounts to counter-party. Some of the derivative transactions 
are effective in achieving the Company’s risk management goals, however, they do not meet the hedging requirements 
of CICA Section 3865 - “Hedges”, therefore, the changes in fair value are recorded in earnings. 

The Company has entered into non-hedge derivatives that include forward and option contracts intended to manage the 
risk of declining copper prices. The Company currently does not hedge any of its gold sales.

Currency Derivatives
The Company, from time to time, may enter into currency forward contracts to manage the foreign exchange exposure 
of the expenditures associated with the international operations. 
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The Company has two currency forward contracts to hedge the operational foreign exchange exposure in mines in Brazil.
The Company tests the hedge effectiveness quarterly. Effective unrealized changes in fair value are recorded in other
comprehensive income. Ineffective changes in fair value are recorded in earnings. At settlement, the fair value amount
settled is recognized as cost of sales to offset the foreign exchange recorded by the mines. 

Interest Rate Derivatives
The Company, from time to time, may enter into interest rate swap contracts to manage its exposure to fluctuations in
interest rates. 

Currently, the Company has an interest rate swap contract to hedge its variable rate long-term debt. The interest rate swap
fixes the long-term debt rate at 4.50% plus the applicable margin. The Company tests the hedge effectiveness quarterly.
Effective unrealized changes in fair value are recorded in other comprehensive income. Ineffective changes in fair value 
are recorded in earnings. At settlement, the fair value amount settled is recognized as interest expense.

The transition adjustments attributable to the re-measurement of financial assets and financial liabilities at fair value, other 
than financial assets classified as available-for-sale and hedging instruments designated as cash flow hedges, were recognized
in the opening deficit as at January 1, 2007. The opening adjustment for the re-measurement of available-for-sale securities at
fair value was recognized in opening Accumulated Other Comprehensive Loss (“AOCL”) as at that date.

The Company has recorded the following transition adjustments in the Consolidated Financial Statements:

(i) An adjustment to deficit to reflect the fair value adjustment of warrants held and the write-off of certain deferred costs
previously capitalized on the balance sheet in the amount of $0.2 million.

(ii) An adjustment to AOCL to reflect the impact of change to fair value of available-for-sale securities in the amount of 
$3.5 million.

TRANSACTION AND FINANCING COSTS

Transaction costs and financing costs are incremental costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition of a financial 
asset or financial liability. An incremental cost is one that would not have been incurred if the entity had not acquired the
financial instrument. 

Transaction costs are expensed as incurred for financial instruments classified as held-for-trading. For financial instruments
classified as other than held-for-trading, transaction costs are included with the carrying amount of the financial asset or
liability on initial recognition and amortized using the effective interest method. 

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Property, plant and equipment are initially recorded at cost and amortization is recorded on a straight-line basis over the
estimated useful lives of the assets. Useful lives of property, plant and equipment currently range from one to fifteen years, 
but do not exceed the related estimated mine life based on proven and probable reserves and the portion of resources that
management expects to become reserves in the future. 

Amortization
Method Useful Life

Building Straight Line 1 to 15 years
Machinery and equipment Straight Line 1 to 7 years
Vehicles Straight Line 1 to 5 years
Furniture and office equipment Straight Line 1 to 10 years
Computer equipment and software Straight Line 1 to 5 years

Expenditures that extend the useful lives of existing facilities or equipment are capitalized and amortized over the remaining
useful lives of the assets. Repairs and maintenance expenditures are expensed as incurred.

The Company reviews the carrying value of its property, plant and equipment on a regular basis and where the carrying value 
is estimated to exceed the estimated undiscounted future net cash flows, a provision for impairment is recorded based on
discounted estimated future cash flows. 

ASSETS UNDER CONSTRUCTION

Assets under construction consist of expenditures for the construction of future mines and include preproduction revenues 
and expenses prior to achieving commercial production. Commercial production is a convention for determining the point at
which time a mine is producing at a sustainable commercial level, after which production costs are no longer capitalized and
are reported as operating costs.

Financing costs, including interest, associated with projects that are actively being prepared for production are capitalized to
assets under construction. These costs are elements of the historical cost of acquiring an asset when a period of time is
required to bring it to the condition and location necessary for its intended use. Capitalized interest costs are amortized on the
same basis as the corresponding qualifying asset with which they are associated.
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MINERAL PROPERTIES AND EXPLORATION COSTS

Acquisition costs of mineral properties, direct exploration and development expenditures, and pre-stripping costs are
capitalized. Costs incurred for general exploration that is not project specific or does not result in the acquisition of mineral
properties are charged to operations. Costs relating to properties abandoned are written off when such a decision is made.

In open pit mining operations, it is necessary to remove overburden and other waste in order to access the orebody. 
During the pre-production and also in the production period, these costs are deferred as part of the mine property classified 
into mineral properties, if the costs relate to anticipated future benefits. These capitalized costs are amortized on a 
unit-of-production basis. Regular waste removal that does not give rise to future benefits is expensed as incurred. 

Depletion of mining properties and amortization of preproduction and development costs are calculated and recorded on 
the unit-of-production basis over the proven and probable reserves of the mine and the portion of mineralization expected 
to be classified as reserves.

The Company reviews the carrying value of each property on an ongoing basis. This review generally is made by reference 
to the timing of exploration and/or development work, work programs proposed and the exploration results achieved. Where 
it is determined that there is an excess of carrying value over the estimated undiscounted future net cash flows the difference
between carrying value and fair value is charged to operations in the period in which such impairment is determined. Estimated
undiscounted future net cash flows are calculated using estimates for metal prices, reserves, operating costs, capital costs and
reclamation and closure costs for each respective property.

ASSET RETIREMENT OBLIGATIONS AND CLOSURE COSTS

Asset retirement obligations are legal obligations associated with the retirement of a long-lived asset that results from the
acquisition, construction, development and/or normal operation of a long-lived asset. Reclamation obligations on the Company’s
mineral properties are recorded as asset retirement obligations.

Reclamation and closure costs have been estimated based on the Company’s interpretation of current regulatory requirements
and measured at fair value. Fair value is determined based on the net present value of estimated future cash expenditures that
may occur upon reclamation and closure. Such estimates are subject to change based on changes in laws and regulations and
negotiations with regulatory authorities. Reclamation and closure costs are capitalized as part of the carrying amount of the
associated long-lived asset and amortized over the life of the mine on a unit-of-production basis. 

INCOME TAXES

The Company follows the liability method of accounting for income taxes whereby future income tax assets and liabilities are
determined based on the temporary differences between financial reporting and tax bases of assets and liabilities, as well as 
for the benefit of losses available to be carried forward to future years for tax purposes. Future income tax assets and liabilities
are measured using substantively enacted tax rates and laws that will be in effect when the differences are expected to
reverse. Future income tax assets are recorded on the financial statements if realization is considered more likely than not.

REVENUE RECOGNITION 

Revenue from the sale of gold or other metals is recognized when all significant risks and rewards of ownership pass to the
purchaser including delivery of the product, there is a fixed or determinable selling price and collectability is reasonably
assured. Settlement adjustments, if any, are reflected in revenue when the amounts are finally settled.

Sales revenue is recognized at the fair value of consideration received. Revenue includes treatment and refining charges 
if payment of these amounts can be enforced at the time of sale. Gold and silver revenue is recorded at the time of physical
delivery and transfer of title. Sale prices are fixed at the delivery date based on the terms of the contract or at spot prices.
Incidental revenues from the sale of by-products (zinc) are classified with cost of sales. Concentrate revenue for independent
smelters are set at a specified future date after shipment based on market prices. Revenues are recorded at the time the rights
and rewards of ownership pass to the buyer using forward market prices on the expected date that final sales prices will be
fixed. Variations between the prices set under the smelting contracts are caused by changes in market prices and result in an
embedded derivative in the accounts receivable. The embedded derivative is recorded at fair value each period until final
settlement occurs, with changes in the fair value classified in revenue. The provisional sales quantities are adjusted for 
changes in metal quantities upon receipt of new information and assay results.

EARNINGS PER SHARE

Earnings per share are based on the weighted average number of common shares of the Company that were outstanding
throughout each year. The diluted earnings per share reflects the potential dilution of common share equivalents, such as
outstanding stock options and warrants, in the weighted average number of common shares outstanding during the year, 
if dilutive. For this purpose, the “treasury stock method” is used for the assumed proceeds upon the exercise of outstanding
stock options and warrants that are used to purchase common shares at the average market price during the year. 
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SHARE ISSUE COSTS

Costs incurred in connection with the issuance of capital stock are netted against the proceeds received.

STOCK-BASED COMPENSATION

The Company has a stock option plan that is described in Note 19.

The Company accounts for all stock-based payments to employees and non-employees using the fair value based method 
of accounting and recognizes compensation expense over the stock option vesting period. The Company’s stock option plan
includes a stock appreciation feature. If and when the stock options are ultimately exercised, the applicable amount of
additional paid-in capital in contributed surplus is transferred to share capital.

EMPLOYEE FUTURE BENEFITS

The Company has defined benefit pension plans for certain North American employees. The cost of the accrued benefit
obligations for pensions and other post-retirement benefits earned by employees is determined using the projected benefit
method prorated on service and management’s best estimate of expected plan investment performance, salary escalation,
retirement ages and expected health care costs. For the purpose of calculating expected return on plan assets, those assets 
are valued at fair value.

The Company accrues payroll costs for employees in jurisdictions whose governments require the payment of defined wages 
at the termination of their employment.

MEASUREMENT UNCERTAINTIES

The preparation of consolidated financial statements in conformity with Canadian GAAP requires the Company’s management 
to make estimates and assumptions about future events that affect the amounts reported in the consolidated financial
statements and related notes to the financial statements. Actual results may differ from those estimates.

Significant estimates used in the preparation of these financial statements include, but are not limited to, the recoverability 
of receivables and investments, the quantities of material on heap leach pads and in circuit, the proven and probable reserves,
resources and exploration potential and the related depletion and valuation of goodwill, the estimated tonnes of waste material
to be mined and the estimated recoverable tonnes of ore from each mine area, the estimated net realizable value of inventories,
the accounting for stock-based compensation, the valuation of asset-backed commercial paper and auction-rate securities, 
the provision for taxes and recognition of deferred income tax assets and liabilities, the anticipated costs of reclamation and
closure cost obligations, and the fair value of assets and liabilities acquired in business combinations. These estimates and
assumptions affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingencies at the date of the financial
statements and the reported amounts of revenue and expenses during the year. Actual results could differ from those estimates.

NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS

Non-controlling interests exist in less than wholly-owned subsidiaries of the Company and VIEs and represent the outside
interest’s share of the carrying values of the subsidiaries and VIEs. When the subsidiary company issues its own shares to
outside interests, a dilution gain or loss arises as a result of the difference between the Company’s share of the proceeds 
and the carrying value of the underlying equity.

FOREIGN CURRENCY TRANSLATION

The Company considers its foreign operations to be integrated operations with the functional currency being the United States
Dollar. As such, monetary assets and liabilities of the Company’s operations denominated in a currency other than the 
United States Dollar are translated into United States Dollars at the exchange rate prevailing as at the balance sheet date. 
Non-monetary assets and liabilities are translated at historical exchange rates prevailing at each transaction date. Revenue 
and expenses are translated at the average exchange rates prevailing during the year, with the exception of depletion,
depreciation and amortization which is translated at historical exchange rates. Exchange gains and losses from translation 
are included in earnings.

BUSINESS ACQUISITIONS

Business acquisitions are accounted for using the purchase method of accounting whereby identifiable assets acquired and
liabilities assumed are recorded at their fair values as at the date of acquisition. The Company reviews information and performs
further analysis with respect to each of the acquired assets, prior to finalizing the allocation of the purchase price, if information
is still awaited, within a twelve month period from the date of the business acquisition. Reporting during this period is based on
management’s best estimates and taking into consideration all available information at the time of reporting thereof. 
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GOODWILL

Acquisitions are accounted for using the purchase method whereby assets and liabilities acquired are recorded at their 
fair values as of the date of acquisition and any excess of the purchase price over such fair value is recorded as goodwill.
Goodwill is identified and allocated to reporting units by preparing estimates of the fair value of each reporting unit and
comparing this amount to the fair value of assets and liabilities in the reporting unit. Goodwill is not amortized.

The Company tests for impairment of goodwill at least on an annual basis during the fourth quarter or upon the occurrence 
of a triggering event or circumstance that indicates impairment. At such time, the Company evaluates whether the carrying
amount of a reporting unit’s goodwill may no longer be recoverable. To accomplish this, the Company compares the fair value 
of its reporting units to their carrying amounts. If the carrying value of a reporting unit exceeds its fair value, the Company
compares the implied fair value of the reporting unit’s goodwill to its carrying amount, and any excess of the carrying value 
over the fair value is charged to operations. Assumptions underlying fair value estimates are subject to significant risks and
uncertainties.

3. CHANGES IN SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

On January 1, 2008, the Company adopted, in accordance with the respective transitional provisions, the following 
new accounting standards that were issued by the Canadian Institute of Chartered Accountants (“CICA”): Section 1400, 
“General Standards of Financial Statement Presentation”; Section 1535, “Capital Disclosures”; Section 3031, “Inventories”; 
Section 3862, “Financial Instruments - Disclosures”; and Section 3863, “Financial Instruments - Presentation”.

(i) General Standards of Financial Statement Presentation

Section 1400, “General Standards of Financial Statement Presentation” has been amended to include requirements to assess 
and disclose an entity’s ability to continue as a going concern taking into account information about the future which is at 
least twelve months from the balance sheet date. Management shall make an assessment of an entity’s ability to continue as 
a going concern taking into account information about the future, which is at least twelve months from the balance sheet date.
When management is aware, in making its assessment, of material uncertainties related to events or conditions that may cast
significant doubt upon the entity’s ability to continue as a going concern, those uncertainties shall be disclosed. When financial
statements are not prepared on a going concern basis, that fact shall be disclosed, together with the basis on which the
financial statements are prepared and the reason why the entity is not regarded as a going concern. 

(ii) Capital Disclosures

Section 1535 requires the disclosure of both qualitative and quantitative information that enables users of financial statements 
to evaluate (i) an entity’s objectives, policies and processes for managing capital; (ii) quantitative data about what the entity
regards as capital; (iii) whether the entity has complied with any externally imposed capital requirements; and (iv) if it has not
complied, the consequences of such non-compliance. The new disclosures are included in Note 28.

(iii) Inventories

The new Section 3031 on inventories establishes standards for the measurement and disclosure of inventories. The Standard
provides guidance on the determination of cost including the allocation of overhead expenses and other costs to inventory.
Inventories must be measured at the lower of cost and net realizable value. Consistent use must be made of the method of
determining inventory. Reversal of previous write-downs is required when there is a subsequent increase in the value of
inventories. The amount of inventories recognized as an expense during the period shall be disclosed. 

Except for the new guidance on reversal of write-downs, the Company’s previous practice for valuing inventory is substantially
in accordance with the new standard. The adoption of Section 3031 did not have a material impact on the Company’s
consolidated financial statements (Note 6).

(iv) Financial Instruments - Disclosure and Presentation

Sections 3862 and 3863 replace Handbook Section 3861, “Financial Instruments - Disclosure and Presentation”, revising and
enhancing its disclosure requirements and carrying forward unchanged its presentation requirements for financial instruments.
Sections 3862 and 3863 place increased emphasis on disclosures about the nature and extent of risks arising from financial
instruments and how the entity manages those risks. The new disclosures pursuant to these new Handbook Sections are
included in Note 29.
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FUTURE ACCOUNTING CHANGES

(i) In February 2008, the CICA issued Section 3064 “Goodwill and Intangible Assets” to replace Section 3062 “Goodwill and
Other Intangible Assets” and Section 3450 “Research and Development Costs” which are effective for years beginning on 
or after October 1, 2008. The section clarifies the recognition and measurement criteria of intangible assets and, in particular,
for intangible assets that are generated internally. The impact of implementation of this standard will not have a material
impact on the Company’s consolidated financial statements.

(ii) In January 2009, the CICA issued Section 1582 “Business Combinations”, Section 1601 “Consolidated Financial Statements”
and Section 1602 “Non-Controlling Interests” to replace Section 1581 and Section 1600. These sections shall be applied
prospectively to business combinations on or after the effective date of January 1, 2011 with earlier application permitted.
Effective January 1, 2011, the Company will adopt the new handbook sections, which establish updated standards on the
recognition, measurement criteria and presentation for acquisitions, the accounting for assets and liabilities assumed and
non-controlling interests. The impact of implementation of these standards will not have a material impact on the Company’s
consolidated financial statements.

(iii) Canadian public companies will be required to prepare their financial statements in accordance with International Financial
Reporting Standards (“IFRS”), as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board, for financial years beginning on or
after January 1, 2011 (“Changeover Date”). Effective January 1, 2011, the Company will adopt IFRS as the basis for preparing
its consolidated financial statements. The Company will issue its financial results for the quarter ended March 31, 2011
prepared on an IFRS basis and provide comparative data on an IFRS basis as required. In order to meet the requirement to
transition to IFRS, the Company has established a company-wide project and formed an executive steering committee to
provide sponsorship and exercise oversight of the IFRS conversion process. The Company is following a transition plan
comprised of three phases: diagnostic assessment, design and implementation. The diagnostic assessment phase was
completed in November 2008 and the project is on schedule and has entered the early stages of the design phase of the
project plan. Due to anticipated changes to IFRS prior to the Changeover Date, the Company is not currently in a position 
to determine the impact on its financial results.

4. BUSINESS ACQUISITIONS

ACQUISITION OF MERIDIAN GOLD INC.

During 2007, the Company acquired all the outstanding common shares of Meridian which held two operating mines in Chile: 
El Peñón and Minera Florida, a 40% interest in the Rossi property in Nevada and other exploration and development projects 
in Mexico, Argentina and the U.S. The Company offered to exchange 2.235 common shares of Yamana and $6.99 (Cdn$7.00) cash
for each common share of Meridian. Based on a volume adjusted share price of $12.355 (Cdn$12.37) determined with reference
to the share price of Yamana common shares for the two days prior to, the day of, and the two days subsequent to the date of
the announcement, the purchase price equated to a total consideration of $34.60 (Cdn$34.64) per share. On October 12, 2007, 
the Company completed the acquisition of 76.4% of the outstanding shares of Meridian and subsequently completed follow-up
offers on the same terms to acquire 100% of the Meridian shares. 

The purchase price of the transaction totaled $3.6 billion, comprised of approximately 226.4 million Yamana common shares,
cash of $726.1 million, transaction costs of $28.6 million, and issued options acquired from Meridian. The Company exchanged 
all outstanding options of Meridian (“Meridian options”) for options of the Company at an exchange ratio of 2.809 and at a price
equivalent to the original price divided by 2.809. The exchange ratio was calculated as the sum of 2.235 and the $6.99 (Cdn$7.00)
cash component divided by the average closing price for the five days ending October 12, 2007. On October 12, 2007, 774,439
Meridian options were outstanding and were exchanged for 2,175,262 options of Yamana with a fair value of $17.4 million. 
The business combination was accounted for as a purchase transaction with the Company as the acquirer of Meridian. 
The results of operations of Meridian have been consolidated from October 13, 2007.

During 2008, the Company finalized the purchase price allocation based on a detailed valuation of the Meridian assets and 
in doing so relied in part upon a report from a third party expert. 

The purchase price was calculated as follows:

Issued 226,416,943 Yamana common shares to acquire 100% of Meridian $ 2,797,422
Fair value of options acquired 17,448 
Cash consideration 726,099 
Transaction costs 28,593 

Purchase consideration $ 3,569,562
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The fair value of Yamana options was estimated at $17.4 million using the Black-Scholes option pricing model. The fair value
was determined based on an option pricing model using the following assumptions:

Dividend yield 0.33%
Expected volatility 35%
Risk-free interest rate (U.S. / CDN options) 3.06% / 4.25%
Expected life 0.1-3 years
Forfeitures nil

The purchase price allocation is as follows:

Net working capital acquired (including cash of $157.4 million) $ 92,942
Restricted cash acquired 13,844 
Mineral property, plant and equipment

Producing 1,404,432 
Non-producing 3,197,461 4,601,893 

Other long-term assets 52,742 
Long-term liabilities (156,168)
Future income tax liability (988,891)
Non-controlling interest (Note 20) (46,800)

Net identifiable assets $ 3,569,562

On October 31, 2008, the Company sold its interest in the Rossi property to Barrick Gold (who now operates and owns 100%) for
total gross cash proceeds of $29.2 million and a gain of $2.3 million.

ACQUISITION OF NORTHERN ORION RESOURCES INC.

During 2007, the Company entered into a business combination arrangement to acquire all the outstanding common shares 
of Northern Orion which owns a development project in Argentina and a 12.5% interest in Minera Alumbrera Ltd. Under the
transaction, the shareholders of Northern Orion received 0.543 of a Yamana common share for each Northern Orion common
share outstanding and $0.001 in cash for each Northern Orion common share. As at October 13, 2007, there were 154,103,861
common shares of Northern Orion outstanding. The volume adjusted share price of Yamana common shares for the period 
of two days prior to the day of the announcement, the day of the announcement, and the two days after the date of the
announcement was $11.38 (Cdn$12.19).

On October 13, 2007, the Company completed the acquisition of 100% of the outstanding shares of Northern Orion and has
consolidated the results of operations from that date. The business combination was accounted for as a purchase transaction,
with the Company as the acquirer of Northern Orion. The Company also exchanged all outstanding employee options of
Northern Orion for similar securities of Yamana at an exchange ratio of 0.543 and at a price equivalent to the original price
divided by 0.543. All outstanding non-employee options and share purchase warrants of Northern Orion were exchanged 
for similar securities of Yamana at an exchange ratio of 0.543 and a price equivalent to the original price divided by 0.543, 
and $0.001 in cash for each non-employee option and share purchase warrant. 

During 2008, the Company finalized the purchase price allocation based on a full and detailed valuation of the Northern Orion
assets and in doing so relied in part upon a report from a third party expert. 

The purchase price was calculated as follows:

Issued 83,678,397 Yamana common shares to acquire 100% of Northern Orion $ 951,885
Fair value of options and warrants acquired 237,426 
Cash consideration 221 
Transaction costs 7,842 

Purchase consideration $ 1,197,374

The fair value of the Yamana warrants issued has been valued using a Black-Scholes pricing model at $202.7 million. The fair
value of the stock options issued has been estimated using a Black-Scholes option pricing model at $34.7 million. These values
were determined based on an option pricing model using the following assumptions:

Dividend yield 0.33%
Expected volatility 35%
Risk-free interest rate 4.66%
Expected life 0.1-3 years
Forfeitures nil
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The purchase price allocation is as follows:

Net working capital acquired (including cash of $228.1 million) $ 230,473
Property, plant and equipment, net 3,376 
Mineral properties and other assets 1,115,343 
Equity investment in Minera Alumbrera Ltd. 272,200 
Other assets 12,290 
Long-term liabilities (16,372)
Future income tax liability (419,936)

Net identifiable assets $ 1,197,374

ACQUISITION OF VICEROY EXPLORATION LTD.

In 2006, the Company acquired all of the outstanding common shares of Viceroy Exploration Ltd. (“Viceroy”), an exploration-
stage company. The Company issued Viceroy shareholders 0.97 of a Yamana common share for each Viceroy common share.
The Company exchanged all outstanding shares, options and share purchase warrants of Viceroy for similar securities of the
Company at an exchange ratio of 0.97 of a Yamana common share for 1 Viceroy common share. Total consideration paid was
approximately $550 million comprised of approximately 52.5 million common shares, transaction costs and issued options and
share purchase warrants acquired from Viceroy. The Company has consolidated the results of operations from October 13, 2006.
On January 2, 2007, an additional 4 million shares were issued on the completion of the compulsory acquisition.

The purchase price was determined using the weighted average share price of approximately $9.70 per share for Yamana stock
for the period commencing two days prior to the announcement date and ending two days after the announcement date.

The purchase price was calculated as follows:

Issued 52,542,397 Yamana common shares to acquire 100% of Viceroy $ 509,841
Transaction costs 4,924 
Fair value of options and warrants issued 35,230 

Purchase consideration $ 549,995

The fair value of the Yamana warrants and stock options issued has been valued using a Black-Scholes pricing model at 
$12.2 million and $23 million, respectively. These values were determined based on an option pricing model using the following
assumptions:

Dividend yield 0%
Expected volatility 41%
Risk-free interest rate 4.12%
Expected life 1-3 years
Forfeitures nil

The purchase price was allocated as follows:

Net working capital (including cash and cash equivalents of $58.5 million) $ 53,881
Property, plant and equipment 4,295 
Mineral properties 750,448 
Other assets 2,794 
Future income taxes (261,423)

Net identifiable assets $ 549,995

ACQUISITION OF DESERT SUN MINING CORP.

On April 5, 2006, the Company completed the acquisition of Desert Sun Mining Corp. (“DSM”) which owned the Jacobina 
gold mine in the Bahia state of Brazil near the Company’s Fazenda Brasileiro mine. Total consideration was approximately 
$632 million comprised of approximately 63.9 million common shares, transaction costs and issued options and share purchase
warrants. The Company exchanged all outstanding shares, options and share purchase warrants of DSM for similar securities 
of Yamana at an exchange ratio of 0.6 of a Yamana common share for 1 DSM common share.

The value of shares issued to complete the transaction was determined using the weighted average share price of
approximately $8.39 per share for Yamana stock for the period commencing two days prior to the announcement date 
and ending two days after the announcement date. 

The Company has consolidated the results of operations from the Jacobina Mine from the date of acquisition.
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The purchase price was calculated as follows:

Issued 63,746,381 Yamana common shares to acquire 100% of DSM $ 534,852
Shares issued for employee severance (174,068 common shares) 1,361 
Transaction costs 3,094 
Fair value of options and warrants issued 92,658 

Purchase Consideration $ 631,965

The fair value of the Yamana warrants issued has been valued using a Black-Scholes pricing model at $61.9 million. The fair
value of stock options issued has been estimated using a Black-Scholes option pricing model at $30.8 million. These values 
were determined based on an option pricing model using the following assumptions: 

Dividend yield 0%
Expected volatility 35%
Risk-free interest rate 3.92%
Expected life 1-3 years
Forfeitures nil

The purchase price was allocated as follows:

Net working capital acquired (including cash of $18.1 million) $ 26,944
Property, plant and equipment 37,792 
Mineral properties and other assets 665,867 
Other assets 3,548 
Silicosis liability (17,154)
Other long-term liabilities (6,954)
Future income taxes (133,078)

Net identifiable assets 576,965 
Excess of purchase price allocated to goodwill 55,000 

$ 631,965

ACQUISITION OF RNC GOLD INC.

On February 28, 2006, the Company completed the acquisition of RNC Gold Inc. (“RNC”) and 100% of the San Andrés Gold Mine
in Honduras. The purchase price of this transaction totaled $53.0 million, comprised of approximately 5.8 million Yamana
common shares, $22.3 million in cash and other transaction costs.

The value of shares issued to complete the acquisition was determined using the weighted average share price of
approximately $5.22 per share for Yamana stock for the period commencing two days prior to the announcement date of the
transaction and ending two days after the announcement date.

The Company has consolidated the results of operations from the San Andrés Gold Mine from the date of acquisition.

The purchase price was calculated as follows:

Issued 4,910,283 Yamana common shares to acquire 100% of RNC $ 25,494
Cash consideration to acquire 75% of Minerales de Occidente S.A. (San Andrés Gold Mine) 18,903 
Common shares issued to acquire RNC (Honduras) Limited (872,093 common shares) 4,528 
Transaction costs 3,409 
Fair value of options and warrants issued 664 

Purchase consideration $ 52,998

The fair value of the Yamana warrants issued has been valued using a Black-Scholes pricing model at $0.4 million. The fair 
value of stock options issued has been estimated using a Black-Scholes option pricing model at $0.3 million. These values 
were determined based on an option pricing model using the following assumptions: 

Dividend yield 0%
Expected volatility 40%
Risk-free interest rate 3.81%
Expected life 1-3 years
Forfeitures nil
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The purchase price was allocated as follows:

Net working capital acquired $ 1,504
Property, plant and equipment 13,528 
Mineral properties and other assets 50,501 
Loan payable (1,427)
Asset retirement obligation (2,894)
Future income taxes (7,389)
Long-term liabilities (825)

Net identifiable assets $ 52,998

This transaction resulted in the Company acquiring the San Andrés Gold Mine and the La Libertad Mine along with a 
60% interest in the Cerro Quema development stage property. 

The Company had previously advanced $18.9 million in the form of a purchase loan on December 16, 2005 to RNC Gold Inc. 
to acquire 75% of the outstanding shares of Minerales de Occidente S.A. On February 28, 2006, RNC Gold Inc. exercised its
option to acquire all of the outstanding shares of RNC (Honduras) Limited, a Belize corporation, which was the indirect owner 
of the remaining 25% interest in the San Andrés Gold Mine.

On July 6, 2006, the Company sold the La Libertad gold mine and its interest in the Cerro Quema development-stage property 
to Central Sun Mining Corp. Total consideration for the disposition was 32 million Central Sun common shares. The Company
recognized a loss on the sale of these assets of $2.2 million.

5. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

Cash and cash equivalents at December 31, 2008 included $nil in short-term money market securities (December 31, 2007 - 
$83.8 million; weighted average yield of 4.55% maturing up to February 7, 2008). 

6. INVENTORY 

2008 2007 

Metal in circuit and gold in process $ 5,369 $ 3,863
Ore stockpiles 36,446 29,869 
Product inventories 22,384 16,189 
Material and supplies 59,789 47,705 

$ 123,988 $ 97,626

The amount of inventories recognized as an expense during the year is $496.8 million (2007 - $287.6 million; 2006 - $100.0 million)
included in cost of sales. Total inventory impairment for the year is $13.5 million.

7. OTHER CURRENT ASSETS

2008 2007 

Restricted cash (i) $ 13,868 $ 14,236
Short-term investments (ii) – 43,746 
Advances and deposits 56,503 75,626 
Income taxes recoverable 14,358 23,347 
Current portion of derivative related assets (Note 29(a)) 82,677 10,560 
Future income tax assets (Note 23) 24,460 8,322 
Other current assets 9,120 10,373 

$ 200,986 $ 186,210

(i) At December 31, 2008, the Company had restricted cash of $13.9 million (December 31, 2007 - $14.2 million). Restricted cash held in the
United States represents funds on deposit that have been pledged as backing for letters of credit subject to annual renewal issued for
reclamation bonding and relate to the Beartrack and Royal Mountain King mines in reclamation, acquired from Meridian.

(ii) At December 31, 2008, the Company had short-term money market securities of $nil (December 31, 2007 - $43.7 million; weighted average
yield of 5.51% with effective maturity dates up to August 7, 2008). 
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8. MINERAL INTERESTS 

2008 2007

Accumulated Net Book Accumulated Net Book 
Cost Amortization Value Cost Amortization Value

Total property, plant and equipment (i) $ 729,237 $ 142,808 $ 586,429 $ 542,276 $ 55,607 $ 486,669

Mineral Properties:
Depletable producing properties 2,380,758 195,103 2,185,655 1,959,635 61,396 1,898,239 
Non-depletable development

and exploration properties 5,175,016 – 5,175,016 6,239,114 – 6,239,114 

Total mineral properties (ii) $ 7,555,774 $ 195,103 $ 7,360,671 $ 8,198,749 $ 61,396 $ 8,137,353

Assets under construction:
Gualcamayo, Argentina 276,196 – 276,196 66,075 – 66,075 
São Vicente, Brazil 76,585 – 76,585 16,587 – 16,587 

Total assets under construction (iii) $ 352,781 $ – $ 352,781 $ 82,662 $ – $ 82,662

Equity investment in Minera Alumbrera Ltd. (iv) $ 234,200 $ 240,622

Total Mineral Interests $ 8,637,792 $ 337,911 $ 8,534,081 $ 8,823,687 $ 117,003 $ 8,947,306

(i) Amortization expense related to property, plant and equipment for the year ended December 31, 2008 was $87.2 million (December 31, 
2007 - $31.9 million; December 31, 2006 - $15.9 million). Included in property, plant and equipment is $35.9 million of land properties which 
are not subject to depreciation (December 31, 2007 - $29.3 million).

(ii) During the year ended December 31, 2008, the Company recorded an impairment charge against mineral property of $58.5 million in 
respect to its São Francisco Mine (Note 21) (December 31, 2007 - $1.8 million; in respect to its Fazenda Nova Mine). 

(iii) During the year ended December 31, 2008, the Company capitalized $13.8 million of interest costs for assets under construction 
(December 31, 2007 - $nil).

(iv) The Company acquired a 12.5% indirect interest in the Bajo de la Alumbrera Mine, held by Minera Alumbrera Ltd. (“Alumbrera”) through 
its acquisition of Northern Orion. Based on the Company’s ability to exercise significant influence, the investment has been accounted for
using the equity method. Earnings of Alumbrera have been included in the earnings of the Company from October 13, 2007, the date of
acquisition.

2008 2007 

Balance, beginning of the year $ 240,622 $ –
Acquisition of investment – 256,177 
Equity in earnings 25,763 3,820 
Cash distributions (33,985) (19,375)
Adjustment relating to the purchase price on acquisition 1,800 –

Balance, end of year $ 234,200 $ 240,622

The equity investment in Alumbrera includes $142.7 million (December 31, 2007 - $154.2 million) representing the unamortized
excess of the purchase price over the underlying net book value of the investee’s assets as at December 31, 2008. The excess 
is attributable to the value of mineral properties within the investee based on estimated fair values and is being amortized over
the life of the mine.
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9. INVESTMENTS 

2008 2007 

Available-for-sale securities (a) $ 3,356 $ 23,201
Long-term investments (b) 9,161 30,113 

$ 12,517 $ 53,314

(a) Available-for-sale securities

2008 2007

Cumulative Cumulative 
Gains Gains

Available-for-sale % of (Losses) (Losses) 
Investments Ownership (i) Cost Fair Value in OCI Fair Value in OCI

Central Sun Mining 13.3% $ 4,646 $ 1,876 $ (2,770) $ 9,413 $ (17,956)
Others – 5,541 1,480 $ (4,061) 13,788 $ 5,117

$ 10,187 $ 3,356 $ (6,831) $ 23,201 $ (12,839)

Future tax recovery in OCI – 2,033 

After tax OCI amount $ (6,831) $ (10,806)

(i) % ownership on an undiluted basis.

Available-for-sale securities are reviewed quarterly for possible other-than-temporary impairment and more frequently 
when economic or market concerns warrant such evaluation. The review includes an analysis of the facts and
circumstances of each individual investment including the severity of loss, the financial position and near term prospects 
of the investment, the length of time the fair value has been below cost, management’s intent and ability to hold the security
for a period of time sufficient to allow for any anticipated recovery in fair value and management’s market view and outlook. 

During the year ended December 31, 2008, the Company’s investment in Central Sun Mining, with an original cost of 
$27.4 million and the investment in Hidefield Gold Inc. with an original cost of $2.7 million had market values below their
respective carrying values. Management concluded that the certain unrealized losses in these securities were other-than-
temporary and recognized permanent impairments on the investments in Central Sun and Hidefield Gold Inc. for a loss of
$22.8 million recorded during the quarter ended September 30, 2008 and $2.5 million recorded during the last quarter of 2008
respectively. These are included in the investment and other business (loss) income line of the Consolidated Statement of
Operation for the year ended December 31, 2008. Management concluded that the remaining unrealized losses in these
securities of $6.8 million are temporary based on its analysis of their financial position, review of recent public disclosures
and share price trends subsequent to the period end. 

(b) Long-term investments

As at December 31, 2008, long-term investments included third-party sponsored asset backed commercial paper (“ABCP”),
Agency Bonds, Corporate Bonds and Auction Rate Securities (“ARS”). Long-term investments were acquired by the
Company through its acquisitions of Meridian and Northern Orion.

As at December 31, 2008, the Company had the following long-term investments outstanding:

2008 2007

Fair Par Fair Par
Security Value Value Maturity Value Value Maturity

Third-party sponsored ABCP (i) $ 6,111 $ 12,222 2007 $ 7,538 $ 15,076 2007
ARS (ii) 3,050 30,100 2007 15,550 30,100 2008 
Corporate and Agency Bonds (iii) – – – 7,025 7,000 2009-2011

$ 9,161 $ 42,322 $ 30,113 $ 52,176

(i) Third-party sponsored Asset-backed commercial paper (“ABCP”)

The Company holds Cdn$15 million face value in Symphony Trust Series A notes, which is supported by synthetic assets, 
or a combination of synthetic and traditional securitized assets (the “ABCP investment”). The ABCP investment was acquired
through the Company’s acquisition of Northern Orion in October 2007 and was recorded at its estimated fair value as of the
acquisition date. The ABCP investment matured on August 24, 2007, however, due to the liquidity issues in the ABCP market,
there was no settlement on the maturity date. Through the Pan-Canadian Investors Committee for Third-Party Structured
Asset-Backed Commercial Paper, a process is underway to exchange the defaulted short-term notes for longer terms notes
along with the creation of a liquid trading market. However, the ultimate trading values and recoveries of the ABCP
investment are uncertain as at December 31, 2008. 
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The Company has estimated the fair value of the ABCP investment considering the best available public information
regarding market conditions and other factors that a market participant would consider for such investments.

The Company performed a discounted cash flow valuation on the ABCP based on the forecasted ultimate recovery of 
the ABCP investment to determine carrying value. The Company’s valuation of the ABCP investment assumed that the
repayment, discounted at a risk-free rate plus a 10% credit spread, would occur in 8 years and interest would be accrued
over this period. As a result of this valuation, in determining the fair value for the purchase price allocation at the date of
acquisition, the Company recorded a write-down of approximately 50% of the principal amount of the ABCP investment.
Subsequent valuations since December 31, 2007, have not resulted in any additional write-down of the ABCP investment 
in the current year.

The Company has classified the ABCP investment as a long-term investment since the end of 2007.

Developments subsequent to the reporting period
Through a series of actions during 2007 and 2008, an agreement (“the Montreal Accord”) was reached regarding the
comprehensive restructuring of the ABCP covered by the Montreal Accord. The Company’s Symphony Trust notes were 
part of this restructuring. This restructuring was completed in January 2009 resulting in the creation of several new 
special purpose investments that were distributed to affected ABCP holders in lieu of the ABCP that was held. Based on 
the underlying assets of the Symphony Trust, the Company received new Master Asset Vehicle II notes (“MAV II Notes”) 
as a replacement for the old Symphony Trust notes. As part of the restructuring, $0.4 million in interest was paid on the
Company’s notes in January 2009.

For the Symphony Series Trust Series A Notes, the Company received new MAV II Notes, which consist of Class A-1 and 
A-2 Notes for a total value of Cdn$13.4 million, and Class B and Class C Notes for a total of Cdn$1.5 million. On January 21,
2009, Dominion Bond Rating Service (“DBRS”) finalized the ratings of “A” to both the Class A-1 and Class A-2 Notes. 
The Class B and Class C Notes have not yet been rated by DBRS. The MAV II trust indenture provides that payment of 
all or a portion of the interest owing to holders of the Class A-1 Notes may be deferred, but in any event no later than 
January 22, 2019, at which time all interest then accrued and unpaid on the Class A-1 Notes shall be paid. The valuation 
of the MAV II Notes has assumed that interest is accrued and paid on the expected repayment date of January 22, 2017, 
as outlined in the MAV II trust indenture. 

The restructuring of the notes, which also included the establishment of new bank and government liquidity lines and 
credit ratings for the new master asset vehicles, is a positive development for the Company’s investments (now MAV II
Notes). With the restructuring, there is a greater likelihood that a secondary trading market will develop for these securities. 

(ii) Auction-Rate Securities (ARS)

The Company holds $30.1 million face value in ARS with various legal maturity dates to 2052 (the “ARS investments”). 
These ARS investments can be classified as part of the “Derivative Product Companies” and “Regulation XXX” investment
industries. The ARS investments were acquired through the Company’s acquisition of Meridian Gold in October 2007 and
recorded at estimated fair value on the acquisition date resulting in an impairment of par value as of that date of 50% of 
the carrying value.

Although there are prospects for the restructuring of the underlying securities or the creation of secondary trading 
markets for the securities, the ultimate trading values and recoveries of the ARS investments are highly uncertain. 
Due to the absence of a tradable and properly functioning market for auction rate securities, the Company has not been 
able to liquidate its ARS investments and thus realize any value on its ARS investments. Although the Company continues 
to receive interest payments, the ARS investments are not currently trading and therefore do not have a readily transparent
market value. 

The Company performed a discounted cash flow valuation on the ARS based on the forecasted ultimate recovery of the 
ARS investment to determine carrying value. Unlike the Canadian ABCP restructuring, there has been no similar development
for the ARS market in the United States. Furthermore, the ARS market has deteriorated further. Specific to the Company’s
ARS, there have been several credit downgrades for the securities and one issue had an event of default.

The Company’s valuation of the ARS investments assumed that repayment, discounted at a risk-free rate plus a 20% credit
spread, would occur in 20 years. The Company also assumed that the ARS investments continue to stay current on their
interest payments. As a result of this valuation, the Company recorded an impairment of approximately 90% of the principal
amount for a total write-down of $27.1 million, $12 million of which was recorded in December 2008 in investment and other
business loss.

The Company continues to monitor developments in the market for ARS instruments.

(iii) Corporate and Agency Bonds

In the first quarter of 2008, the Company wrote-down the corporate and agency bonds to their market value of $4.0 million.
These were subsequently sold in the second quarter of 2008 for cash proceeds of $4.4 million.
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10. OTHER LONG-TERM ASSETS

2008 2007 

Derivative related assets (Note 29(a)) $ 6,171 $ 7,654
Long-term tax credits (i) 75,683 47,597 
Pension related assets (Note 15) – 1,392 
Other 7,774 8,735 

$ 89,628 $ 65,378

(i) Long-term tax credits consist of South American sales taxes which are recoverable against other taxes payable and value added tax credits.

11. GOODWILL

Goodwill represents the excess of the purchase cost over the fair value of net assets acquired on a business acquisition. 
The Company’s total goodwill of $55.0 million as at December 31, 2008 relates to the 2006 acquisition of the gold producing
Jacobina mine and related assets in Brazil (Note 4). The recognition of goodwill represents the substantial value implicit in 
the Company’s intent and ability to develop the mine. Additionally, it captures the expected synergies including but not limited 
to the expected increases in cash flow resulting from cost savings and revenue enhancements that can be realized from
managing a portfolio of mines and mineral properties in Brazil.

For goodwill impairment testing purposes, the Company estimates the fair value of a gold property using a discounted cash 
flow valuation based on projected future cash flows. The determination of fair value is highly subjective and requires numerous
assumptions including, but not limited to, projected future revenues based on estimated production, long-term metal prices,
operating expenses, capital expenditures, inflation index, exchange and discount rates. For the Jacobina mine, the assumptions
used on long-term gold prices and the inflation index to apply have a significant impact on the estimate of fair value. The annual
goodwill impairment test included a long-term gold price of $805 per ounce and an average future inflation index of 1.9%. 
Upon completion of this test, there was no impairment to goodwill.

12. CREDIT FACILITIES

Face Value 2008 2007 

$400 million non-revolving facility (i) $ 400,000 $ 313,939 $ 395,415
$500 million revolving credit facility (ii) 250,000 242,025 227,009 

650,000 555,964 622,424 

Less: current portion (83,749) (83,245)

Long-term portion $ 472,215 $ 539,179

(i) Includes transaction costs of $1.9 million net of amortization (2007 - $4.6 million).
(ii) Includes transaction costs of $8.0 million net of amortization (2007 - $3.0 million).

During the last quarter of 2008, the Company increased its revolving facility to $500 million. In addition, terms on both the
revolving and non-revolving credit facilities were amended. The following summarizes the terms in respect to these facilities 
as at December 31, 2008:

• The facilities bear interest at a rate of LIBOR plus 1.5% to 3% per annum (December 31, 2007 - LIBOR plus 0.95% to 
1.5% per annum), depending on the Company’s debt to Earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation and amortization,
(“EBITDA”) ratio. The effective interest rate at December 31, 2008 was 5.83% and 4.46% on the non-revolving credit facility
and revolving credit facility respectively (December 31, 2007 - 6.01% and 5.74% respectively).

• Undrawn amounts are subject to a commitment fee of 0.55% to 1.1% per annum (December 31, 2007 - 0.2% to 0.4% per
annum) depending on the Company’s debt to EBITDA ratio. 

• The non-revolving facility and $250 million of the revolving facility matures in 2012. The remaining $250 million under 
the revolving facility matures 2010. Amounts drawn down as at December 31, 2008 mature in 2012. 

• The facilities are secured by guarantees from, and pledge of shares of, certain operating subsidiaries, and will mature 
up to 2012.
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The following is a schedule of credit facility principal repayments:

Non-revolving Revolving 
facility facility

2009 84,211 –
2010 84,211 –
2011 84,211 –
2012 63,156 250,000 

$ 315,789 $ 250,000

13. ASSET RETIREMENT OBLIGATIONS 

The asset retirement obligations relate to reclamation and closure costs relating to the Company’s mine operations and 
projects under development. The asset retirement obligations are calculated as the net present value of estimated future 
cash flows which total $129.8 million discounted using a credit adjusted risk-free rate of 5%. The settlement of the obligations
will occur through to 2032. Reclamation and closure costs of the mines and projects are incurred in Brazilian Reais, Chilean
Pesos, Argentine Pesos, United States Dollars and Honduran Lempiras and are thus subject to translation gains and losses 
from one reporting period to the next in accordance with the Company’s accounting policy for foreign currency translation 
of monetary items.

The following is an analysis of the asset retirement obligations:

2008 2007 

Balance, beginning of year $ 72,013 $ 18,720
Accretion incurred in the current year 4,175 3,056 
Reclamation obligations assumed during acquisitions – 39,057 
Additions to site reclamation obligations during the year 34,411 13,217 
Foreign exchange (loss) gain (6,826) 2,673 
Expenditures during the current year (7,504) (4,710)

96,269 72,013 
Less: Current portion included in other current liabilities (6,259) (8,569)

Balance, end of year $ 90,010 $ 63,444

14. OTHER LONG-TERM LIABILITIES 

2008 2007 

Silicosis liability (i) $ 6,108 $ 22,865
Long-term withholding taxes (ii) 93,491 85,976 
Pension related liability (Note 15) 393 1,081 
Severance accruals 8,037 9,439 
Royalty payable (iii) 12,224 15,079 
Other 12,192 8,276

$ 132,445 $ 142,716 

(i) The silicosis liability consists of amounts provided to settle claims by former employees of Jacobina Mineração e Comércio Ltda (“JMC”),
relating to silicosis. This balance represents management’s best estimate for all known and anticipated future obligations related to health
claims against JMC prior to acquisition by the Company in April 2006. The Company estimates this contingency to be about $6.1 million as 
at December 31, 2008. The decrease of $16.8 million in the year relates to the movement of claims that have been settled or released during
the year as well as the impact of the devaluation of the Brazilian Real vis-à-vis the United States Dollar. 

(ii) The Company is subject to additional taxes in Chile on the repatriation of profits to its foreign shareholders. Total taxes in the amount of 
$93.5 million have been accrued on the assumption that the profits will be repatriated. 

(iii) The Company has an agreement with Miramar Mining Corporation (“Miramar” acquired by Newmont Mining Corporation) for a Proceeds
Interest of Cdn$15 million. The agreement entitles Miramar to receive payment of this interest over time calculated as the economic
equivalent of a 2.5% net smelter return royalty on all production from the Company’s mining properties held at the time of Northern Orion
entering into the agreement, or 50% of the net proceeds of disposition of any interest in the Agua Rica property until the Proceeds Interest 
of Cdn$15.0 million is paid. 
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15. EMPLOYEE FUTURE BENEFITS 

The Company has a defined benefit pension plan covering certain North American employees. The defined pension benefits 
are based on years of service and average yearly earnings. The Company measures its accrued benefit obligations and the fair
value of plan assets for accounting purposes as at December 31 of each year. The pension plan is frozen as of December 15th,
2008 and is currently in the process of being formally closed with the assets being liquidated.

The Company’s consolidated balance sheet includes the accrued benefit asset in other assets in the amount of $nil 
(December 31, 2007 - $1.4 million), and the accrued benefit liability in other liabilities in the amount of $0.4 million (December 31,
2007 - $1.1 million). Included in general and administrative expenses on the Company’s consolidated statement of operations 
is $0.3 million (December 31, 2007 - $0.1 million) of pension cost expense. 

16. CAPITAL STOCK

(a) Common shares issued and outstanding:

2008 2007

Number of Number of
Common Common

shares shares
(’000s) Amount (’000s) Amount

Balance, beginning of year 668,417 $ 5,502,518 344,595 $ 1,619,850
Exercise of options and share appreciation rights (i) 9,677 107,046 8,096 74,146 
Exercise of warrants (ii) 32,251 342,887 2,411 24,945 
Public offering, net of transaction costs (iii) 22,500 103,441 – –
Business acquisitions (Note 4) – – 313,315 3,783,577 

Balance, end of year 732,845 $ 6,055,892 668,417 $ 5,502,518

(i) During the year ended December 31, 2008, the Company issued 9.7 million shares (December 31, 2007 - 8.1 million shares) to optionees on the
exercise of their share options and appreciation rights for cash proceeds of $53.5 million (December 31, 2007 - $34.4 million). Previously
recognized stock-based compensation in the amount of $53.5 million (December 31, 2007 - $40.1 million) on the options exercised was added
to share capital with a corresponding decrease to contributed surplus.

(ii) During the year ended December 31, 2008, the Company issued 32.3 million shares (December 31, 2007 - 2.4 million) to warrant holders on the
exercise of their warrants for cash proceeds of $116.9 million (December 31, 2007 - $3.6 million). An amount of $226.0 million (December 31,
2007 - $4.9 million) was added to share capital with a corresponding decrease to share purchase warrants with respect to these exercises. 

(iii) In December 2008, the Company issued 22.5 million shares in a Canadian public offering for gross proceeds of $108.0 million and issue costs
of $4.6 million net of tax recovery (December 31, 2007 - $nil, respectively).

(b) Weighted average number of common shares and dilutive common share equivalents

2008 2007 2006 

Weighted average number of common shares 691,536 415,232 276,617 
Weighted average number of dilutive warrants 8,652 11,314 –
Weighted average number of dilutive stock options 1,497 5,371 –

Dilutive weighted average number of common shares 701,685 431,917 276,617 

Total options and warrants excluded from the computation of diluted earnings per share because the exercise prices exceeded
the average market value of the common shares for the period ended December 31, 2008 were 18.0 thousand (December 31,
2007 - 18.0 thousand) and 4.9 million (December 31, 2007 - 4.9 million), respectively.

17. ACCUMULATED OTHER COMPREHENSIVE LOSS 

2008 2007 2006 

Balance, beginning of year $ (3,855) $ – $ –
Opening adjustment, net of tax (Note 2) – (3,510) –
Change in fair value of available-for-sale securities (i) (29,842) (7,296) –
Reclassification of losses on available-for-sale securities to earnings (ii) 33,817 – –
Net change in fair value of hedging instruments (iii) (40,771) 6,951 –

Balance, end of year $ (40,651) $ (3,855) –

(i) net of tax recovery of $nil (2007 - $1.4 million)
(ii) net of tax recovery of $5.7 million (2007 - $nil)
(iii) net of tax recovery of $19.3 million (2007 - $3.7 million; expense)



103

YA
M

A
N

A
 G

O
LD

20
08

 A
N

N
U

A
L 

R
E

P
O

R
T

18. SHARE PURCHASE WARRANTS

A summary of issued share purchase warrants as at the year end and the changes thereof during the year are as follows:

2008 2007

Weighted Weighted
average average

Number of Exercise Number of Exercise
Warrants Price Warrants Price

(000’s) (Cdn$) Value (000’s) (Cdn$) Value

Outstanding, beginning of year 46,897 $ 6.91 $ 270,805 16,890 $ 8.66 $ 73,004
Issued – – – 30,718 5.91 202,707 
Exercised (32,251) $ 3.85 (226,029) (711) 5.03 (4,906)
Expired (116) $ 4.07 (667) – – –

Outstanding and exercisable, end of year 14,530 $ 13.73 $ 44,109 46,897 $ 6.91 $ 270,805

No share purchase warrants were issued during 2008. The fair value of the past issued warrants was valued using a Black-
Scholes pricing model. These values were determined based on an option pricing model with the following assumptions:

2007

Dividend yield 0.33%
Expected volatility 35%
Risk-free interest rate 3.06% - 4.66%
Expected life 1-3 years
Forfeitures nil

The Company had the following share purchase warrants outstanding as at December 31, 2008:

Weighted
Issuable Shares on Average Remaining

Exercise Price Exercise of Warrants Contractual Life 
(Cdn$) (000’s) (Years)

$19.08 4,886 2.34 
11.05 (i) 9,201 1.13 
10.42 443 1.22 

$13.73 14,530 1.54 

(i) This series of warrants is publicly traded.

19. STOCK-BASED COMPENSATION

(a) Stock Options

The Company’s Share Incentive Plan is designed to advance the interests of the Company by encouraging employees, officers,
directors and consultants to have equity participation in the Company through the acquisition of common shares. The Share
Incentive Plan is comprised of a share option component and a share bonus component. The aggregate maximum number of
common shares that may be reserved for issuance under the Share Incentive Plan is 24.9 million (December 31, 2007 - 24.9
million; December 31, 2006- 9.5 million). Pursuant to the share bonus component of the Share Incentive Plan, common shares
may be issued as a discretionary bonus to employees, officers, directors and consultants of the Company. Options granted
under the share option component of the Share Incentive Plan vest immediately and have an exercise price of no less than 
the closing price of the common shares on the Toronto Stock Exchange on the trading day immediately preceding the date 
on which the options are granted and are exercisable for a period not to exceed ten years. 

The Share Incentive Plan also provides for the granting of share appreciation rights to optionees. An optionee is entitled to 
elect to terminate his or her option, in whole or part, and, in lieu of receiving the common shares to which their terminated
option relates, to receive that number of common shares, disregarding fractions which, when multiplied by the fair value of 
the common shares to which their terminated option relates, has a total value equal to the product of the number of such
common shares times the difference between the fair value and the option price per share of such common shares, less 
any amount required to be withheld on account of income taxes.
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A summary of the stock options granted to acquire common shares under the Company’s Share Incentive Plan as at the period
end and the changes thereof during the period is as follows:

2008 2007

Weighted Weighted
average average

Number of Exercise Number of Exercise
Options Price Options Price 

(000’s) (Cdn$) (000’s) (Cdn$)

Outstanding, beginning of year 17,184 $ 8.08 16,127 $ 7.27
Granted – – 8,991 6.87 
Exercised (11,691) 7.59 (7,848) 4.97 
Expired and forfeited (428) 9.76 (86) 13.06 

Outstanding, end of year 5,065 $ 9.21 17,184 $ 8.08

Exercisable, end of year 5,065 $ 9.21 17,184 $ 8.08

Stock options outstanding and exercisable as at December 31, 2008 are as follows:

Outstanding
Quantity Outstanding Weighted Average

Exercise Price and Exercisable Remaining Contractual Life
(Cdn$) (000’s) (Years)

$0.01-$2.99 5 2.41 
$3.00-$4.99 230 6.06 
$5.00-$5.99 11 3.36 
$6.00-$7.99 222 2.45 
$9.00-$9.99 4,290 2.66 
$10.00-$15.00 105 2.43 

4,863 

Outstanding
Quantity Outstanding Weighted Average

Exercise Price and Exercisable Remaining Contractual Life
(Cdn$) (000’s) (Years)

$0.01-$3.99 42 5.37 
$4.00-$5.99 104 5.69 
$6.00-$8.99 56 5.81 

202 

5,065 

(b) Other Stock-Based Payments

In 2008, the Company has established two new stock-based compensation plans, the Deferred Share Unit and the Restricted
Share Unit plans. 

(i) Deferred Share Units (“DSU”)

DSUs are granted to the eligible participants of the Deferred Share Unit Plan, who are non-executive directors of the
Company or designated affiliates (an “eligible director”), and the Chairman or Chief Executive Officer (an “eligible officer”) 
of the Company. The number of DSUs granted to each eligible director on each DSU issue-date has the value equal to one
third of the director’s remuneration payable in the current quarter. The Board may also grant, in its sole and absolute
discretion, to an eligible officer the rights to acquire any number of DSUs as a discretionary payment in consideration of 
past services to the Company. Each DSU entitles the holder, who ceases to be an eligible director or eligible officer, to a
payment in cash without any further action on the part of the holder of the DSU on the relevant separation date. The value 
of a DSU is equal to the market value in Canadian dollars of a common share of the Company at the separation date.

The Company granted 272,692 DSUs at a weighted average price of Cdn$11.88 for a total non-cash expense of $3.0 million
during 2008. A mark-to-market recovery of $0.5 million is included in general and administrative expenses with respect to
these DSUs for a net expense of $2.5 million for 2008.
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(ii) Restricted Share Units (“RSU”) 

RSUs are granted to eligible employees and eligible contractors to secure for the Company the benefits inherent in the
ownership of company shares by the eligible participants. From time to time, the Board determines the participants to 
whom RSUs shall be granted by taking into consideration the present and potential contributions of the services rendered 
by the particular participant to the success of the Company. A RSU award granted to a participant will entitle the participant
to receive a Canadian dollar payment in fully paid shares or, at the option of the Company, in cash on the date when the 
RSU award is fully vested upon the expiry of the restricted period in respect of the corresponding RSU award.

During 2008, the Company granted a total of 1,128,125 RSUs at a weighted average price of Cdn$13.47. A total of $2.0 million
was credited to contributed surplus and $nil share capital in respect of these RSUs as these awards have not yet fully
vested. The expense of $2.0 million is included in general and administrative expenses.

20. NON-CONTROLLING INTEREST 

Agua De La Falda S.A.

2008 2007 

Arising from acquisition of Meridian (Note 4) $ 46,800 $ 46,810

The Company holds a 56.7% interest in Agua De La Falda (“ADLF”) project along with its joint venture partner, Corporación
Nacional del Cobre de Chile (“Codelco”). The ADLF project is an exploration project which includes the Jeronimo Deposit 
and is located in Northern Chile. 

Due to the fact that the equity investment at risk may not be sufficient to permit ADLF to finance its activities without additional
subordinated support from equity holders, ADLF meets the classification under AcG-15 as a variable interest entity. ADLF has
been consolidated in the financial statements of the Company since its acquisition date and the non-controlling interest for 
the interest of the Company’s partner is recorded at the estimated fair value at the date of acquisition. As of December 31, 2008,
the Company is not the guarantor of any significant debt of ADLF.

21. WRITE-OFF OF MINERAL INTERESTS 

As a result of its review of carrying values compared to undiscounted future net cash flows, the Company has taken the
following impairment charges of mines located in Brazil: 

2008 2007 2006 

São Francisco $ 58,469 $ – $ – 
Fazenda Nova – 1,821 3,675
Other 524 – – 

$ 58,993 $ 1,821 $ 3,675

Asset categories impacted are as follows:

2008 2007 2006 

Inventory $ – $ – $ 474 
Property, plant and equipment – – 1,207 
Depreciable mineral properties 58,993 1,821 1,994 

Impairment charge $ 58,993 $ 1,821 $ 3,675 

Future cash flows are based on management’s estimate of the operating results of the mine together with their estimate of 
the resale value of assets at the end-life of the mine. The life of the mine has been shortened as a consequence of a revised
estimate of the proven and probable reserves which decreased by 488,000 contained ounces of gold as at December 31, 2008. 



106

YA
M

A
N

A
 G

O
LD

20
08

 A
N

N
U

A
L 

R
E

P
O

R
T

22. INTEREST AND FINANCING EXPENSES 

During the year the Company expensed the following:

2008 2007 2006 

Interest expense on credit facilities $ 22,746 $ 7,960 $ –
Interest on derivative options 1,856 3,294 2,720 
Expenses due to debt repayment and extinguishment 785 1,957 24,750 
Financial fees and taxes 12,314 6,030 1,376 
Bank fees and interest 6,970 2,793 –

$ 44,671 $ 22,034 $ 28,846

23. INCOME TAXES 

(a) Income tax expense 

The following table reconciles income taxes calculated at statutory rates with the income tax expense in these financial
statements:

2008 2007 2006 

Earnings (loss) before income taxes $ 428,692 $ 219,314 $ (95,202)
Canadian statutory tax rate 33.5% 36.1% 36.1%
Expected income tax expense (recovery) 143,655 79,216 (34,387)
Impact of lower foreign tax rates (25,141) (14,425) (161)
Impact of changes in tax legislation 2,594 (8,723) 137 
Permanent differences (44,753) 4,761 16,792 
Non-taxable items – – (7,929)
Change in valuation allowance 36,905 (10,217) (5,832)
Unrealized foreign exchange (97,665) 12,606 7,825 
Losses not benefited (recognized) 7 5,387 (1,484)
Other 4,081 (4,733) –

Income tax expense (recovery) $ 19,683 $ 63,872 $ (25,039)

Current income tax expense 65,611 79,350 6,038 
Future Income tax recovery (45,928) (15,478) (31,077)

Net income tax expense (recovery) $ 19,683 $ 63,872 $ (25,039)

(b) Future income taxes 

The temporary differences and losses that give rise to future income tax assets and liabilities are presented below: 

Future Income Tax Assets 2008 2007 

Deductible temporary differences $ 22,753 $ 3,480
Amounts related to tax losses 140,115 115,120 
Financing costs 9,605 12,134 
Asset retirement obligation 13,365 12,448 
Derivative liability 10,928 24,781 
Mineral properties and property, plant and equipment 47,094 59,405 
Unrealized foreign exchange losses 33,844 10,233 
Available-for-sale securities 13,378 7,593 
Other – 10,595 

Gross future income tax assets $ 291,082 $ 255,789
Less: Valuation allowance (139,789) (102,884)

Future income tax assets $ 151,293 $ 152,905

Future Income Tax Liabilities 2008 2007 

Accounts receivable $ (1,731) $ (2,964)
Mineral properties and property, plant and equipment (1,710,845) (2,678,270)
Unrealized foreign exchange gains (1,399) (38,277)
Derivative asset (29,318) –
Other (816) (759)

Future income tax liabilities $ (1,744,109) $(2,720,270)

Net future income tax liabilities $ (1,592,816) $(2,567,365)



107

YA
M

A
N

A
 G

O
LD

20
08

 A
N

N
U

A
L 

R
E

P
O

R
T

The net future income tax assets (liabilities) are classified as follows: 2008 2007

Future income tax assets - current $ 24,460 $ 8,322
Future income tax assets - long-term 124,021 124,422 
Future income tax liabilities - current (27,151) (3,722)
Future income tax liabilities - long-term (1,714,146) (2,696,387)

$ (1,592,816) $(2,567,365)

The Company has entered into foreign investment contracts under Chilean Decree Law 600 (“DL600”). The Company is
committed to an election to be subject to a maximum 4% rate for the Chilean mining royalty tax and tax stabilization through 
2017 at a maximum 35% tax rate, in return for ceasing to use accelerated depreciation for tax purposes beginning in 2008. 
The Company is not accruing Category II tax for Chile based on management’s intent to permanently reinvest the earnings.

The Company is subject to a separate DL600 contract, related to Minera Florida Limitada, a wholly-owned subsidiary which
owns the Minera Florida Mine, which also provides for a maximum 35% tax rate.

(c) Non-capital losses

The Company has non-capital losses of approximately $426.4 million (December 31, 2007 - $384.4 million) available to apply
against future taxable income. Approximately $273.9 million (December 31, 2007 - $166.0 million) of these losses are subject 
to a valuation allowance.

Loss carry forwards at December 31, 2008 will expire as follows:

Canada US Brazil Chile Argentina Other Total

2009 $ 10 $ – $ – $ – $ 1,115 $ 71 $ 1,196
2010 1 218 – – 1,387 284 $ 1,890
2011 967 231 – – 879 346 $ 2,423
2012 – 6,555 – – 704 157 $ 7,416
2013 – 1,752 – – 994 – $ 2,746
2014 and onwards 53,009 146,045 – – – 1,336 $ 200,390
Unlimited 5,336 – 139,484 51,981 – 13,576 $ 210,377

$ 59,323 $ 154,801 $ 139,484 $ 51,981 $ 5,079 $ 15,770 $ 426,438

24. SUPPLEMENTARY CASH FLOW INFORMATION 

(a) non-cash investing and financing transactions:

2008 2007 2006 

Transfer of contributed surplus on the exercise of stock options and share appreciation rights $ (53,522) $ (36,789) $ (33,281)
Issue of shares on exercise of warrants 226,029 4,905 –
Accrued interest capitalized to assets under construction 13,756 – 4,556 
Shares issued on business acquisitions – 3,749,307 1,053,071 
Share purchase warrants recognized on the issue of warrants on business acquisitions – 202,707 74,511 
Common shares received as consideration for assets sold during the year 511 4,234 20,800 
Issue of shares on acquisition of mineral properties – 10,976 –
Issue of shares to be issued on exercise of options and warrants – 19,486 –
Shares issued on business acquisition completed in prior year – 23,006 –
Issue of share purchase warrants in settlement of notes payable – – 13,111 
Issue of share in settlement of amounts payable – – 1,163 
Contributed surplus recognized on the issue of stock options on business acquisitions – 52,166 54,041 
Value of expired warrants transferred to contributed surplus (667) – 2 
Proceeds on conversion of long-term credit facilities to United States Dollars – 598,301 –
Repayment of long-term credit facilities on conversion to United States Dollars – (571,339) –
Other 560 287 –

(b) Interest and income tax paid:

2008 2007 2006 

Interest paid during the year $ 38,876 $ 18,357 $ 13,270
Income taxes paid during the year $ 110,252 $ 39,504 $ 1,804
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(c) Net change in non-cash working capital, net of acquisitions:

2008 2007 2006 

Net decrease (increase) in:
Accounts receivable $ 33,689 $ (69,083) $ (2,560)
Inventory (34,135) (30,685) (25,712)
Other assets 39,515 (55,662) (10,294)

Net (decrease) increase in:
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities (81,635) 86,084 (6,757)
Income taxes payable (53,494) 52,834 1,937 
Other current liabilities (832) 17,542 – 

$ (96,892) $ 1,030 $ (43,386)

Changes in non-cash working capital items are net of items related to assets under construction and items acquired or disposed
of during the period.

25. JOINT VENTURE 

The Company held a 40% interest in a joint venture with Barrick Gold Corporation (“Barrick”) for the Rossi property in Nevada
acquired through the acquisition of Meridian. On October 31, 2008, the Company sold its interest to Barrick for total gross cash
proceeds of $29.2 million and a gain of $2.3 million.

The following details the Company’s share of statement of operations, cash flows and balance sheets in the Rossi joint venture
which has been proportionately consolidated up to the date of sale:

Year ended Year ended
2008 2007 

Proportionate Statements of Joint Venture Operation
Revenues $ 5,465 $ 2,761 
Cost of sales (4,101) (1,768)
Depreciation, amortization and depletion (510) (878)
Other expenses (249) (105)

Net income $ 605 $ 10 

Proportionate Joint Venture Balance Sheet
Current assets $ – $ 2,534 
Capital assets – 52,344 

$ – $ 54,878 

Current liabilities $ – $ 640 
Long-term liabilities – 256 
Company’s investment carrying value – 53,982 

$ – $ 54,878 

Proportionate Statements of Joint Venture Cash Flows
Operating activities $ (99) $ 329 
Investing activities 99 (329)
Financing activities – –

Increase in cash and cash equivalents during the period $ – $ –
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26. SEGMENTED INFORMATION 

The Company considers its business to consist of geographical segments. The Company’s operating segments are Brazil, 
Chile, Argentina, Central America and Other, and Canada (which is solely comprised of corporate and administrative activities).

Mineral assets referred to below consist of land, buildings, equipment, mineral properties, exploration costs, assets under
construction and equity investment.

Central
America

2008 Brazil Chile Argentina and Other Canada Total

Mineral assets $ 1,381,983 $ 4,540,348 $ 2,474,554 $ 136,164 $ 1,032 $ 8,534,081
Goodwill 55,000 – – – – $ 55,000
Long-lived assets 1,535,116 4,578,359 2,509,865 122,483 69,423 $ 8,815,247
Total assets 1,744,227 4,683,396 2,523,440 140,205 246,085 $ 9,337,353
Capital expenditures 223,304 125,676 195,011 41,145 1,784 $ 586,920

Central
America

2007 Brazil Chile Argentina and Other Canada Total

Mineral assets $ 1,228,434 $ 5,158,547 $ 2,362,223 $ 196,717 $ 1,385 $ 8,947,306
Goodwill 55,000 – – – – $ 55,000
Long-lived assets 1,412,713 5,078,370 2,376,224 198,002 180,111 $ 9,245,420
Total assets 1,677,990 5,296,083 2,391,909 210,678 319,264 $ 9,895,924
Capital expenditures 165,210 22,763 72,244 12,014 921 $ 273,152

Central
America

2006 Brazil Chile Argentina and Other Canada Total

Mineral assets $ 1,142,582 $ – $ 667,115 $ 45,719 $ 758 $ 1,856,174
Goodwill 55,000 – – – – $ 55,000
Long-lived assets 1,270,232 – 670,002 47,590 39,908 $ 2,027,732
Total assets 1,366,585 – 676,399 57,288 80,920 $ 2,181,192
Capital expenditures 209,341 – 3,599 5,637 724 $ 219,301

Reconciliation of Segment Income

2008

Central
America

Brazil Chile Argentina and Other Canada Total

Revenues $ 627,171 $ 387,932 $ – $ 39,504 $ – $ 1,054,607
Cost of sales (314,130) (153,408) – (29,228) – (496,766)
Depreciation, amortization and depletion (66,865) (121,425) – (2,603) – (190,893)
Accretion of asset retirement obligations (1,498) (2,310) – (367) – (4,175)

Mine operating earnings $ 244,678 $ 110,789 $ – $ 7,306 $ – $ 362,773

General and administrative and exploration (29,949) (26,616) (644) (2,984) (29,821) (90,014)
Other operating expenses (4,372) (2,445) – – – (6,817)
Write-off of mineral interests (58,993) – – – – (58,993)

Operating earnings (loss) 151,364 81,728 (644) 4,322 (29,821) 206,949 
Investment and other business (loss) income (2,605) (4,810) 157 (2,440) (19,378) (29,076)
Interest and financing expenses (12,923) (573) – (170) (31,005) (44,671)
Foreign exchange gain (loss) 62,183 49,256 63,494 49 (43,441) 131,541 
Realized gain (loss) on derivatives – 6,036 – – (16,072) (10,036)
Unrealized (loss) gain on derivatives – (1,968) – – 175,953 173,985

Earnings (loss) before income taxes, 
equity earnings and non-controlling interest $ 198,019 $ 129,669 $ 63,007 $ 1,761 $ 36,236 $ 428,692
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2007

Central
America

Brazil Chile Argentina and Other Canada Total

Revenues $ 629,686 $ 77,912 $ – $ 39,493 $ – $ 747,091
Cost of sales (235,284) (28,649) – (23,707) – (287,640)
Depreciation, amortization and depletion (50,917) (15,640) – (5,258) – (71,815)
Accretion of asset retirement obligation (2,313) (198) – (545) – (3,056)

Mine operating earnings $ 341,172 $ 33,425 $ – $ 9,983 $ – $ 384,580

General and administrative and exploration (27,027) (1,864) (1) (1,842) (38,517) (69,251)
Other operating income net of write-off 

of mineral interests 1,051 – – – – 1,051

Operating earnings (loss) 315,196 31,561 (1) 8,141 (38,517) 316,380 
Investment and other business income (loss) 3,909 1,249 38 206 6,101 11,503
Interest and financing expenses (7,099) – – – (14,935) (22,034)
Foreign exchange (loss) gain (27,576) 171 5,027 (1) (18,006) (40,385)
Realized loss on derivatives – – – – (17,082) (17,082)
Unrealized loss on derivatives – – – – (29,068) (29,068)

Earnings (loss) before income taxes, equity earnings 
and non-controlling interest $ 284,430 $ 32,981 $ 5,064 $ 8,346 $ (111,507) $ 219,314

27. CONTRACTUAL COMMITMENTS 

In addition to commitments otherwise reported in these financial statements the Company is contractually committed to the
following as at December 31, 2008:

Year 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 Thereafter Total

Mine operating/Construction 
and service contracts:

Brazil 78,453 47,921 44,517 17,676 – 2,611 191,178
Chile 86,906 14,392 6,316 548 548 2,190 110,900
Argentina 18,223 4,837 4,139 – – – 27,199
Central America and Other 1,794 1,500 – – – – 3,294
Corporate 2,553 1,018 538 392 33 – 4,534

$ 187,929 $ 69,668 $ 55,510 $ 18,616 $ 581 $ 4,801 $ 337,105

28. CAPITAL MANAGEMENT 

The Company’s objectives in managing capital are to ensure sufficient liquidity to pursue its strategy of organic growth
combined with strategic acquisitions, to ensure the externally imposed capital requirements relating to its credit facilities 
are being met, and to provide returns to its shareholders. The Company defines capital that it manages as net worth, which 
is comprised of total shareholders’ equity and debt obligations (net of cash and cash equivalents). 

The Company manages its capital structure and makes adjustments to it in light of general economic conditions, the risk
characteristics of the underlying assets and the Company’s working capital requirements. In order to maintain or adjust its
capital structure, the Company, upon approval from its Board of Directors, may issue shares, pay dividends, or undertake other
activities as deemed appropriate under the specific circumstances. The Board of Directors reviews and approves any material
transactions out of the ordinary course of business, including proposals on acquisitions or other major investments or
divestitures, as well as capital and operating budgets. 

The Company’s externally imposed financial covenants from its credit facility are as follows:

(a) Tangible net worth of at least $2.3 billion.
(b) Maximum net debt (debt less cash) to tangible net worth of 0.75.
(c) Leverage ratio (net debt/EBITDA) to be less than or equal to 3:1.

Not meeting these capital requirements will result in default by the Company. As at December 31, 2008, the Company has met 
all of the externally imposed capital requirements. 

The Company’s overall strategy with respect to capital management remains unchanged from the year ended December 31,
2007. 
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29. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 

(a) Fair value of financial instruments 

The Company’s financial instruments include cash and cash equivalents, restricted cash, accounts receivable, advances and
deposits, marketable securities, accounts payable and other current liabilities, credit facilities and derivative assets (liabilities).
The carrying values of cash and cash equivalents, restricted cash, accounts receivable, advances and deposits, accounts
payable and other current liabilities approximate their fair values due to the relatively short-term nature of these instruments.
Adjustments recognized in the balance sheet relating to concentrate sales were fair valued based on published and observable
prices. Fair values of derivatives were based on published and observable market prices for similar instruments and on market
closing prices at period end. The Company recorded a mark-to-market gain of $174.0 million (December 31, 2007 - $29.1 million)
on commodity contracts for the year. 

There were no material differences between the carrying value and fair value of long-term assets and liabilities except for the
credit facilities, which have a carrying value of $556.0 million (December 31, 2007 - $622.4 million), comprised of a short-term 
and a long-term portion as described in Note 12, and a fair value of $572.5 million (December 31, 2007 - $632.7 million). The fair
value was calculated by discounting the future cash flows by a discount factor based on an interest rate of 5% which reflects
the Company’s own credit risk. Fair values of long-term investments were calculated based on market information and the
Company’s best estimate.

The Company assesses its financial instruments and non-financial contracts on a regular basis to determine the existence 
of any embedded derivatives which would be required to be accounted for separately at fair value and to ensure that any
embedded derivatives are accounted for in accordance with the Company’s policy. As at December 31, 2008, there were 
no embedded derivatives requiring separate accounting other than concentrate sales.

The following table summarizes derivative related assets:

December 31, December 31,
2008 2007 

Currency Contracts
Forward contracts $ – $ 17,947

Commodity Contracts
Forward contracts 88,848 –
Long-call option contracts – 267 

88,848 18,214 
Less: Current portion (82,677) (10,560)

Long-term portion $ 6,171 $ 7,654

The following table summarizes the components of derivative related liabilities:

December 31, December 31,
2008 2007 

Currency Contracts
Forward contracts $ (14,831) $ –

Commodity Contracts
Forward contracts and options – (73,562)

$ (14,831) $ (73,562)
Interest Rate Contracts
Interest rate swaps (21,889) (8,325)

$ (36,720) $ (81,887)
Less: Current portion 25,897 53,954 

Long-term portion $ (10,823) $ (27,933)
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The following table summarizes unrealized derivative gains (losses):

2008 2007 2006 

Non-hedge derivatives
Commodity contracts $ 160,436 $ (27,305) $ (35,773)
Share purchase warrants held (98) (576) –

160,338 (27,881) (35,773)

Hedge ineffectiveness
Ongoing hedge ineffectiveness 13,647 (1,187) –

$ 173,985 $ (29,068) $ (35,773)

The following table summarizes realized derivative gains (losses):

2008 2007 2006 

Currency contracts $ 12 $ – $ –
Commodity contracts (10,048) (17,082) –

$ (10,036) $ (17,082) $ – 

Current income taxes 3,839 6,170 –

$ (6,197) $ (10,912) $ –

Additionally, included in cost of sales are realized gains in the amount of $14.4 million (December 31, 2007 - $6 million; 
December 31, 2006 - $nil) with respect to currency derivative contracts and included in interest and financing expenses are
realized losses in the amount of $5.1 million (December 31, 2007 - $nil; December 31, 2006 - $nil) in respect to the interest rate
swaps. The Company estimates that approximately $11.5 million net gains and losses are expected to be reclassified from
accumulated other comprehensive loss to earnings in respect of cash flow currency hedges over the next twelve months. 

The following table summarizes cash flow currency and interest rate hedge gains (losses) in OCI (Note 17):

2008 2007 2006 

Effective portion of change in fair value of hedging instruments $ 60,104 $ 10,619 $ –
Future income tax (19,333) (3,668) –

$ 40,771 $ 6,951 $ –

(b) Currency risk

The Company’s sales are predominately denominated in United States Dollars. The Company is primarily exposed to 
currency fluctuations relative to the United States Dollar as a significant portion of the Company’s operating costs and capital
expenditures are denominated in foreign currencies; predominately the Brazilian Real, the Argentine Peso, the Chilean Peso 
and the Mexican Peso. Monetary assets denominated in foreign currencies are also exposed to foreign currency fluctuations.
These potential currency fluctuations could have a significant impact on production costs and thereby the profitability of the
Company. 

During prior years, the Company entered into forward contracts to economically hedge against the risk of an increase in the
value of the Brazilian Real versus the United States Dollar. Currency contracts totaling 398.5 million Reais at an average rate 
of 2.2545 Real to the United States Dollar have been designated against forecast Reais denominated expenditures as a hedge
against the variability of the United States Dollar amount of those expenditures caused by changes in the currency exchange
rates for 2009 through to April 2011. Of this, 207.1 million Reais is hedged for 2009, 171.4 million Reais for 2010, and approximately
20.0 million for 2011. The effective portion of changes in the fair value of the currency contracts has been recorded in OCI until
the forecast expenditure impacts earnings. The ineffective portion of changes in the fair value of the currency contracts has
been recorded in current earnings.
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The sensitivities on net monetary assets/liabilities that are denominated in a foreign currency shown below are derived from 
the estimated impact of a 10% change in the United States Dollar exchange rate for the year compared with the following
currencies, with all other variables held constant. The sensitivity analysis includes the impact of the foreign currency
movements on operating costs and unrealized gains on losses arising from the translation of monetary assets and liabilities 
as at the balance sheet date. The impact is expressed in terms of the effect on net earnings and other comprehensive income:

2008

Effect on Effect on
other translation

Effect on comprehensive Effect on of monetary
net earnings income, operating assets and

net of tax net of tax earnings liabilities

Brazilian Real $ 11,704 $ 11,429 $ 9,031 $ 2,673
Argentine Peso (i) $ 61,943 $ – $ 3,462 $ 58,481 
Canadian Dollar $ 6,485 $ – $ – $ 6,485
Honduran Lempiras $ 1,172 $ – $ 704 $ 468
Chilean Peso $ 6,599 $ – $ 4,744 $ 1,854

(i) The sensitivity to the Argentine Peso is attributable to a large future income tax liability in respect to business acquisitions.

(c) Commodity price risk

Gold, copper and silver prices are affected by various forces including global supply and demand, interest rates, exchange
rates, inflation or deflation and the political and economic conditions of major gold, copper and silver-producing countries. 
The profitability of the Company is directly related to the market price of gold, copper and silver. 

The Company has not hedged any of its gold sales. 

The Company has forward contracts to economically hedge against the risk of declining copper prices for a portion of its
forecast copper concentrate sales. As at December 31, 2008, the Company had a total of approximately 50.6 million pounds
under open forward contracts at an average strike price of approximately $3.00 per pound of copper and maturity dates in 2009
and 2010. The program requires no cash margin, collateral or other security from the Company. During the fourth quarter of 2008,
cash proceeds of $47.5 million were realized on reducing the commodity derivative contracts by 86.3 million pounds. Subsequent
to the end of 2008, the Company entered into additional forward sales contracts to hedge 26.5 million pounds of copper at 
$1.54 per pound for the period between February and July of 2009. These contracts and the existing forward sales positions 
held by the Company hedge 75.7 million pounds of copper at about $2.50 per pound for the year 2009.

The sensitivity of the Company’s revenues, realized loss on derivatives, unrealized loss on derivatives, and net earnings due to 
a 10% change in the average commodity prices for the year with all other variables constant is summarized in the table below:

2008

Effect on Effect on
Earnings due Earnings due
to change in to change in

Realized Unrealized Effect on Net
Effect on Loss on Loss on Income Tax Earnings

Revenues Derivatives Derivatives effect net of tax

Gold $ 68,344 $ – $ – $ (27,645) $ 40,699
Copper $ 61,329 $ 4,824 $ 74,382 $ (11,203) $ 50,126
Silver $ 14,856 $ – $ – $ (6,010) $ 8,846

The change in average commodity prices will not have an impact on other comprehensive income.

(d) Interest rate risk

The Company is exposed to interest rate risk on its variable rate debt. During the fourth quarter of 2007, the Company entered
into a total of $550 million in interest rate swap agreements to convert floating rate financing to fixed rate financing over a 
5 year period. These contracts fix the rate of interest on this portion of the Company’s long-term debt at a weighted average 
of 4.50%. The effective portion of changes in the fair value of the interest rate swaps has been recorded in OCI until the 
forecast interest expense impacts earnings. The ineffective portion of changes in the fair value of the interest rate swaps 
have been recorded in current earnings.

At December 31, 2008, all of the Company’s long-term debt was at fixed rates, hence there is no market risk arising from
fluctuations in floating interest rate.
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(e) Credit risk

Credit risk is the risk that a third party might fail to discharge its obligations under the terms of a financial instrument. 
The Company limits credit risk by entering into business arrangements with high credit-quality counterparties, limiting the
amount of exposure to each counterparty and monitoring the financial condition of counterparties whilst also establishing
policies to ensure liquidity of available funds. In addition, credit risk is further mitigated in specific cases by maintaining the
ability to novate contracts from lower quality credit counterparties to those with higher credit ratings. 

For cash, cash equivalents and accounts receivable, credit risk is represented by the carrying amount on the balance sheet.
Cash and cash equivalents are deposited in highly rated corporations and the credit risk associated with these deposits is 
low. The Company sells its products to large international financial institutions and other organizations with high credit ratings.
Historical levels of receivable defaults are negligible thus, the credit risk associated with accounts receivables is also
considered to be negligible. For long-term investments credit risk represents the par value of the instruments (Note 9(b)). 
For derivatives, the Company assumes no credit risk when the fair value of the instruments is negative. When the fair value 
of the instruments is positive, this is a reasonable measure of credit risk. 

The Company’s maximum credit exposure to credit risk at December 31 is as follows:

2008 2007 

Cash and cash equivalents $ 170,137 $ 284,894
Accounts receivable 26,995 81,774 
Short-term investments – 43,746 
Income taxes recoverable 14,358 23,347 
Current portion of derivative related assets 82,677 10,560 
Derivative related assets 6,171 7,654 
Long-term investments 9,161 30,113 

$ 309,499 $ 482,088

(f) Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that a financial instrument cannot be eliminated quickly, by either liquidating it or by establishing an 
off-setting position. Under the terms of our trading agreements, counterparties cannot require the Company to immediately
settle outstanding derivatives except upon the occurrence of customary events of default. The Company mitigates liquidity 
risk by spreading the maturity dates of derivatives over time, managing its capital expenditures and operating cashflows and 
by maintaining adequate lines of credit. In addition, the Company addresses the capital management process as described 
in Note 28. Contractual maturities relating to contractual commitments are included in Note 27 and relating to credit facilities 
are included in Note 12. 

30. CONTINGENCIES 

Due to the size, complexity and nature of the Company’s operations, various legal and tax matters arise in the ordinary 
course of business. The Company accrues for such items when a liability is both probable and the amount can be reasonably
estimated. In the opinion of management, these matters will not have a material effect on the consolidated financial statements
of the Company. 

In 2004, a former director of Northern Orion commenced proceedings in Argentina against Northern Orion claiming 
damages in the amount of $177 million for alleged breaches of agreements entered into by the plaintiff. The plaintiff alleged 
that the agreements entitled him to a pre-emption right to participate in acquisitions by Northern Orion in Argentina and 
claimed damages in connection with the acquisition by Northern Orion of its 12.5% equity interest in the Alumbrera project. 
On August 22, 2008, the National Commercial Court No. 8 of the City of Buenos Aires issued a first-instance judgment rejecting
the claim. The plaintiff appealed this judgment and a decision of the appellate court is pending. While the Company considers
that the plaintiff’s allegations are unfounded and has been advised by its Argentine counsel that the appeal is unlikely to be
successful; the outcome is not certain. There is no assurance that the Company will be wholly successful in confirming the 
first-instance judgment at appellate courts. 

31. SUMMARY OF PRINCIPAL DIFFERENCES BETWEEN CANADIAN GAAP AND UNITED STATES 
GENERALLY ACCEPTED ACCOUNTING PRINCIPLES 

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with Canadian generally accepted accounting
principles (“Canadian GAAP”). Material variations in the accounting principles, practices and methods used in preparing 
these consolidated financial statements from principles, practices and methods accepted by United States of America 
generally accepted accounting principles (“US GAAP”) are described and quantified below.
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The impact of US GAAP on the consolidated income statements is as follows:

2008 2007 2006 

OPERATIONS
Net earnings (loss) under Canadian GAAP $ 434,772 $ 157,245 $ (70,163)
Adjustment for depreciation, amortization and depletion (i) (29,508) (17,598) (4,099)
Write-off of mineral property costs (i) (74,032) (36,772) (20,691)
Pre-operating costs (ii) 856 (549) 878 
Stripping costs in mine operating earnings (v) – (3,634) –
Stripping costs in equity earnings (v) (3,354) (950) –
Adjustment for unrecognized tax benefits (vi) (1,935) – –

326,799 97,742 (94,075)

Tax effect of reconciling items (iii) 17,774 12,559 6,003 

Net income (loss) attributable to common shareholders under US GAAP $ 344,573 $ 110,301 $ (88,072)

Basic earnings (loss) per share under US GAAP $ 0.50 $ 0.27 $ (0.32)
Diluted earnings (loss) per share under US GAAP $ 0.49 $ 0.26 $ (0.32)

Basic weighted average number of shares outstanding under US GAAP 691,536 415,232 276,617 

Diluted weighted average number of shares outstanding under US GAAP 701,685 431,917 276,617 

The impact of US GAAP on the consolidated balance sheets is as follows:

2008 2007 2006 

ASSETS
Total assets under Canadian GAAP $ 9,337,353 $ 9,895,924 $ 2,181,192 
Write-off of mineral property costs (i) (151,434) (81,036) (40,630)
Adjustment to mineral properties (i) and (ii) (43,248) (23,446) (7,404)
Adjustment to inventory (i) (14,623) (2,140) (36)
Adjustment to investments (ix) – – (4,526)
Future employee benefit adjustment to Mineral Properties on Meridian acquisition (vii) 2,478 3,494 –
Future income tax assets related to adjustments (iii) 41,224 23,450 10,609 
Adjustment to equity investment (v) (3,354) (950) -

Total assets under US GAAP $ 9,168,396 $ 9,815,296 $ 2,139,205 

Total liabilities under Canadian GAAP 2,780,434 3,942,293 464,602 
Future employee benefit liability adjustment (vii) 3,902 4,475 –
Other long-term liabilities - adjusted for unrecognized tax benefit (vi) 3,428 1,493 –
Future income tax liabilities related to adjustments (iii) (2,922) (2,922) (2,922)

Total liabilities under US GAAP $ 2,784,842 $ 3,945,339 $ 461,680 

Non-controlling interest under US GAAP 46,800 46,810 –
Shareholders’ equity under Canadian GAAP 6,510,119 5,906,821 1,716,590 
Write-off of mineral property costs (i) (155,068) (81,036) (40,630)
Adjustment for depreciation, amortization and depletion (i) (54,653) (25,145) (7,547)
Net unrealized loss on investments (ix) – – (4,526)
Unrecognized tax benefits (vi) (3,428) (1,493) –
Future employee benefit adjustment to Other Comprehensive Income (vii) (1,424) (981) –
Write-off of pre-operating costs (ii) 415 (441) 108 
Adjustment to equity investment (v) (3,354) (950) –
Future income taxes (iii) 44,147 26,372 13,530 

Shareholders’ equity under US GAAP $ 6,336,754 $ 5,823,147 $ 1,677,525 

Total liabilities and shareholders’ equity under US GAAP $ 9,168,396 $ 9,815,296 $ 2,139,205 

The components of shareholders’ equity under US GAAP would be as follows:

2008 2007 2006 

SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY
Shareholders’ equity:
Common shares $ 6,055,892 $ 5,502,518 $ 1,619,850 
Shares to be issued – – 42,492 
Share purchase warrants 44,109 270,806 73,003 
Additional paid-in capital (99,239) 55,251 56,212 
Accumulated other comprehensive loss (7,990) (4,836) (4,632)
Retained Earnings/(Deficit) 343,982 (592) (109,400)

Total shareholders’ equity $ 6,336,754 $ 5,823,147 $ 1,677,525 
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The impact of US GAAP on the consolidated cash flows is as follows:

CASH FLOWS 2008 2007 2006 

Cash flows from (to) operating activities per Canadian GAAP $ 328,675 $ 293,874 $ (3,215)
Write-off of mineral property costs (i) (19,813) (40,955) (19,813)

Cash flows from (to) operating activities per US GAAP 308,862 252,919 (23,028)

Cash flows from financing activities per Canadian and US GAAP 131,579 614,344 97,212 

Cash flows from investing activities per Canadian GAAP (559,715) (705,592) (179,029)
Write-off of mineral property costs (i) 19,813 40,955 19,813 

Cash flows to investing activities per US GAAP $ (539,902) $ (664,637) $ (159,216)

(i) Mineral properties

Under Canadian GAAP, resource property acquisition costs and exploration costs may be deferred and amortized to the 
extent they meet certain criteria. Capitalized costs under Canadian GAAP are amortized on a unit-of-production basis based 
on proven, probable and the portion of mineralization expected to be classified as reserves.

Under US GAAP, exploration costs must be expensed as incurred unless the resource properties have proven and probable
reserves at which time costs incurred to bring the mine into production are capitalized as development costs. Drilling and
related costs in delineating an orebody and converting mineral resources to mineral reserves are expensed as exploration 
costs under US GAAP. Capitalized costs are then amortized on a unit-of-production basis based on proven and probable
reserves rather than over the proven, probable reserves of the mine and the applicable portion of resources expected to
ultimately be mined. This additional depletion and exploration expense is required to be recognized under US GAAP. For the
purposes of the consolidated statements of cash flows, the exploration costs are classified as cash used in investing activities
under Canadian GAAP and cash used in operations under US GAAP.

(ii) Pre-operating costs

US GAAP requires pre-operating costs to be expensed as incurred. Canadian GAAP allows certain pre-operating costs 
included in the cost of an item of property, plant and equipment to be capitalized until commercial production is established 
and then amortized on the unit-of-production basis.

(iii) Income taxes

Under Canadian GAAP, future income taxes are calculated based on enacted or substantively enacted tax rates applicable 
to future years. Under US GAAP, only enacted rates are used in the calculation of future income taxes. This difference in 
GAAP did not result in a difference in the financial position, results of operations or cash flows of the Company for the years
ended December 31, 2008, 2007 or 2006.

(iv) Stock-based compensation

Effective January 1, 2006, the Company adopted FAS 123(R). The adoption of this standard had no impact on the Company.

The aggregate intrinsic value represents the total pre-tax intrinsic value (the difference between the Company’s closing 
stock price on the last trading day of the 2007 fiscal year end and the exercise price, multiplied by the number of in-the-money
options) that would have been received by the option holders had all the option holders exercised their options on 
December 31, 2008.
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The following is a summary for stock options:

As at December 31, 2008 2008 2007

Outstanding and exercisable stock options (in millions) 5.1 17.2
Aggregate intrinsic value (in millions of United States Dollars) $ 2.0 $ 83.4 
Weighted average contractual term (in years) 2.92 2.96

For the year ended December 31, 2008

(in millions of United States Dollars) 2008 2007 2006

Weighted average grant date fair value of stock options (i) $ – $ – $ 38.5 
Aggregate intrinsic value of options (ii) $ 92.4 $ 68.4 $ 78.1 
Cash received from exercise of stock options $ 53.5 $ 34.4 $ 22.2 
Tax benefit realized for the tax deductions from exercised options $ – $ – $ – 

(i) Excluding the fair value of options acquired on acquisitions during the year.
(ii) The amount by which the market price of the stock on the date of exercise exceeded the exercise price of the option.

(v) Stripping costs incurred during production

Under Canadian GAAP, certain stripping costs incurred during production may be capitalized if the stripping activity provides
access to sources of reserves that will be produced in future periods. Per EITF 04-6, under US GAAP, these costs should be
included in the costs of the inventory produced (that is, extracted) during the period that the stripping costs are incurred and
consequently expensed as the inventory is sold. 

(vi) Accounting for uncertainty in income taxes

The Company adopted FASB Interpretation No. 48, “Accounting for Uncertainty in Income Taxes” (“FIN 48”) effective January 1,
2007. As a result of this adoption in 2007, the Company recognized, as a cumulative effect of change in accounting principle, a
$1.5 million increase in liabilities for unrecognized taxable benefits, and a $1.5 million decrease in retained earnings. In 2008, 
the Company recorded an additional $1.9 million with respect to this adjustment for a cumulative total of $3.4 million were
accrued in the Consolidated Balance Sheet. The Company recognizes interest expense and penalty expense related to
unrecognized tax benefits in interest expense. 

A reconciliation of the beginning and ending amount of unrecognized taxable benefits is as follows:

2008 2007

Balance at January 1, $ 4,639 $ 4,639
Additions based on tax positions related to the current year – –
Additions related to tax positions of prior years 21,575 –
Reductions for tax positions of prior years – –
Settlements of tax positions – –

Balance at December 31, $ 26,214 $ 4,639

These liabilities are primarily included as a component of other long-term liabilities in the Company’s Consolidated Balance
Sheet because the Company generally does not anticipate that any of the liabilities will be settled within the next twelve 
months. As of December 31, 2008, $26.2 million (December 31, 2007 - $4.6 million) of unrecognized taxable benefits, if recognized 
in future periods, would impact the Company’s effective tax rate. The Company does not have any unrecognized taxable 
benefits that will significantly increase or decrease within the next 12 months.

The following is a summary of the tax years that remain subject to examination by major jurisdiction:

Jurisdiction Years

Canada 2000-2008
United States 1998-2008
Brazil 2003-2008
Chile 2004-2008
Argentina 2006-2008
Honduras 2003-2008
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(vii) Defined benefit pension

In September 2006, the FASB issued FAS 158 “Employers’ Accounting for Defined Benefit Pension and Other Postretirement
Plans” which requires the recognition in the Company’s financial statements of the funding status of a benefit plan and that 
the plan assets and benefit obligations be measured as of the date of the employer’s fiscal year-end statement of financial
position. Under FAS 158 the Company is required to recognize unamortized actuarial gains and losses, prior service cost and
remaining transitional amounts not recognized under Canadian GAAP, with the offset to comprehensive income. This difference
in accounting standards resulted in $1.4 million being recognized as a charge in comprehensive income and a $2.5 million
increase to total assets for an over-funded plan and $3.9 million increase to total liabilities for under-funded plans for U.S. GAAP
purposes. As at December 31, 2008, the difference relating to FAS 158 is not significant. Refer to Note 15 for additional details 
on the defined benefit pension.

(viii) Joint venture

The Rossi joint venture is an entity that operates the Rossi mineral properties located in Elko County, Nevada. Under the
contractual arrangement, the significant financial operating policies of the entity are jointly controlled by the parties having 
an equity interest in the entity. On October 31, 2008, the Company sold its interest to Barrick Gold for total gross cash proceeds
of $29.2 million and a total gain of $2.3 million.

Under Canadian GAAP, the accounts of all incorporated and unincorporated joint ventures and partnerships are proportionately
consolidated according to the Company’s ownership interest. Under U.S. GAAP, the equity method of accounting is applied in
circumstances where a proportionately consolidated joint venture’s significant financial and operating policies are, by
contractual arrangement, jointly controlled by all parties having an equity interest in the entity. United States regulations do not
require, for the purposes of this reconciliation, adjustment to equity account for the joint ventures. The presentation of the
Company’s joint venture up to the date of sale does not require adjustments to the equity method. Refer also to Note 25 to the
financial statements.

(ix) Comprehensive income (loss)

In May 1993, the FASB issued SFAS No. 115, “Accounting for Certain Investments in Debt and Equity Securities” (“SFAS No. 115”).
Under SFAS No. 115, management determines the appropriate classification of investments in debt and equity securities at the
time of purchase and re-evaluates such designation as of each balance sheet date. Under SFAS No. 115, equity securities and
long-term investments are classified as available-for-sale securities and accordingly, the Company is required to include the 
net unrealized holding gain on these securities in other comprehensive income. This difference in accounting standard resulted
in an increase in comprehensive loss for 2006 and 2005 of $4.5 million and $100,000, respectively. There was no US GAAP
adjustment for the years ended December 31, 2008 and December 31, 2007 with the adoption of Section 1530, “Comprehensive
Income”, of the CICA. SFAS No. 130, “Reporting Comprehensive Income”, establishes standards for the reporting and display 
of comprehensive income and its components (revenue, expenses, gains and losses) in a full set of general purpose financial
statements.

(x) Pro forma information on business combination (unaudited)

Under US GAAP, SFAS 141, “Business Combinations”, requires disclosure of certain pro forma information when one or more
business combinations are completed. The following table presents the pro forma results of operations for informational
purposes, assuming that the Company had acquired Meridian Gold Inc., Northern Orion Resources Inc. at the beginning of 
2007 and Desert Sun Mining Corp., Viceroy Exploration Ltd. and RNC Gold Inc. at the beginning of 2006. 

2008 2007

Revenues $ 987,753 $ 437,288 
Net earnings (loss) $ 81,316 $ (63,990)
Pro forma basic earnings (loss) per share $ 0.12 $ (0.19)
Pro forma diluted earnings (loss) per share $ 0.12 $ (0.19)

Pro forma information includes non-recurring deal transaction costs incurred during the year by Meridian and Northern Orion 
of approximately $30 million relating to Yamana’s acquisition.
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(xi) Fair value measurements

In first quarter 2008, the Company adopted FAS 157 for financial assets and liabilities that are measured at fair value on a
recurring basis. FAS 157 defines fair value, establishes a framework for measuring fair value under US GAAP, and requires
expanded disclosures about fair value measurements. The primary assets and liabilities affected were available-for-sale
securities and derivative instruments. The adoption of FAS 157 did not change the valuation techniques that the Company 
uses to value these assets and liabilities. Beginning in 2009, the Company will also apply FAS 157 to non-financial assets 
and liabilities that it periodically measures at fair value under US GAAP. The principal assets and liabilities that will be 
affected are impaired long-lived tangible assets, impaired intangible assets, goodwill and asset retirement obligations. 

The fair value hierarchy established by FAS 157 establishes three levels to classify the inputs to valuation techniques used 
to measure fair value. Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities. 
Level 2 inputs are quoted prices in markets that are not active, quoted prices for similar assets or liabilities in active markets,
inputs other than quoted prices that are observable for the asset or liability (for example, interest rate and yield curves
observable at commonly quoted intervals, forward pricing curves used to value currency and commodity contracts and volatility
measurements used to value option contracts), or inputs that are derived principally from or corroborated by observable market
data or other means. Level 3 inputs are unobservable (supported by little or no market activity). The fair value hierarchy gives
the highest priority to Level 1 inputs and the lowest priority to Level 3 inputs.

FAS 157 defines fair value as the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly
transaction between market participants at the measurement date. In assessing the fair value of a particular contract, the
market participant would consider the credit risk of the counterparty to the contract. Consequently, when it is appropriate 
to do so, the Company adjusts its valuation models to incorporate a measure of credit risk.

Fair Value Measurements at December 31, 2008

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Aggregate
Input Input Input Fair Value

Assets:
Available for sale securities 3,356 3,356 
Derivative related assets (a) 88,848 88,848 
Long-term investments (b) 9,161 9,161 

3,356 88,848 9,161 101,365 

Liabilities:
Derivative related liabilities (c) 36,720 36,720 

– 36,720 – 36,720 

(a) Include current portion of derivative related assets of $82,677 (Note 7) and derivative related assets of $6,171 in other long-term assets 
(Note 10)

(b) Long-term investments include asset-backed commercial paper (“ABCP”), Auction Rate Securities (“ARS”) and Corporate and Agency
Bonds (Note 9). 

(c) Include current portion of derivative related liabilities of $25,897 and derivative related liabilities of $10,823.

Fair Value Measurements Using Level 3 Input

Long-term Investments

As at January 1, 2008 30,113 
Foreign exchange gain (loss) (a) (1,427)
Mineral interests (b) (3,525)
Investments and other business income (loss) (c) (12,000)
Other long-term assets (d) (4,000)

As at December 31, 2008 9,161 

(a) Included foreign exchange adjustment on the Canadian dollar denominated ABCP.
(b) Purchase price adjustments to reflect write-down of ARS and Corporate and Agency Bonds.
(c) Write-down of ARS.
(d) Sale of the Corporate and Agency bonds for cash proceeds of $4,350.
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In February 2008, the FASB issued FSP FAS 157-2. FSP FAS 157-2 delays the effective date of FAS 157 to fiscal years beginning
after November 15, 2008 for non-financial assets and liabilities, except for items that are recognized or disclosed at fair value 
in the financial statements on a recurring basis. The Company will apply the requirements of FAS 157 to fair value measurements
used in accounting for property, plant and equipment, intangible assets, goodwill and asset retirement obligations beginning 
in 2009.

VALUATION TECHNIQUES

Available-for-Sale Securities
The fair value of available-for-sale securities is determined based on a market approach reflecting the closing price of each
particular security at the balance sheet date. The closing price is a quoted market price obtained from the exchange that is 
the principal active market for the particular security, and therefore available-for-sale securities are classified within Level 1 
of the fair value hierarchy established by FAS 157.

Derivative Instruments
The fair value of derivative instruments is determined using either present value techniques or option pricing models that 
utilize a variety of inputs that are a combination of quoted prices and market-corroborated inputs. The Company continues 
to monitor the potential impact of the recent instability of the financial markets, and will adjust its derivative contracts for 
credit risk based upon the credit default swap spread for each of the counterparties as warranted.

Long-term Investments
Long-term investments include third-party sponsored Asset-Backed Commercial Paper (“ABCP”) and Auction Rate Securities
(“ARS”), which were acquired by the Company through its acquisitions of Meridian and Northern Orion. Due to liquidity
problems experienced by the markets of these securities since the third quarter of 2007, there have been no active market
activities to provide observable inputs for these assets (Note 9 ”Investments”). Therefore, the Company’s investment in ABCP
and ARS are classified within Level 3 of the fair value hierarchy.

Normal Gold Sales Contracts and Metal Concentrate Sales Contracts
Normal gold sales are made at spot prices quoted on the London Metal Exchange (“LME”) or Commodity Exchange (“COMEX”)
of the New York Mercantile Exchange, which are market observable inputs. 

Metal concentrate sales are based on market prices of measurement date, which is two or three months after shipment
depending on the terms of the off-take agreements. The sales are measured initially and then adjusted monthly on the basis 
of spot prices quoted on the LME or COMEX until measurement date. Therefore, metal concentrate sales would be classified
within Level 2 of the fair value hierarchy. The Company continues to monitor and, as warranted, adjust for credit risk based 
upon the credit default swap spread for each of the counterparties. 

(xii) The Fair Value Options for Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities

In February 2007, the FASB issued FAS 159, which allows an irrevocable option, the Fair Value Option (“FVO”), to carry eligible
financial assets and liabilities at fair value, with the election made on an instrument-by-instrument basis. Changes in fair value
for these instruments would be recorded in earnings. The objective of FAS 159 is to improve financial reporting by providing
entities with the opportunity to mitigate volatility in reported earnings caused by measuring related assets and liabilities
differently without having to apply complex hedge accounting provisions. 

The standard was effective for the Company beginning in first quarter 2008 and was applied prospectively. We have not adopted
the FVO for any of our eligible financial instruments, which primarily include available-for-sale securities, equity-method
investments and long-term debt.

(xiii) Impact of Recent United States Accounting Pronouncements

Recently issued United States accounting pronouncements are outlined below. 

(a) In December 2007, the FASB released FASB 141-R, “Business Combinations” and FASB 160, “Non-controlling Interests in
Consolidated Financial Statements” - an amendment of ARB No. 51. 
- FASB 141-R applies prospectively to business combinations for which the acquisition date is on or after the beginning 

of the first annual reporting period beginning on or after December 15, 2008, which is a business combination in the year
ending December 31, 2009 for the Company. This statement will require more assets acquired and liabilities assumed to
be measured at fair value as of the acquisition date, liabilities related to contingent consideration to be re-measured at
fair value in each subsequent reporting period, an acquirer to expense acquisition-related costs and non-controlling
interests in subsidiaries initially to be measured at fair value and classified as a separate component of equity. The
Company will assess the impact of this standard for business combinations occurring after January 1, 2009.
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- FASB 160 is effective for fiscal years, and interim periods within those fiscal years, beginning on or after December 15,
2008, which for the Company is the year ending December 31, 2009 and the interim periods within that fiscal year. 
The objective of this statement is to improve the relevance, comparability, and transparency of the financial information
as it requires more assets acquired and liabilities assumed to be measured at fair value as of the acquisition date,
liabilities related to contingent consideration to be re-measured at fair value in each subsequent reporting period, 
an acquirer to expense acquisition-related costs (e.g., deal fees to attorneys, accountants, investment bankers) and 
non controlling interests in subsidiaries initially to be measured at fair value and classified as a separate component 
of equity. The Company is assessing the impact of the new standards.

(b) In March 2008, FASB issued FASB Statement No. 161, “Disclosures about Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities” -
an amendment of FASB Statement No. 133, “Accounting for Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities”. 
- This Statement requires enhanced disclosures about how and why a company uses derivative and hedging activities,

how derivative instruments and related hedged items are accounted for under FAS 133 (including interpretations) and
how these affect a company’s financial position, financial performance and cash flows which collectively improve the
transparency of financial reporting. This statement is effective for financial statements issued for fiscal years and interim
periods beginning after November 15, 2008, with early application encouraged. This statement encourages, but does 
not require, comparative disclosures for earlier periods at initial adoption. The Company is assessing the impact of the
new standard.

(c) In May 2008, FASB issued FASB Statement No. 162, “The Hierarchy of Generally Accepted Accounting Principles”.
- The Statement identifies the sources of accounting principles and the framework for selecting the principles to be 

used in the preparation of financial statements of nongovernmental entities that are presented in conformity with 
generally accepted accounting principles in the United States. FASB 162 became effective 60 days following the 
Securities and Exchange Commission’s (“SEC”) approval of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (“PCAOB”)
amendment to AU Section 411, “The Meaning of Present Fairly in Conformity With Generally Accepted Accounting
Principles”. The SEC granted approval of the PCAOB amendment in September 2008. Adoption of this Standard is 
not expected to result in a change in the Company’s current practice.

(d) In late June 2008, FASB released EITF 07-5 “Determining Whether an Instrument (or Embedded Feature) Is Indexed to an
Entity’s Own Stock”, which provides further guidance on the accounting treatment for certain equity instruments with
elements of foreign currency risk. 
- The Company’s functional currency is the United States Dollar and it has issued and outstanding warrants that have 

an exercise price that is denominated in Canadian dollars. The Company has determined that such warrants with an
exercise price that is different from the entity’s functional currency cannot be classified as equity based on the evaluation
of the warrant’s settlement provisions. As a result, these instruments will need to be treated as derivatives and recorded
as liabilities that are carried at their fair value, with changes in the fair value from period to period recorded as a gain or
loss in the statement of operations. EITF 07-5 is effective for interim and annual financial statements related to fiscal
years beginning after December 15, 2008, and earlier adoption is not permitted. 
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Corporate Governance

Yamana and the Board recognize the importance of
corporate governance to the effective management of the
Company and to the protection of its employees and
shareholders. The Company’s approach to significant issues
of corporate governance is designed with a view to ensuring
that Yamana’s business and affairs are effectively managed
so as to enhance shareholder value. 

The Company’s corporate governance practices have been
designed to be in compliance with applicable Canadian,
United States and United Kingdom legal requirements and
good practices. The Company continues to monitor
developments in Canada, the United States, and the United
Kingdom with a view to keeping its governance policies 
and practices current. 

Although, as a regulatory matter, the majority of the
corporate governance listing standards of the New York
Stock Exchange are not applicable to the Company, Yamana
has corporate governance practices that comply with such
standards.

Code of Business Conduct and Ethics

The Board has adopted a Code of Business Conduct and
Ethics (the “Code”) for its directors, officers and employees.
The Board encourages and promotes an overall culture of
ethical business conduct by promoting compliance with
applicable laws, rules and regulations in all jurisdictions in
which the Company conducts business; providing guidance
to directors, officers and employees to help them recognize
and deal with ethical issues; promoting a culture of open
communication, honesty and accountability; and ensuring
awareness of disciplinary action for violations of ethical
business conduct.

Yamana has established a toll-free compliance hotline and
website to allow for anonymous reporting of any suspected
Code violations, including concerns regarding accounting,
internal controls over financial reporting or other auditing
matters. 

Corporate Governance and Committees of the Board

Committees of the Board

The Board has the following four standing committees:

Audit Committee
The Audit Committee provides assistance to the Board in
fulfilling its financial reporting and control responsibilities 
to the shareholders of the Company and the investment
community. The external auditors of the Company report
directly to the Audit Committee. 

Compensation Committee
The Compensation Committee, which is composed entirely 
of independent directors, among other things, may determine
appropriate compensation for the Company’s directors,
officers and employees. The process by which appropriate
compensation is determined is through periodic and annual
reports from the Compensation Committee on the Company’s
overall compensation and benefits philosophies. 

Corporate Governance and Nominating Committee
This committee is responsible to annually review the Board’s
relationship with management to ensure the Board is able 
to, and in fact does, function independently of management;
develop and recommend to the Board for approval a 
long-term plan for Board composition that takes into
consideration the independence of directors, competencies
and skills for the Board as a whole; retirement dates, the
appropriate size of the Board with a view to facilitate
effective decision making and strategic direction of the
Company; develop and implement a process to handle any
director nominees who are recommended by security
holders; periodically review the Board Manual by which the
Board will operate and the terms of reference for the Board;
and annually review the directors’ compensation program
and make any recommendations of the Board for approval. 

Sustainability Committee
The Board also has a Sustainability Committee to assist the
Board in oversight of sustainability environmental, health 
and safety matters, including monitoring the implementation
and management of the Company’s policies, procedures and
practices relating to sustainability, environmental, health 
and safety matters.

To view Yamana’s Board and committee charters, 
ethics policy, corporate governance practices as well 
as how they compare to the NYSE standards, please visit
http://www.yamana.com/Governance. More information 
can also be found in Yamana’s Information Circular.
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Share Listings Capitalization (as at December 31, 2008)
Toronto Stock Exchange: YRI Common Shares (basic): 732.8 million
New York Stock Exchange: AUY Common Shares (fully diluted): 752.4 million
London Stock Exchange: YAU Warrants: 14.5 million

Options: 5.1 million

2008 Common Share Trading Information 

Stock Exchange Ticker Closing Price High Low Volume

TSX YRI C$9.45 C$19.12 C$4.59 2,023,553,466 
NYSE AUY US$7.72 US$19.93 US$3.60 3,953,390,418 
LSE YAU 509 1/8 979 1/2 242 1/2 7,275,621 

Dividends
Yamana currently pays a quarterly dividend of $0.01 per share.

2008 Dividend Schedule Anticipated 2009 Dividend Schedule*

Record Date Payment Date Record Date Payment Date

Mar. 31, 2008 Apr. 14, 2008 Mar. 31, 2009 Apr. 14, 2009
Jun. 30, 2008 Jul. 14, 2008 Jun. 30, 2009* Jul. 14, 2009
Jul. 31, 2008 Aug. 14, 2008 Sep. 30, 2009* Oct. 14, 2009
Aug. 29, 2008 Sep. 15, 2008 Dec. 31, 2009* Jan. 14, 2010
Sep. 30, 2008 Oct. 14, 2008
Oct. 31, 2008 Nov. 14, 2008
Nov. 28, 2008 Dec. 15, 2008
Dec. 31, 2008 Jan. 14, 2009

*Subject to approval by the Board of Directors

Warrants
Yamana’s public warrants which trade on the TSX are summarized as follows:

• The YRI.wt.c warrants relate to previous ‘B’ warrants of Northern Orion and have an exercise price of C$6.00 with 
expiry on February 17, 2010. On exercise the holder would receive 0.543 of a Yamana share.

Electronic Delivery of Shareholder Document
If you would like to receive your shareholder and financial documents electronically, please enroll in Yamana’s electronic 
delivery program through CIBC Mellon Trust at www.cibcmellon.com/electronicdelivery. 

Transfer Agent
For information regarding shareholdings, dividends, certificates, change of address, electronic delivery, or exchange 
of share certificates due to an acquisition, please contact CIBC Mellon Trust Company at: 

CIBC Mellon Trust Company Phone: 1-800-387-0825 (toll free in North America)
320 Bay Street, Box 1 1-416-643-5500 (outside North America)
Toronto, Ontario, Canada M5H 4A6 Email: inquiries@cibcmellon.com

Investor Information Contact
For additional financial information, industry developments, latest news and corporate updates:

Phone: (416) 815-0220 Email: investor@yamana.com

Auditors Legal Counsel
Deloitte & Touche LLP Cassels, Brock & Blackwell LLP

Shearman & Sterling LLP

Shareholder Information
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Board of Directors

Peter Marrone*
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer, 
Yamana Gold Inc.

Patrick Mars
Lead Director, Yamana Gold Inc. 
and President, P.J. Mars Investments Limited

John Begeman
President and Chief Executive Officer,
Valencia Ventures Inc.

Richard Graff
Consultant

Robert Horn
Private Investor

Nigel Lees
President and Chief Executive Officer, 
SAGE Gold Inc.

Juvenal Mesquita
Private Investor

Carl Renzoni
Private Investor

Antenor Silva*
President, Yamana Gold Inc.

Dino Titaro
President and Chief Executive Officer, Carpathian Gold Inc.

* Non-independent Board Members
(1) Member of the Audit Committee
(2) Member of the Compensation Committee
(3) Member of the Corporate Governance and Nominating Committee
(4) Member of the Sustainability Committee

Senior Management

Peter Marrone
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

Antenor Silva
President 

Charles Main
Senior Vice President, Finance and Chief Financial Officer

Ludovico Costa
Chief Operating Officer

Greg McKnight
Senior Vice President, Business Development

Darcy Marud
Senior Vice President, Exploration

Evandro Cintra
Senior Vice President, Technical Services

Jacqueline Jones
Senior Vice President, Legal, General Counsel and Corporate Secretary

Nelson Munhoz
Vice President, Operations, Brazil

Ricardo Palma
Vice President, Country Manager, Chile

Arão Portugal
Vice President, Country Manager, Brazil

Hernan Vera
Vice President, Country Manager, Argentina

Ana Lucia Martins
Vice President, Safety, Health, Environment and Community 

Jodi Peake
Vice President, Corporate Communications and Investor Relations

Betty Soares
Vice President, Corporate Controller

Sofia Tsakos 
Vice President, Corporate Counsel

Jason LeBlanc
Treasurer 

Mark Bennett
Assistant Corporate Secretary

Corporate Information

(1)(3)(4)

(4)

(1)

(4)(2)

(1)(2)

(3)

(1)(3)

(2)(3)(4)
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Standing from left: Evandro Cintra, Ludovico Costa, Jason LeBlanc, Greg McKnight, Jodi Peake, Darcy Marud, Peter Marrone,
Charles Main, Antenor Silva. Sitting from left: Jacqueline Jones, Betty Soares, Sofia Tsakos.
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Project Management 
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Annual General Meeting

Yamana Gold Inc. will hold its Annual General Meeting
on Wednesday, May 6, 2009 at 11:00 am Eastern Time at
the Four Seasons Centre for the Performing Arts located
at 145 Queen Street West, Toronto, Ontario, Canada. The
main entrance is located at the southeast corner of
Queen Street West and University Avenue. The meeting
will also be webcast live on Yamana’s website at
www.yamana.com.

Executive Offices

150 York Street, Suite 1102
Toronto, Ontario, Canada
M5H 3S5

Tel: (416) 815-0220
Fax: (416) 815-0021

Rua Funchal
411- 5 andar - conjunto
43/44
CEP 04551-0660 - São Paulo
SP - Brazil

Tel: +55 11 2163 8300
Fax: +55 11 2163 8324



www.yamana.com




